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This Prospectus comprises a prospectus for the purposes of EU Directive 2003/71/EC, as amended, to the
extent that such amendments have been implemented in the relevant Member State of the European Economic
Area (the “Prospectus Directive”) and for the purpose of giving information with regard to Shaftesbury
Chinatown PLC (the “Issuer”), Shaftesbury PLC (the “Guarantor”) and its subsidiaries and affiliates taken
as a whole (the “Group”) and the £290,000,000 2.348 per cent. guaranteed first mortgage bonds due 2027
(the “Bonds”) which according to the particular nature of the Issuer, the Guarantor and the Bonds, is
necessary to enable investors to make an informed assessment of the assets and liabilities, financial position,
profit and losses and prospects of the Issuer and the Guarantor. The Issuer and the Guarantor (the
“Responsible Persons”) accept responsibility for the information contained in this Prospectus. To the best of
the knowledge and belief of each of the Issuer and the Guarantor (each of which has taken all reasonable care
to ensure that such is the case), the information contained in this Prospectus is in accordance with the facts
and does not omit anything likely to affect the import of such information.
Cushman & Wakefield Debenham Tie Leung Limited accepts responsibility for the Valuation Report
contained in this Prospectus set out in the section headed "Valuation Report" and declares that to the best of
its knowledge and belief (having taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case) the information
contained in the Valuation Report is in accordance with the facts and does not omit anything likely to affect
the import of such information.
This Prospectus does not constitute an offer of, or an invitation by or on behalf of the Issuer, the Guarantor or
IDCM Limited, Lloyds Bank plc and National Australia Bank Limited (ABN 12 004 044 937) (the "Joint
Lead Managers") to subscribe or purchase, any of the Bonds. The distribution of this Prospectus and the
offering of the Bonds in certain jurisdictions may be restricted by law. Persons into whose possession this
Prospectus comes are required by the Issuer, the Guarantor and the Joint Lead Managers to inform themselves
about and to observe any such restrictions.
For a description of restrictions on offers and sales of Bonds and distribution of this Prospectus, see the
section headed “Subscription and Sale” below.
No person is authorised to give any information or to make any representation not contained in this
Prospectus and any information or representation not so contained must not be relied upon as having been
authorised by or on behalf of the Issuer, the Guarantor or the Joint Lead Managers. Neither the delivery of this
Prospectus nor any sale made in connection herewith shall, under any circumstances, create any implication
that there has been no change in the affairs of the Issuer or the Guarantor since the date hereof or the date
upon which this Prospectus has been most recently amended or supplemented or that there has been no
adverse change in the financial position of the Issuer or the Guarantor since the date hereof or the date upon
which this Prospectus has been most recently amended or supplemented or that the information contained in it
or any other information supplied in connection with the Bonds is correct as of any time subsequent to the
date on which it is supplied or, if different, the date indicated in the document containing the same.
To the fullest extent permitted by law, each of the Joint Lead Managers and their respective affiliates accept
no responsibility whatsoever for the contents of this Prospectus or for any other statement, made or purported
to be made by a Joint Lead Manager or its affiliate or on its behalf in connection with the Issuer, the
Guarantor or the issue and offering of the Bonds. Each Joint Lead Manager and its affiliates accordingly
disclaim all and any liability whether arising in tort or contract or otherwise (save as referred to above) which
it might otherwise have in respect of this Prospectus or any such statement.
The Bonds have not been and will not be registered under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the
“Securities Act”), or under the securities laws of any state or political sub-division of the United States, and
may not be offered or sold within the United States or to U.S. persons unless an exemption from the
registration requirements of the Securities Act is available in accordance with all applicable securities laws.
The Bonds are subject to certain U.S. tax law requirements.
Unless otherwise specified or the context requires, references to “pounds”, “Sterling” and “£” are to pounds
sterling. References to “billions” are to thousands of millions.
2

In connection with the issue of the Bonds, Lloyds Bank plc (“the “Stabilising Manager”) (or any person
acting on behalf of the Stabilising Manager) may over allot Bonds or effect transitions with a view to
supporting the market price of the Bonds at a level higher than that which might otherwise prevail. However,
there is no assurance that the Stabilising Manager (or any person acting on behalf of any Stabilising Manager)
will undertake stabilisation action. Any stabilisation action may begin on or after the date on which adequate
public disclosure of the terms of the offer of the Bonds is made and, if begun, may be ended at any time, but it
must end no later than the earlier of 30 days after the issue date of the Bonds and 60 days after the date of the
allotment of the Bonds. Any stabilisation action or over allotment must be conducted by the relevant
Stabilising Manager (or any person acting on behalf of the Stabilising Manager) in accordance with
accordance with all applicable laws and rules.
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Documents Incorporated by Reference
This Prospectus should be read and construed in conjunction with the sections identified in the table below of
the following documents which have been previously published and which have been approved by the
Financial Conduct Authority or filed with it:
(i)

the Guarantor's 2017 Interim Statement including the Group's unaudited interim financial statements
for the six months ended 31 March 2017, the related notes and independent review report;

(ii)

the Guarantor's 2016 Annual Report and Accounts including the Group's audited financial statements
for the financial year ended 30 September 2016, the related notes and independent auditor's report; and

(iii)

the Guarantor's 2015 Annual Report and Accounts including the Group's audited financial statements
for the financial year ended 30 September 2015, the related notes and independent auditor's report.

Such sections of such documents shall be incorporated in, and form part of, this Prospectus, save that any
statement contained in a document which is incorporated by reference herein shall be modified or superseded
for the purpose of this Prospectus to the extent that a statement contained herein modifies or supersedes such
earlier statement (whether expressly, by implication or otherwise). Any statement so modified or superseded
shall not, except as so modified or superseded, constitute a part of this Prospectus. Those parts of the
documents which are not specifically incorporated by reference in this Prospectus are either not relevant for
prospective investors in the Bonds or the relevant information is included elsewhere in this Prospectus. Any
documents themselves incorporated by reference in the documents incorporated by reference in this
Prospectus shall not form part of this Prospectus.
Copies of documents incorporated by reference in this Prospectus may be obtained (without charge) from the
registered office of the Issuer and the Guarantor and the websites of the Guarantor at www.shaftesbury.co.uk
and the Regulatory News Service operated by the London Stock Exchange at
http://www.londonstockexchange.com/exchange/prices-and-news/news/market-news/market-news-home.html.
The table below sets out the relevant page references for the documents which are incorporated in, and form
part of, this Prospectus. Information contained in the documents listed below other than in the pages identified
in the table below do not form part of this Prospectus.

Group's unaudited interim financial statements for the six months ended 31 March 2017
Shaftesbury PLC 2017 Interim Statement
Finance Review – Debt Summary and Debt Maturity Profile..................................................
Page 18
Group Statement of Comprehensive Income ................................................................ Page 23
Group Balance Sheet................................................................................................................
Page 24
Group Cash Flow Statement ................................................................................................
Page 25
Notes ................................................................................................................................Pages 27 – 38
Independent Review Report ................................................................................................
Page 40
Glossary of Terms ....................................................................................................................
Pages 42 – 43
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Group's audited annual financial statements for the financial year ended 30 September 2016

Shaftesbury PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2016
Independent Auditor’s Report ................................................................................................
Pages 113 – 118
Group Statement of Comprehensive Income................................................................ Page 120
Group Balance Sheet ................................................................................................................
Page 121
Group Cash Flow Statement................................................................................................
Page 122
Notes ................................................................................................................................Pages 124 – 151
Glossary of Terms ....................................................................................................................
Page 166

Group's audited annual financial statements for the financial year ended 30 September 2015

Shaftesbury PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2015
Independent Auditor’s Report ................................................................................................
Pages 105 – 108
Group Statement of Comprehensive Income ................................................................ Page 110
Group Balance Sheet................................................................................................................
Page 111
Group Cash Flow Statement ................................................................................................
Page 112
Notes ................................................................................................................................Pages 114 – 139
Glossary of Terms ...................................................................................................................
Page 156
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Overview
The overview below describes the principal terms of the Bonds and is qualified in its entirety by the more
detailed information contained elsewhere in this Prospectus. Capitalised terms used in this section and not
otherwise defined have the respective meanings given to them in the Conditions.

Issuer:

Shaftesbury Chinatown PLC

Guarantor:

Shaftesbury PLC

Form and Denomination:

The Bonds will be issued in bearer form in denominations of
£100,000 and integral multiples of £1,000 in excess thereof up to and
including £199,000.

Status of the Bonds:

The Bonds and Coupons constitute direct, secured and unconditional
obligations of the Issuer, secured in the manner described in
Condition 3 (Security), guaranteed by the Guarantor and shall at all
times rank pari passu and without any preference among themselves.

Status of the Guarantee:

The Guarantee constitutes a direct, unsecured and unconditional
obligation of the Guarantor.

Security:

(a) First fixed mortgage charges over Specifically Mortgaged
Premises (as defined in Condition 23 (Definitions)); and
(b) Floating charge over the undertaking and all property, rights
and assets, present and future, wheresoever situated of the
Issuer and any other Charging Company (as defined in
Condition 23 (Definitions)).

Currency:

Pounds sterling.

Principal Amount:

£290,000,000.

Interest Rate:

2.348 per cent. per annum.

Interest Payment Dates:

Interest in respect of the Bonds will be payable semi-annually in
arrear on 30 September and 31 March in each year commencing on
31 March 2018 and ending on the Maturity Date (unless the Bonds
are redeemed or purchased early).

Issue Price:

100 per cent.

Issue Date:

7 September 2017.

Maturity Date:

30 September 2027.

Redemption:

Unless previously redeemed, or purchased and cancelled, the Bonds
will be redeemed at their nominal amount on the Maturity Date.

Early Redemption for Taxation
Reasons:

The Issuer may, at its option, redeem all, but not some only, of the
Bonds at any time at par plus accrued interest in the event of certain
tax changes, as described in Condition 8 (Redemption and Purchase).

Early Redemption at the option of
the Issuer:

The Issuer may, at its option, redeem all, or some only, of the Bonds
at any time after the Issue Date at the relevant redemption amount
described in Condition 8 (Redemption and Purchase).

Change of Control Put Option:

Upon the occurrence of a Change of Control Put Event (as defined in
Condition 8.4 (Redemption at the option of the Bondholder)), each

7

Bondholder shall have the option to require the Issuer to redeem or
(at the option of the Issuer) purchase the Bonds of such holder at a
cash purchase price equal to the principal amount thereof plus
accrued interest, as described in Condition 8 (Redemption and
Purchase).
Financial Covenants

On the Issue Date (and on the date of any Further Issue under
Condition 18 (Further Issues)) the Issuer, the Guarantor and any
other Charging Company shall ensure that:
(i)

the Asset Cover Ratio will be at least 1.67:1; and

(ii)

the Interest Cover Ratio will be at least 1.25:1.

Concurrently with the delivery of each Valuation and NAI Certificate,
the Issuer will deliver a certificate to the Trustee in accordance with
Condition 4.5 (Compliance Certificate) confirming that:

Asset Cover Ratio or ACR:

(i)

the Asset Cover Ratio is at least 1.5:1; and

(ii)

the Interest Cover Ratio is at least 1.15:1.

means the ratio of (a) the Value of the Specifically Mortgaged
Premises to (b) the aggregate nominal amount of the then outstanding
Bonds.
"Value of the Specifically Mortgaged Premises" means: (i) as at
each Accounting Year End for the Issuer, the valuation of the
Specifically Mortgaged Premises as reported by the external valuers
of the Issuer; or (ii) as at each Accounting Half-Year End for the
Issuer, the valuation of the Specifically Mortgaged Premises as
reported by the directors of the Issuer.

Interest Cover Ratio or ICR:

means the ratio of (a) the Net Annual Income to (b) gross annual
interest on the aggregate nominal amount of the then outstanding
Bonds (including any Bonds to be issued in any Further Issue, if
relevant) in each case as at the relevant Ratio Testing Date;
"Net Annual Income" means:
(a) in relation to the Specifically Mortgaged Premises, the
amount of the annual income attributable to the Specifically
Mortgaged Premises accruing at or due to commence to
accrue within three months after the date at which the
calculation thereof is made, after deducting any value added
tax but before deducting any other taxation and after making
proper provision for ground and head rents and irrecoverable
recurring expenses in respect of rates, insurance, property
management expenses, repairs and maintenance, but
excluding lease renewal, letting and rent review fees and
marketing and public relations costs; and
(b) in relation to money or Short Gilts (as defined in Condition
23 (Definitions), the amount of annual income accruing
therefrom based on the rate then accruing therefrom before
deducting tax.
As at each Accounting Year End, the Net Annual Income will be
calculated and reported by the Issuer to the Trustee, such calculation

8

to be agreed with the Auditors in accordance with Condition 4.3
(Periodic Valuation and Reporting). As at each Accounting Half-Year
End, the Net Annual Income will be calculated and reported by the
Issuer to the Trustee in accordance with Condition 4.3 (Periodic
Valuation and Reporting).
Testing Frequency:

The ACR and ICR shall be tested semi-annually as at each
Accounting Year End and at each Accounting Half-Year End (each as
defined in Condition 23 (Definitions)) of the Issuer, with a
compliance certificate to be provided to the Trustee within three
calendar months of the end of the relevant accounting period.

Substitution, withdrawal, top-up
and further issues of Bonds:

Substitution
Substitution of all or any part of the Specifically Mortgaged Premises
with other Eligible Property permitted if the Issuer delivers a
certificate signed by a director of the Issuer to the Trustee certifying
that:
(a) the Value of the Eligible Property and/or the amount of
money proposed to be substituted (the "Substituted
Property") is not less than the Value of the Specifically
Mortgaged Premises or part thereof and/or, in the case of
money, the amount or part thereof proposed to be
withdrawn; and
(b) either:
•

the ICR immediately after such substitution will be not
less than 1.25:1; or

•

the Net Annual Income attributable to the Substituted
Property immediately after such substitution will not be
less than the Net Annual Income attributable at the time
of such substitution to the Specifically Mortgaged
Premises or part thereof proposed to be withdrawn.

Withdrawal
If, as at any Ratio Testing Date:
(a) the ACR exceeds 1.67:1; and
(b) the ICR exceeds 1.25:1,
then the Issuer and any other Charging Company may, within four
months of the most recent date on which either the ACR or ICR has
been tested, withdraw any part or parts of the Specifically Mortgaged
Premises without substitution but only to the extent of such excess.
Top-up
If based on the criteria for determining the ACR and ICR, as
applicable, as at the most recent date on which either the ACR or ICR
has been tested:
(a) the ACR has fallen below 1.5:1; or
(b) the ICR has fallen below 1.15:1,
the Issuer will be required, within four months of the most recent date
(or such longer period as the Trustee may agree) on which either the
ACR or ICR has been tested, to charge additional Eligible Property in
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favour of the Trustee and/or purchase and cancel sufficient Bonds
such that the ACR and ICR after and as a consequence of such top-up
will respectively be in excess of 1.67:1 and 1.25:1.
Issue of Bonds and any Further Issue
The Issuer may issue the Bonds and may issue any Bonds pursuant to
a Further Issue (pursuant to Condition 18 (Further Issues)) secured
by the Specifically Mortgaged Premises (being bonds which form a
single series with the existing bonds) providing that, immediately
after the issue thereof: (a) the ACR is at least 1.67:1; and (b) the ICR
is at least 1.25:1.
Eligible Property:

means:
(a) the Properties identified in Condition 3.2 (Fixed Charges)
which are expressed by the Trust Deed to be secured on the
Issue Date;
(b) any other Property located in Central London (other than
leasehold Property the term of which expires or may be
determined (other than by forfeiture) by the lessor less than
50 years after the final maturity date of the Bonds or the
lease of which contains provisions which in the opinion of
the Trustee make it unsuitable as security for the Bonds)
which: (i) in the opinion of the Valuers is of a type the
charging of which as part of the Specifically Mortgaged
Premises would not prejudice the quality of the Specifically
Mortgaged Premises taken as a whole at the time of such
charging; and (ii) in respect of which a certificate of title
reasonably acceptable to the Trustee has been produced;
(c) money or Short Gilts (as defined in Condition 23
(Definitions)); and/or
(d) any other Property or assets situated in Central London (as
defined in Condition 23 (Definitions)) approved in writing
by the Trustee as security for the Bonds,
which, for the avoidance of doubt, may include any additional
interest in any Property for the time being comprised in the
Specifically Mortgaged Premises.

Events on which the security
becomes enforceable:

Events of Default under the Bonds set out in Condition 11 (Events of
Default) include non-payment of principal due for three business
days, non-payment of interest for 14 business days, cross-acceleration
relating to indebtedness for borrowed money of the Issuer, the
Guarantor or any other Charging Company subject to an aggregate
threshold of £5,000,000 or its equivalent and certain events related to
insolvency or winding up of the Issuer, the Guarantor or any other
Charging Company.

Withholding Tax and Additional
Amounts:

The Issuer or, as the case may be, the Guarantor will pay such
additional amounts as may be necessary in order that the net amounts
received by each Bondholder in respect of the Bonds, after
withholding for any taxes imposed by tax authorities in the United
Kingdom upon payments in respect of the Bonds made by or on
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behalf of the Issuer or the Guarantor, will equal the respective
amounts which would have been received in the absence of any such
withholding taxes, subject to customary exceptions, as described in
Condition 10 (Taxation).
Governing Law:

The Bonds, and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in
connection with the Bonds, will be governed by, and construed in
accordance with, English law.

Clearing and Settlement:

Euroclear Bank SA/NV and Clearstream Banking S.A..

Trustee and Security Trustee:

Prudential Trustee Company Limited.

Principal Paying Agent:

Elavon Financial Services DAC, UK Branch.

Listing and Admission to Trading:

Regulated Market of the London Stock Exchange.

Selling Restrictions:

There are restrictions on offers of the Bonds into, or to persons
resident in, the United States, the United Kingdom and elsewhere.
See the section headed “Subscription and Sale”.
Category 2 selling restrictions will apply to the Bonds and the
Guarantee for the purposes of Regulation S under the Securities Act.
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Initial Specifically Mortgaged Premises

1.

Addresses of the Initial Specifically Mortgaged Premises
The addresses of the Initial Specifically Mortgaged Premises are set out below:
(i)

45, 45b, 47 & 49 and Crediton Mansions, 47a Charing Cross Road, London

(ii)

3 Dansey Place

(iii)

3 and 4 Dansey Place

(iv)

6 Dansey Place and 21 and 22 Gerrard Street

(v)

7 Dansey Place and 34-36 Wardour Street

(vi)

1 Gerrard Place

(vii)

2 Gerrard Place

(viii)

3 Gerrard Street

(ix)

4 Gerrard Street

(x)

5 Gerrard Street

(xi)

6 Gerrard Street

(xii)

7 Gerrard Street

(xiii)

8 Gerrard Street

(xiv)

9 Gerrard Street (also containing 8 Horse & Dolphin Yard)

(xv)

10 Gerrard Street & 4 Horse & Dolphin Yard

(xvi)

11 Gerrard Street

(xvii)

13 Gerrard Street

(xviii)

14 Gerrard St & 13 Macclesfield St

(xix)

15A Gerrard St (also containing 2 Macclesfield St)

(xx)

15 Gerrard Street

(xxi)

16 Gerrard Street and 2 Dansey Place

(xxii)

17 Gerrard Street (also containing 3 Dansey Place)

(xxiii)

18 Gerrard Street

(xxiv)

19 Gerrard Street

(xxv)

20 Gerrard Street and 5 Dansey Place
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(xxvi)

21 and 22 Gerrard Street and 6 Dansey Place

(xxvii)

23 Gerrard Street

(xxviii)

36 and 39 Gerrard Street

(xxix)

36 and 39 Gerrard Street

(xxx)

37-38 Gerrard Street

(xxxi)

King's Head Public House, 48 Gerrard Street

(xxxii)

1, 2 and 3 Horse and Dolphin Yard

(xxxiii)

8 Horse & Dolphin Yard

(xxxiv)

14 Lisle Street

(xxxv)

15 Lisle Street

(xxxvi)

18-20 Lisle Street

(xxxvii)

19 Lisle Street

(xxxviii) 20 Lisle Street
(xxxix)

21 Lisle Street

(xl)

26 - 27 Lisle Street

(xli)

The White Bear Public House, 28-30 Lisle Street

(xlii)

7 Little Newport Street

(xliii)

8 Little Newport Street

(xliv)

9 Little Newport Street

(xlv)

12 and 13 Little Newport Street

(xlvi)

15 Little Newport Street

(xlvii)

2 Macclesfield Street

(xlviii)

3 Macclesfield Street

(xlix)

4 Macclesfield Street

(l)

5 Macclesfield Street

(li)

12 Macclesfield Street

(lii)

13 Macclesfield Street and 14 Gerrard Street (also containing 13a Macclesfield Street)

(liii)

21 Newport Court

(liv)

22 Newport Court
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(lv)

23 and 24 Newport Court

(lvi)

1 Newport Place

(lvii)

Parts Of The Basement, Ground And Mezzanine Floor Levels at the Newport Sandringham
Development Being The Retail Development, 51 To 79 (odd) Charing Cross Road, 28 To 35
Newport Court and 10 To 18 (even) Newport Place

(lviii)

64 Shaftesbury Avenue

(lix)

66 to 88 (even) Shaftesbury Avenue, encompassing:

(lx)

66 Shaftesbury Avenue

(lxi)

68 Shaftesbury Avenue

(lxii)

70 Shaftesbury Avenue

(lxiii)

72 Shaftesbury Avenue

(lxiv)

74 Shaftesbury Avenue

(lxv)

76 Shaftesbury Avenue

(lxvi)

78 Shaftesbury Avenue

(lxvii)

80 Shaftesbury Avenue

(lxviii)

90, 92, 96 and 98 Shaftesbury Avenue and Macclesfield Chambers

(lxix)

100-124 Shaftesbury Avenue (Basement, Ground, First and Second Floors) encompassing:

(lxx)

108 Shaftesbury Avenue

(lxxi)

110 Shaftesbury Avenue

(lxxii)

112 and 112A Shaftesbury Avenue

(lxxiii)

114 Shaftesbury Avenue

(lxxiv)

116 Shaftesbury Avenue

(lxxv)

118-120 Shaftesbury Avenue

(lxxvi)

Flat 1, Exeter Mansions, 106 Shaftesbury Avenue

(lxxvii)

Flat 3, Exeter Mansions, 106 Shaftesbury Avenue

(lxxviii) Flat 4, Exeter Mansions, 106 Shaftesbury Avenue
(lxxix)

Flat 5, Exeter Mansions, 106 Shaftesbury Avenue

(lxxx)

Flat 6, Exeter Mansions, 106 Shaftesbury Avenue

(lxxxi)

Flat 8, Exeter Mansions, 106 Shaftesbury Avenue, London

(lxxxii)

Basement Vault, 116 Shaftesbury Avenue
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(lxxxiii) Flat 1, Egmont House, 116 Shaftesbury Avenue
(lxxxiv)

Flat 2, Egmont House, 116 Shaftesbury Avenue

(lxxxv)

Flat 3, Egmont House, 116 Shaftesbury Avenue

(lxxxvi)

Flat 4, Egmont House, 116 Shaftesbury Avenue

(lxxxvii) Flat 3, Nassau House, 122 Shaftesbury Avenue
(lxxxviii) 32 Wardour Street (also containing 23 Gerrard Street)
2.

Plan
An indicative plan of the Initial Specifically Mortgaged Premises is set out below:
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Risk Factors
The Issuer and the Guarantor believe that the following factors may affect their ability to fulfil their
obligations under the Bonds. All of these factors are contingencies which may or may not occur and neither
the Issuer nor the Guarantor is in a position to express a view on the likelihood of any such contingency
occurring.
Factors which the Issuer and the Guarantor believe may be material for the purpose of assessing the market
risks associated with the Bonds are also described below.
The Issuer and the Guarantor believe that the factors described below represent the principal risks inherent in
investing in the Bonds, but the Issuer or the Guarantor may be unable to pay interest, principal or other
amounts on or in connection with the Bonds or the Guarantee for other reasons, and the Issuer and the
Guarantor do not represent that the statements below regarding the risks of holding the Bonds are exhaustive.
Prospective investors should also read the detailed information set out elsewhere in this Prospectus
(including any documents incorporated by reference herein) and reach their own views prior to making any
investment decision.
1

Risks relating to the Group and its business
External events which discourage visitors to London's West End
The prosperity of London’s West End economy and, in turn, the Group’s retail and restaurant tenants is
dependent on large numbers of domestic and overseas visitors to the area. External events that threaten visitor
security, such as, but not limited to, terrorist attacks and significant public health concerns, if sustained, could
result in a significant reduction in visitor numbers over an extended period. This would adversely affect
trading conditions for the Group’s tenants.
Public transport services are essential in bringing into London’s West End the large numbers of visitors on
which the Group’s retail and restaurant tenants depend. The failure of any one of London’s transport services,
significant and sustained disruption (in excess of normal course delays) to these services and/or any
detrimental change to local or national policy in respect of transport may lead to a significant and potentially
sustained drop in visitors to London’s West End, adversely affecting trading conditions for the Group’s
tenants.
Any of the abovementioned external events could affect the level of demand for the Group’s properties,
leading to a decrease in net rental income and a consequential reduction in the value of the Group's property
portfolio. This could, in turn, have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, results of operations,
financial condition and prospects.
An external event, such as a terrorist attack, could result in loss or damage to any of the Group's properties
An external event, such as a terrorist attack, could result in loss or damage to any one of the Group's
properties. Whilst the Group maintains commercial insurance in an amount it believes is appropriate against
risks commonly insured against by companies carrying on similar businesses, including loss of rent, loss or
damage by fire, earthquake, malicious damage and acts of terrorism (subject to such insurance being available
in the UK), the Group may find that it is unable to recover costs in respect of loss or damage to its properties
(see "Risks relating to the Security for the Bonds – Sufficiency of Insurance").
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Competing destinations which lead to long-term decline in the number of visitors to London’s West End
Competing destinations could result in a sustained and significant reduction in visitor numbers to London's
West End, as the prosperity of London’s West End economy is dependent on large numbers of visitors to the
area. If this occurred, it would adversely affect trading conditions for the Group’s tenants, leading to a
decrease in net rental income and a consequential reduction in the value of the Group's property portfolio.
This may, in turn, have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, results of operations, financial
condition or prospects.
Changes in the policies of local authorities
All of the Group’s properties are located within the jurisdictions of Westminster City Council and the London
Borough of Camden. Although the Group works closely with these local authorities, changes in local council
policies, particularly policies relating to planning and licensing, could have a significant adverse effect on the
Group’s ability to maximize the long-term potential of its properties. Any such changes in local council
policies may limit the future use of the Group's properties which could limit its ability to optimise revenues
from the Group's property portfolio. Were this to occur, this could have a material adverse effect on the value
of the Group’s property portfolio. This may, in turn, have a material adverse effect on the Group's business,
results of operations, financial condition or prospects.
Adverse economic conditions and dependency on tenants
The Issuer's ability to fulfil its obligations under the Bonds will depend on the Group continuing to receive
rent from its tenants. A decline in the performance of the global or UK economies could adversely affect the
trading conditions of the Group's tenants. The Issuer's ability to fulfil such obligations could be affected if
occupancy levels were to fall materially and/or if a significant number of tenants were unable to meet their
obligations. Economic uncertainty and lower consumer confidence could lead to a reduction in numbers of
visitors to London's West End, tenant demand, net rental income and occupancy levels in the West End
property market.
Whilst the local economy in London's West End has a long history of economic resilience compared with
other areas in the UK, a significant and sustained deterioration in the global or UK economic environment
could have a negative effect on the value of the Group's portfolio and a material adverse effect on the Group's
business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects. In particular, as existing leases terminate or
become subject to tenant break options or space needs to be re-let for other reasons, there can be no assurance
that such space will be re-let or, if re-let, that it will be re-let on terms (including rental levels) as favourable
to the Group as those currently, or then, existing or that new tenants will be as creditworthy as existing
tenants.
External market and macro-economic factors
Many external market and macro-economic factors, such as interest rate changes, currency fluctuations,
changes in gilt or bond yields, the availability and cost of finance and the relative attraction of property
against other asset classes could adversely affect occupational and investor demand for property.
Following a national referendum in June 2016, the UK formally notified the European Council on 29 March
2017 of its intention to withdraw from the European Union (“Brexit”). Negotiations have commenced to
determine the future terms of the UK’s relationship with the European Union, including, among other things,
the terms of trade between the UK and the European Union. However, the terms of any agreement governing
the future relationship between the UK and the European Union, as well as the legal and economic
consequences of those terms, remain unclear. This has created political and economic uncertainty which may
continue to affect market and macro-economic conditions in both the UK and EU economies until the basis
for future arrangements has been agreed. In particular, prolonged uncertainty during Brexit negotiations may

17

contribute to on-going instability in financial and foreign exchange markets in the UK and EU, including a
fall in GDP and volatility in the value of sterling. This economic uncertainty could adversely affect
occupational and/or investor demand for property.
A reduction in occupational demand for the Group’s property could lead to a decrease in net rental income
and a consequential reduction in the value of the Group's property portfolio. This could, in turn, have a
material adverse effect on the Group's business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.
Reduced investor demand for property in the West End which is similar in nature to the Group's property, or a
rise in long-term gilt yields, bond yields or swap rates could lead to a reduction in property values and, as a
consequence, a fall in the value of the Group's property portfolio.
A significant reduction in the value of the Group’s property portfolio would adversely affect its gearing and
loan-to-value ratios, which could result in a breach of the related financial covenants in the Bonds and the
Group’s banking and other debt facilities. Cross-default provisions in the Group’s borrowing arrangements,
including financial derivatives, could magnify the effect of any breach of financial covenants with an
individual lender, which could have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, results of operation,
financial condition and prospects. The Group is exposed to movements in interest rates which affect the
amount of interest paid on borrowings. The Group has a number of banking facilities and operates an interest
rate hedging strategy to protect itself by reducing the potential volatility in net cash flow caused by
fluctuations in interest rates. As at 31 March 2017, 94.5 per cent. of the Group's drawn debt was fixed or
hedged. To the extent that the Group does not hedge its exposure to interest rate fluctuations, the Group may
incur higher than expected interest costs, which could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business,
results of operations, financial condition or prospects.
The Guarantor may not be able to refinance its existing or future debt obligations
The Guarantor funds the Group through a mix of equity and debt. Its financial indebtedness includes
revolving credit facilities and related hedging arrangements. This financial indebtedness has contractual
maturities or early termination options which fall before the maturity of the Bonds. The Board expects to
refinance this financial indebtedness in advance of its contractual maturities. The Guarantor’s ability to
refinance maturing arrangements when required will depend on the Group's ability to raise debt or equity
financing, or sell assets. The ability to raise debt or equity financing will depend on many factors outside of
the Group's control, including conditions in the international credit and capital markets at the time. The
Group's ability to sell assets will depend on property market conditions outside of the Group's control. If the
Group is unable to refinance its existing or future obligations, this may have a material adverse effect on the
Group's business, results of operation, financial condition and prospects.
Property valuation is inherently subjective and uncertain
The valuation of the Group’s wholly-owned property and the Group’s share of the Longmartin Properties is
undertaken by independent third party valuers. The valuation is inherently subjective due to, amongst other
factors, the individual nature and condition of each property, its location and the expected future rental
income. As a result, the valuations the Group places on its property portfolio are subject to a degree of
uncertainty and are made on the basis of assumptions which may not prove to be accurate, particularly in
periods of volatility or low transaction flow in the commercial property market. The valuers make certain
independent assumptions when preparing their property valuations. There is no assurance that the valuations
of the Group’s properties will be reflected in any actual transaction prices, even where any such transactions
occur shortly after the relevant valuation date, or that initial yields and ERV will prove to be attainable.
Incorrect or flawed assessments underlying the valuation could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s
business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects and could potentially inhibit the Group’s
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ability to realise a sale price that reflects the stated valuation or to raise financing using the Group’s properties
as security.
Energy performance regulations
The Energy Act 2011 includes a provision whereby from April 2018 it will be unlawful to rent out premises
with an Energy Performance Certificate ("EPC") rating which, according to Government proposals issued in
February 2015, falls below an "E" rating. For those premises which are subject to leases commencing before
April 2018, but which have a term extending to on, or after, 1 April 2023, a valid EPC that is in place at 1
April 2023 must have at least an "E" rating.
Of the current premises within the Initial Specifically Mortgaged Premises, 56 per cent. by number currently
have an EPC rating at or above an "E" rating. 44 per cent. of the premises by number currently either do not
have an EPC, or the EPC rating is below an "E" rating, of which nearly 28 per cent. by number, are comprised
within listed buildings, for which there are certain exemptions afforded by the Energy Act 2011.
The Group maintains a register of EPCs and is undertaking a phased programme of improvements of relevant
premises as and when it obtains possession following vacation of the premises by a tenant prior to a new
tenant taking possession, to bring the premises to a standard where they will achieve an appropriate EPC
rating within the constraints imposed by current conservation area and listed buildings legislation.
If it were to become unlawful for premises to be let as a result of the Energy Act 2011 and no exemption for
them were available, then this could lead to a decrease in net rental income in relation to those premises and a
consequential reduction in the value of the Group's property portfolio. This could, in turn, have a material
adverse effect on the Group's business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.
2.

Certain risks related to the Bonds
Liability of the Issuer and the Guarantor under the Bonds
The Bonds constitute direct, general, secured obligations of the Issuer and rank equally among themselves.
The Guarantee constitutes a direct, unconditional and unsecured obligation of the Guarantor and ranks equally
with all other outstanding and unsecured obligations of the Guarantor. The Bonds are obligations of the Issuer
and (pursuant to the Guarantee) the Guarantor only and do not establish any liability or other obligation of
any other person mentioned in this Prospectus.
The Guarantee is unsecured and as the holding company of the Group, the Guarantor is largely reliant on
cash flows from the Group
The Guarantee is unsecured and accordingly holders of the Bonds may be restricted in the extent to which
they have recourse to the Guarantor owing to other existing or future secured indebtedness of the Guarantor
and/or the Group. In particular, as the holding company of the Group, the Guarantor operates primarily
through its direct and indirect subsidiaries and affiliates. Repayment of its indebtedness, including under the
Guarantee, is therefore dependent on the ability of its subsidiaries and affiliates to make cash available to the
Guarantor through dividend distributions, debt repayment, loans or otherwise. Such subsidiaries or affiliates
may not be able to, or may be restricted by the terms of their existing or future secured or unsecured
indebtedness, or by law, in their ability to make distributions or advance upstream loans to enable the
Guarantor to make payments in respect of its indebtedness, including the Guarantee. Furthermore, although
the Conditions and the Security impose restrictions on the incurrence of additional secured indebtedness by
the Issuer, and any other Charging Company (if any), these restrictions do not extend to the Guarantor or
other members of the Group. If new debt is added to the Guarantor's or Group's existing debt levels, the
related risks that holders of the Bonds face would increase.
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In the event that the Guarantor does not receive distributions or other payments from its subsidiaries or
affiliates, it may be unable to make required principal and interest payments on its indebtedness, including the
Guarantee. The Guarantor does not expect to have any other sources of funds that would allow it to make
payments under the Guarantee.
Redemption prior to maturity
In the event that the Bonds become repayable prior to maturity following an Event of Default (as defined in
Condition 11 (Events of Default)) or the option of the Issuer (pursuant to Condition 8.3 (Redemption at the
Option of the Issuer)), the Bonds will be redeemed at the Redemption Price, plus accrued interest (if
applicable).
In the event that the Bonds become repayable prior to maturity due to taxation (pursuant to Condition 8.2
(Redemption for Taxation Reasons)) the Bonds will be redeemed in full at their nominal amount, plus accrued
interest (if applicable).
In any such circumstances it may not be possible for an investor to reinvest the redemption proceeds at an
effective rate of interest as high as the interest rate on the Bonds. Furthermore, the optional redemption
feature of the Bonds is likely to limit their market value as the market value generally will not rise
substantially above the price at which they can be redeemed.
Change of Control Put Event
Condition 8.4 (Redemption at the Option of the Bondholder) of the Bonds provides that the Bonds are
redeemable at their nominal amount, plus accrued interest (if applicable), at the option of the Bondholder
upon the occurrence of a Change of Control Put Event. A Change of Control Put Option may arise at times
when the prevailing interest rates may be lower than at issuance. In such circumstances an investor may not
be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds in a comparable security at an effective interest rate equivalent to
that of the Bonds. Once given, a Change of Control Put Notice is irrevocable and the Bondholder will be
required to undertake in the Change of Control Put Notice not to sell or transfer the relevant Bonds for the
duration of the Change of Control Put Period.
In the event that some, but not all, Bondholders exercise their Change of Control Put Option, this may reduce
the liquidity of any trading market for the Bonds. If 80 per cent. or more in nominal amount of the Bonds
originally issued are redeemed as a result of the exercise of the Change of Control Put Option, the Issuer may
redeem at its option all the remaining Bonds at their nominal amount, plus accrued interest (if applicable).
Modification, waivers and substitution
The Conditions and the Trust Deed contain provisions for calling meetings of Bondholders to consider
matters affecting their interests generally. These provisions permit defined majorities to bind all Bondholders,
including Bondholders who did not attend and vote at the relevant meeting and Bondholders who voted in a
manner contrary to the majority.
The Conditions and the Trust Deed also provide that the Trustee may, without the consent of Bondholders or
Couponholders: (i) agree to any modification of any of the provisions of the Trust Deed (including the
Conditions) that is in the opinion of the Trustee of a formal, minor or technical nature or is made to correct a
manifest error; or (ii) (x) agree to any other modification of the Trust Deed (including the Conditions), or (y)
agree to the waiver or authorisation of any breach or proposed breach of, any of the provisions of the Trust
Deed (including the Conditions) provided that in the case of (y) the Trustee will not do so in contravention of
any express direction given by Extraordinary Resolution or a request by Bondholders holding at least onefifth in nominal amount of the Bonds then outstanding pursuant to Condition 11, but so that no such direction
or request shall affect any waiver or authorisation previously given or made; or (z) determine that any Event
of Default shall not be treated as such provided that in the case of (z) the Trustee will not do so in
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contravention of any express direction given by Extraordinary Resolution or request by Bondholders holding
at least one-fifth in nominal amount of the Bonds then outstanding pursuant to Condition 11, but so that no
such direction or request shall affect any determination previously given or made, and in each case set out in
(ii), on the condition that the Trustee is of the opinion that to do so would not be materially prejudicial to the
interest of Bondholders.
The Conditions also provide that the Trustee may at any time, without the consent of Bondholders, agree to
the substitution of the Issuer as principal debtor under the Bonds by either Shaftesbury PLC or any company
which is a direct or indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Shaftesbury PLC from time to time, in the
circumstances described in Condition 19 (Substitution).
Denominations involve integral multiples: definitive Bonds
The Bonds have denominations consisting of a minimum of £100,000 plus integral multiples of £1,000 in
excess thereof, up to and including £199,000. It is possible that the Bonds may be traded in the clearing
systems in amounts that are not integral multiples of £100,000. In such a case a holder who, as a result of
trading such amounts, holds an amount which is less than £100,000 in his account with the relevant clearing
system at the relevant time may not receive a definitive Bond in respect of such holding (should definitive
Bonds be printed) and would need to purchase a nominal amount of Bonds such that its holding amounts to
£100,000.
If definitive Bonds are issued, holders should be aware that definitive Bonds which have a denomination that
is not an integral multiple of £100,000 may be illiquid and difficult to trade.
Change in law
The Conditions are based on English law in effect as at the Issue Date and on the UK's current membership of
the European Union. A significant proportion of English law currently derives from or is designed to operate
in concert with European Union law. This is especially true of English law relating to financial markets,
financial services, payment services and systems, settlement finality, market infrastructure, the EPC regime
and energy rating requirements. Depending on the timing and terms of Brexit, there could be significant
changes to English law in areas relevant to the Group or the Bonds. No assurance can be given as to the
impact of any possible judicial decision or change to English law or administrative practice after the date of
issue of the Bonds and any such change could materially adversely impact the value of the Bonds.
Legal investment considerations may restrict certain investments
The investment activities of certain investors are subject to legal investment laws and regulations, or review
or regulation by certain authorities. Each potential investor should consult its legal advisers to determine
whether and to what extent (1) the Bonds are legal investments for it, (2) the Bonds can be used as collateral
for various types of borrowing and (3) other restrictions apply to its purchase or pledge of the Bonds.
Financial institutions should consult their legal advisers or the appropriate regulators to determine the
appropriate treatment of the Bonds under any applicable risk-based capital or similar rules.
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3.

Risks relating to the Security of the Bonds
Title investigations in respect of the Initial Specifically Mortgaged Premises
Certificates of title have been prepared and will be issued on or before the Issue Date in respect of the Initial
Specifically Mortgaged Premises (set out in paragraph 1 of the section headed "Initial Specifically Mortgaged
Premises") which will, on the Issue Date, be charged by way of legal mortgage in favour of the Trustee for the
benefit of the Bondholders and the Trustee. The certificates of title will be addressed to the Trustee in
contemplation of the issue of the Bonds.
Each of the Initial Specifically Mortgaged Premises has been subject to certain title investigations in
contemplation of the issue of the Bonds. This investigation includes searches at the Land Registry to confirm,
among other things, the legal ownership of the Initial Specifically Mortgaged Premises. In addition, searches
have been conducted in the Register of Companies in England and Wales to confirm that there are no
registered charges granted by the Issuer in respect of the relevant Initial Specifically Mortgaged Premises or
(to the extent that it can be disclosed by such searches) any beneficial interest therein (except to secure the
Bonds).
Except as required by the certificates of title and as stated above, no additional searches or enquiries will be
made in respect of the Initial Specifically Mortgaged Premises or the Issuer. To the extent that there are
material issues which would have been revealed by such additional searches or inquiries, this may have a
material adverse effect on the value of the Group's property portfolio.
Considerations relating to the Security
The Bonds are secured by the Security granted, pursuant to the Trust Deed, in favour of the Trustee for the
benefit of the Trustee, the Bondholders and the other Secured Creditors and such security includes: (i) first
fixed legal mortgages over the Initial Specifically Mortgaged Premises; and (ii) a floating charge over the
undertaking and all property, rights and assets, present and future, wheresoever situated of the Issuer and any
other Charging Company (if any). If any such security is invalid, it may not be enforceable by the Trustee.
The validity of any security given by any other Charging Company (if any) in connection with additional
property and substitutions of Initial Specifically Mortgaged Premises may depend on the solvency of such
Charging Company at the time of the grant.
Environmental Considerations
Under relevant UK environmental legislation, liability for environmental matters can be imposed on the
"owner" or "person in control" of land. The term "owner" is not specifically defined and could include anyone
with a proprietary interest in a property. This could include a representative of a trustee as a mortgagee in
possession (in respect of which see the risk factor entitled "Mortgagee in Possession Liability" below).
Environmental laws may impose liability on the owner for clean-up costs if a property is or becomes
contaminated. The Issuer or any other Charging Company (if any) may therefore be liable for the entire
amount of the clean-up and redemption costs for a contaminated site regardless of whether the contamination
was caused by it or not. These costs may be significant.
In addition, the presence of hazardous or toxic substances, or the failure to adequately remedy adverse
environmental conditions at any Specifically Mortgaged Premises, may adversely affect the value of the
Specifically Mortgaged Premises, as well as the Charging Company's ability to sell, lease or refinance the
Specifically Mortgaged Premises. Any environmental liability imposed on the Issuer, the Guarantor or another
member of the Group could (directly or indirectly) result in a shortfall in funds available to repay the Bonds.
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Sufficiency of Insurance
Although each of the Specifically Mortgaged Premises is required to be insured at appropriate levels and
against customary risks, there can be no assurance that any loss incurred will be of a type covered by such
insurance, nor can there be any assurance that the loss will not exceed the limits of such insurance. In
particular, the insurance policies in place may prove inadequate to cover lost income, reinstatement costs,
increased expenses or other liabilities and as such there can be no assurance that the Group would not be
forced to bear substantial uninsured losses irrespective of insurance coverage. Moreover, there can be no
assurance that if insurance cover is cancelled or not renewed, replacement cover will be available
on commercially reasonable terms or at all. Any of these events could have a material adverse effect on the
Group's business, cash flows, financial condition and results of operations.
In addition, there are certain types of losses, generally of a catastrophic nature, such as floods, storms,
terrorism or acts of war that may be uninsurable or are not economically insurable. Inflation, changes in
building codes and ordinances, environmental considerations, and other factors, including terrorism or acts of
war, also might result in insurance proceeds being insufficient to repair or replace a property if it is damaged
or destroyed. No assurance can be given that material losses in excess of insurance proceeds will not occur in
the future. Any reduction in income or any loss or damage caused to any Specifically Mortgaged Premises not
adequately covered by insurance could result in a shortfall in funds available to repay the Bonds.
The Issuer or any other Charging Company (if any) may be subject to insolvency proceedings
Under English law, most creditors would (save where an administrator or a liquidator has been appointed) be
able to commence insolvency or winding up proceedings against the Issuer or any other Charging Company
(if any) in respect of any unpaid debt.
If the Issuer or any other Charging Company goes into administration it will not be possible to enforce the
security without the permission of the administrator or the court. The Specifically Mortgaged Premises may
be sold free of any security to which they are subject (with the approval of the courts), although the proceeds
of sale would be available to be applied towards the redemption of the Bonds. Were the Issuer to be placed
into liquidation, whether following an application to the court by the Issuer or any creditor of the Issuer or on
the passing of a resolution by the Shareholders of the Issuer, there would be no restrictions on the
enforcement of the security given by the Issuer.
An administrator may be appointed by order of the court made on an application by, amongst others, the
Issuer, the directors of the Issuer or one or more creditors of the Issuer. In addition, the holder of a qualifying
floating charge (being, broadly, a floating charge which, when taken together with the other security granted
to a particular creditor, covers all or substantially all of the assets of a company), the directors of the Issuer
and the Issuer may appoint an administrator without applying to the court for an order. Generally, if various of
those entities wish to appoint an administrator the appointment made by the holder of a qualifying floating
charge will prevail.
The Conditions and the Trust Deed do not prohibit the Issuer from granting security to a third party, which
security may include a qualifying floating charge. Therefore, should such a creditor take enforcement action
by appointment of an administrator then the identity of that administrator can be determined by that creditor.
However, once appointed an administrator owes duties to, amongst others, the Issuer, creditors generally and
does not (unlike a receiver) owe duties primarily to his appointing creditor.
Mortgagee in Possession Liability
There is a risk that the Trustee may be deemed to be a mortgagee in possession if it physically enters into
possession of any of the Specifically Mortgaged Premises. The consequence of being a mortgagee in
possession would be that the Trustee may be obliged to account to the relevant Charging Company for the
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income obtained from the Specifically Mortgaged Premises, be liable for any damage to the Specifically
Mortgaged Premises, have limited liability to repair the Specifically Mortgaged Premises and, in certain
circumstances, may be obliged to make improvements or incur financial liabilities in respect of the
Specifically Mortgaged Premises. A mortgagee in possession may also be liable to a tenant for any
mismanagement of the relevant property and may incur liabilities to third parties in nuisance and negligence
and, under certain statutes (including environmental legislation), the liabilities of a property owner. Any such
matter could impact the amount to be recovered by Bondholders from the Security.
Assignment of rents in the case of enforcement
The assignment of rents derived from the Specifically Mortgaged Premises will, without notice being given to
the tenants of the Specifically Mortgaged Premises, take effect as an equitable assignment. They will
nevertheless be binding on any liquidator or other creditor of the Issuer or any other Charging Company (if
any) subject to certain equities. The failure to give notice to the tenants means that tenants will validly
discharge those payment obligations under their tenancy agreements by making payments directly to the
relevant Charging Company and not to the Trustee. This in turn may adversely affect the repayment of the
Bonds until such time as notice is given to the tenants of the assignment of such rents.
In the event that a receiver is appointed in respect of the Issuer or any other Charging Company (if any), a
notice will be sent to the tenants of the relevant Charging Company instructing them to make rental payments
to the receiver. However, there can be no guarantee that the tenants will receive any such notice, or that they
will act on the notice, even though they are legally required to do so. If the tenants continue to make payments
to the relevant Charging Company, rather than to the receiver, the income received by the Trustee for
application in accordance with the Trust Deed may be adversely affected, which in turn may adversely affect
the repayment of the Bonds.
4.

Risks relating to the bond market generally
The secondary market generally
The Bonds may have no established trading market when issued, and one may never develop. If a market does
develop, it may not be liquid. Therefore, investors may not be able to sell their Bonds easily or at prices that
will provide them with a yield comparable to similar investments that have a developed secondary market.
No formal credit ratings
The Bonds have not been assigned a credit rating by any rating agency to date and nor does the Issuer
currently have any intention of applying for a credit rating from any credit rating agency. However, one or
more independent credit rating agencies may assign credit ratings to some or all of the Bonds prior to their
redemption. Any such ratings may not reflect the potential impact of all risks relating to the market, additional
factors discussed above and other factors that may affect the value of the Bonds. A credit rating is not a
recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be revised or withdrawn by the relevant rating agency
at any time.
The Clearing Systems
As the Global Bonds will be held by or on behalf of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg investors will
have to rely on the procedures of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg for transfer, payment and
communication with the Issuer.
A holder of an interest in a Global Bond must rely on the procedures of Euroclear and Clearstream,
Luxembourg to receive payments under the Bonds. The Issuer has no responsibility or liability for the records
relating to, or payments made in respect of, interests in the Global Bonds.
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Holders of interests in the Global Bonds will not have a direct right to vote in respect of the relevant Bonds.
Instead, such holders will be permitted to act only to the extent that they are enabled by Euroclear or
Clearstream, Luxembourg.
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Terms and Conditions of the Bonds
The following are the terms and conditions substantially in the form to be endorsed on the Bonds in definitive
form (if issued):
The issue of the £290,000,000 2.348 per cent. guaranteed first mortgage bonds due 2027 (the “Bonds”) and
the granting of the security was authorised by resolutions of the Board of Directors of Shaftesbury Chinatown
PLC (the “Issuer”) passed on 22 August 2017 and 31 August 2017, and the guarantee of the Bonds was
authorised by a resolution of the Board of Directors of Shaftesbury PLC (the “Guarantor”) passed on 22
August 2017 and resolutions of a committee appointed by the Board of Directors of the Guarantor passed on
31 August 2017.
The Bonds are constituted by a Trust Deed (the “Trust Deed”) to be dated on or around 7 September 2017
(the “Issue Date”) between the Issuer, the Guarantor and Prudential Trustee Company Limited (the “Trustee”
which expression shall include all persons for the time being the trustee or trustees under the Trust Deed) as
trustee for the holders of the Bonds (the “Bondholders”). These terms and conditions (the “Conditions”)
include summaries of, and are subject to, the detailed provisions of the Trust Deed, which includes the form
of the Bonds and the coupons relating to them (the “Coupons”). Security for, among other things, the Bonds
is created by the Trust Deed. Copies of the Trust Deed and of the Paying Agency Agreement dated on or
around the Issue Date relating to the Bonds between the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Trustee and the initial
principal paying agent named in it (the “Paying Agency Agreement”), are available for inspection during
usual business hours at the specified office of the Trustee (presently at Laurence Pountney Hill, London EC4R
0HH, United Kingdom) and at the specified offices of the principal paying agent for the time being (the
“Principal Paying Agent”) and the other paying agents (if any) for the time being (the “Paying Agents”,
which expression shall include the Principal Paying Agent). The Bondholders and the holders of the Coupons
(whether or not attached to the relevant Bonds) (the “Couponholders”) are entitled to the benefit of, are
bound by, and are deemed to have notice of, all the provisions of the Trust Deed and are deemed to have
notice of those provisions applicable to them of the Paying Agency Agreement. Capitalised terms used herein
shall have the meaning given to them in Condition 22.
1

2

Form, Denomination and Title
1.1

Form and denomination: The Bonds are serially numbered and in bearer form in the denomination of
£100,000 and integral multiples of £1,000 in excess thereof, up to and including £199,000 each, with
Coupons attached on issue. No definitive Bonds will be issued with a denomination above £199,000.

1.2

Title: Title to the Bonds and Coupons passes by delivery. The holder of any Bond or Coupon will
(except as otherwise required by law) be treated as its absolute owner for all purposes (whether or not
it is overdue and regardless of any notice of ownership, trust or any interest in it, any writing on it, or
its theft or loss) and no person will be liable for so treating the holder.

Guarantee and Status
2.1

Guarantee: The Guarantor has unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed the due payment of all
sums expressed to be payable by the Issuer under the Trust Deed, the Bonds and the Coupons. Its
obligations in that respect (the “Guarantee”) are contained in the Trust Deed.

2.2

Status of Bonds and Guarantee: The Bonds and Coupons constitute direct, secured and
unconditional obligations of the Issuer, secured in the manner described in Condition 3, and shall at all
times rank pari passu and without any preference among themselves. The Guarantee constitutes a
direct, unsecured and unconditional obligation of the Guarantor. The payment obligations of the Issuer
under the Bonds and the Coupons shall, save for such exceptions as may be provided by applicable
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legislation, at all times rank at least equally with all its other present and future unsubordinated secured
obligations. The payment obligations of the Guarantor under the Guarantee shall, save for such
exceptions as may be provided by applicable legislation, at all times rank at least equally with all its
other present and future unsecured unsubordinated obligations.
3

4

Security
3.1

Grant of Security: The Trustee, the Bondholders and the other Secured Creditors will share in the
benefit of the Security. The Security is granted by the Issuer and any other Charging Company under
the Trust Deed in favour of the Trustee, on trust for and on behalf of itself, the Bondholders and the
other Secured Creditors on the terms of the Trust Deed as security for the Secured Liabilities.

3.2

Fixed Charges: The Security includes (but is not limited to) a first legal mortgage (which shall take
effect as an equitable mortgage until requisite registrations have been made by the Issuer and any other
Charging Company) (and to the extent that they are not subject to a mortgage, by way of first fixed
charge) granted by the Issuer with respect to all of its respective rights, title, interest and benefit
existing now and in the future, in and to the Initial Specifically Mortgaged Premises together with all
buildings, structures, fixtures including trade fixtures (but excluding fixtures, plant and machinery
belonging to tenants) and fixed plant and machinery for the time being thereon and all improvements
and additions thereto and all easements, rights, power and licences appurtenant thereto subject to and
with the benefit of all leases, underleases, tenancies, agreements for lease, rights, covenants and
conditions respectively affecting the same but otherwise free from encumbrance, all as more
particularly set out in the Trust Deed.

3.3

Floating Charges: In addition to the provisions of Condition 3.2, each of the Issuer’s and any other
Charging Company’s present and future payment obligations under the Transaction Documents and
each Bond and Coupon are secured in favour of the Trustee, pursuant to the Trust Deed, by way of first
floating charge over all of the undertaking and property, rights and assets, both present and future,
wheresoever situated (including any uncalled capital) of the Issuer and any other Charging Company
(including but not limited to the assets expressed to be mortgaged or charged by Condition 3.2).

Covenants and Valuations
4.1

General Covenants of the Issuer and any other Charging Company: So long as any Bond or
Coupon remains outstanding (as defined in the Trust Deed), neither the Issuer nor any other Charging
Company, if any, will create, permit to subsist or have outstanding any Security Interest, other than the
Security or any Permitted Security, upon the whole or any part of its present or future undertaking,
property, rights and assets or revenues (including but not limited to the Charged Assets).

4.2

Financial Covenants: On the Issue Date (and on the date of any Further Issue under Condition 18),
the Issuer, the Guarantor and any other Charging Company shall ensure that:
(i)

the Asset Cover Ratio will be at least 1.67:1; and

(ii)

the Interest Cover Ratio will be at least 1.25:1.

Definitions:
“Asset Cover Ratio” means the ratio of (a) the Value of the Specifically Mortgaged Premises to (b)
the aggregate nominal amount of the then outstanding Bonds;
“Interest Cover Ratio” means the ratio of (a) the Net Annual Income to (b) gross annual interest on
the aggregate nominal amount of the then outstanding Bonds (including any Bonds to be issued in any
Further Issue, if relevant) in each case as at the relevant Ratio Testing Date;
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“Net Annual Income” means:
(a)

in relation to the Specifically Mortgaged Premises, the amount of the annual income
attributable to the Specifically Mortgaged Premises accruing at or due to commence to
accrue within three months after the date at which the calculation thereof is made, after
deducting any value added tax but before deducting any other taxation and after making
proper provision for ground and head rents and irrecoverable recurring expenses in
respect of rates, insurance, property management expenses, repairs and maintenance, but
excluding lease renewal, letting and rent review fees and marketing and public relations
costs; and

(b)

in relation to money or Short Gilts, the amount of annual income accruing therefrom
based on the rate then accruing therefrom before deducting tax.

As at each Accounting Year End, the Net Annual Income will be calculated and reported by the Issuer
to the Trustee in accordance with Condition 4.3, such calculation to be agreed with the Auditors. As at
each Accounting Half-Year End or at any other date on which it is required to be calculated, the Net
Annual Income will be calculated and reported by the Issuer to the Trustee in accordance with
Condition 4.3.
“Ratio Testing Date” means the Accounting Year End or Accounting Half-Year End in each calendar
year or any other date on which a Valuation is required to be performed pursuant to these Conditions.
4.3

Periodic Valuation and Reporting:
4.3.1

4.3.2

4.4

The Issuer and the Guarantor undertake to carry out a Valuation of all Specifically Mortgaged
Premises (including, for the purpose of paragraph (iii) below, any Substituted Property) and the
Issuer undertakes to report on the Net Annual Income attributable to the whole (or in the case of
Condition 4.3.1(iii), the lesser part referred to therein) of the Specifically Mortgaged Premises:
(i)

before the expiry of each Reporting Period;

(ii)

within three months prior to any Further Issue, as described in Condition 18; and

(iii)

within four months prior to any substitution in accordance with Condition 6,
PROVIDED THAT, in the context of any such substitution, a Valuation shall only be
required in respect of any of the Specifically Mortgaged Premises which are being
withdrawn from the Specifically Mortgaged Premises or are intended to become part of
the Charged Assets.

Following an Event of Default or if the Issuer or Guarantor fails to provide any required
Valuation or a report by the Issuer on the Net Annual Income attributable to the whole (or such
lesser part) of the Specifically Mortgaged Premises in accordance with the Conditions and the
Trust Deed the Trustee shall have the right but not the obligation on behalf of any Charging
Company to instruct the Valuers to provide a Valuation or the Issuer to provide the relevant
report, as soon as reasonably practicable, the same at the expense of the Issuer, failing whom
the Guarantor, PROVIDED THAT the Trustee shall notify the Issuer or the Guarantor prior to
taking any such action under this Condition 4.3.2.

Valuations, Reports and Financial Statements:
4.4.1

Before the expiry of each Reporting Period, or at any other date on which a Valuation is
required pursuant to Condition 4.3, the Issuer shall send to the Trustee a Valuation together with
a certificate signed by a director of the Issuer confirming the Net Annual Income (“NAI
Certificate”) (the NAI Certificate in respect of an Accounting Year End to be prepared by the
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Issuer and signed by the Auditors to indicate their agreement to it) prepared pursuant to
Condition 4.3 and, at such time, a list of all substitutions to, withdrawals from and/or additions
to the Charged Assets occurring since the previously applicable Ratio Testing Date.
4.4.2

(i)

before the expiry of each Reporting Period, prepare and send to the Trustee the Issuer’s
and Guarantor’s Financial Statements and (in the case of the Guarantor) semi-annual
Financial Statements; and

(ii)

(x) in the case of the Guarantor only, at the time of issue send to the Trustee a copy of
any circular or notice issued to its shareholders or stockholders (or any class thereof) and
(y) in the case of each Charging Company copies of those of such documents as such
Charging Company is required to distribute to its shareholders or stockholders (as the
case may be) by law at the time of such distribution if so requested in writing by the
Trustee.

4.4.3

Before the expiry of each Reporting Period, the Guarantor shall procure publication on the
Group’s website of the Guarantor’s annual consolidated annual Financial Statements and semiannual Financial Statements.

4.4.4

Before the expiry of each Reporting Period, the Issuer or any other Charging Company, failing
which the Guarantor, shall procure publication on the Group’s website of:

4.4.5

4.5

Each of the Issuer and the Guarantor shall, as applicable:

(i)

a list of the properties constituting the Specifically Mortgaged Premises as at the latest
Ratio Testing Date;

(ii)

the aggregate Value of the Specifically Mortgaged Premises as shown by the most recent
Valuation;

(iii)

the Net Annual Income of the Specifically Mortgaged Premises as shown by the most
recent NAI Certificate;

(iv)

the total number of tenants of the Specifically Mortgaged Premises at the latest Ratio
Testing Date;

(v)

a pie chart reflecting the rent roll by type of tenant usage in respect of the Specifically
Mortgaged Premises at the latest Ratio Testing Date; and

(vi)

the names of the ten tenants paying the highest amounts of annual rent and the aggregate
percentage of the rent roll of the Specifically Mortgaged Premises they represented as at
the latest Ratio Testing Date.

Within two months after the expiry of each Reporting Period that relates to an Accounting Year
End, the Issuer, failing which the Guarantor, shall arrange a call or a meeting at which it will
provide an investor update to Bondholders. The Issuer and/or the Guarantor will publish details
of such call or meeting at least one week in advance of the meeting by publication through a
Regulatory Information Service.

Compliance Certificate: The Issuer shall, concurrently with the delivery of each Valuation and NAI
Certificate (each in accordance with Condition 4.4) provide to the Trustee a certificate or certificates in
such form as the Trustee may reasonably require signed by two Directors of the Issuer (i) confirming
that the Asset Cover Ratio is at least 1.5:1 and the Interest Cover Ratio is at least 1.15:1 and (ii)
containing particulars of all (if any) withdrawals, additions and substitutions of Property made under
Conditions 5 or 6 since the date of the last such certificate provided to the Trustee, and including

29

(where Property has been withdrawn) the name and address of such Property and (where Property has
been added or substituted) the name and address of such Property and, to the best of the knowledge of
the Issuer and the Guarantor, its age and tenure.
4.6

5

Insurance covenant: Each of the Issuer and any other Charging Company will insure and keep
insured or procure the maintenance of insurance of the relevant Specifically Mortgaged Premises in
accordance with the terms of the Trust Deed.

Withdrawal and top-up
5.1

Withdrawal: If, as at any Ratio Testing Date:
(i)

the Asset Cover Ratio shall be in excess of 1.67:1; and

(ii)

the Interest Cover Ratio shall be in excess of 1.25:1,

then any Charging Company (with the consent of the Guarantor) may within four months (unless
another Ratio Testing Date has since occurred, in which case the ability of any Charging Company to
withdraw will depend on such ratios on such other Ratio Testing Date) after the relevant Ratio Testing
Date withdraw any part or parts of the Specifically Mortgaged Premises charged by it (which shall be
approved for withdrawal by the Trustee) without substituting other Property or assets therefor but only
to the extent of such excess and may require the Trustee to release and surrender to such Charging
Company or as it may direct or to concur in a conveyance or transfer by such Charging Company of
the Specifically Mortgaged Premises or part thereof proposed to be withdrawn so that the same shall
thenceforth no longer form part of the Specifically Mortgaged Premises. The Trustee shall, without
liability for so doing, release the relevant Specifically Mortgaged Premises from the Security and
execute any documents requested by the Issuer, the Guarantor and/or any other Charging Company in
order to effect such release, without further authorisation from the other Secured Creditors, provided it
has received a certificate signed by two Directors of the Issuer confirming that (i) no Event of Default
has occurred which is then continuing and (ii) the foregoing conditions have been met. All rights of
withdrawal under this Condition 5.1 shall cease upon an Event of Default.
5.2

Top-up: If, as at any Ratio Testing Date:
(i)

the Asset Cover Ratio shall be less than 1.5:1; or

(ii)

the Interest Cover Ratio shall be less than 1.15:1,

then within four months (or such longer period as the Trustee may agree) after such Ratio Testing
Date:
5.2.1

the Issuer shall, and in the case of a Charging Company, if any, shall procure that such Charging
Company (with the consent of the Guarantor) shall, charge additional Eligible Property in
favour of the Trustee and to its satisfaction by way of first legal mortgage so as to become part
of the Specifically Mortgaged Premises such Eligible Property not already forming part of the
Specifically Mortgaged Premises and/or pay to or to the order of the Trustee a sum of money to
be held as part of the Specifically Mortgaged Premises of an aggregate Value or having
aggregate attributable Net Annual Income (as the case may be) sufficient to make good the
deficiency below the relevant cover ratio specified in Condition 5.1(i) or 5.1(ii) above as
applicable;

5.2.2

the Issuer, the Guarantor and/or any Subsidiary shall purchase and cancel sufficient Bonds to
cure such deficiency; and/or

5.2.3

such deficiency shall be remedied by a combination of Conditions 5.2.1 and 5.2.2 above.
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6

5.3

To the extent that following any such charging and/or payment as is referred to in Condition 5.2 the
Asset Cover Ratio exceeds 1.67:1 and/or the Interest Cover Ratio exceeds 1.25:1, such excess may (if
the Issuer so requests but, in the case of excess Net Annual Income, only if no Event of Default has
occurred which is then continuing) be taken into account for the purposes of any subsequent
substitution under Condition 6 made prior to the date of the first, or as the case may be, the next Ratio
Testing Date.

5.4

Any part of the Specifically Mortgaged Premises withdrawn as aforesaid shall, so far as the Charging
Company concerned shall be or remain interested therein and remain a Charging Company after such
withdrawal be and be deemed to remain part of the Mortgaged Premises and be subject to the floating
charges created by or pursuant to the Bonds and the Trust Deed.

Substitution of Specifically Mortgaged Premises
6.1

Subject as hereinafter mentioned, a Charging Company (with the consent of the Guarantor) may at any
time and from time to time withdraw all or any part of the Specifically Mortgaged Premises charged by
it which shall be approved for withdrawal by the Trustee upon any Charging Company (with the
consent of the Guarantor) charging replacement Eligible Property in favour of the Trustee and to its
satisfaction by way of first legal mortgage so as to become part of the Specifically Mortgaged
Premises belonging to it and not already forming part of the Specifically Mortgaged Premises or
paying to or to the order of the Trustee a sum of money to be held as part of the Security subject to a
fixed charge in accordance with the Trust Deed, or partly in one way and partly in the other,
PROVIDED THAT the Issuer delivers a certificate signed by a director of the Issuer to the Trustee
certifying that:
6.1.1

the Value (determined in accordance with Condition 4.3.1(iii)) of the Eligible Property and/or
the amount of money proposed to be substituted (the "Substituted Property") is not less than
the Value (determined in accordance with Condition 4.3.1(iii)) of the Specifically Mortgaged
Premises or part thereof and/or, in the case of money, the amount or part thereof, proposed to be
withdrawn; and

6.1.2

either (i) the Interest Cover Ratio immediately after such substitution will not be less than
1.25:1 or (ii) the Net Annual Income attributable to the Substituted Property immediately after
such substitution will not be less than the Net Annual Income attributable at the time of such
substitution to the Specifically Mortgaged Premises or part thereof proposed to be withdrawn.

6.2

Any excess in the Value of and/or the Net Annual Income attributable to the Substituted Property over
the Value of and/or the Net Annual Income attributable to the part or parts of the Specifically
Mortgaged Premises being withdrawn may (if the Issuer so requests but, in the case of excess Net
Annual Income, only if no Event of Default has occurred which is then continuing) be taken into
account on any subsequent substitution made prior to the date of the first or, as the case may be, the
next Ratio Testing Date.

6.3

The Trustee upon receiving notice in writing from the Issuer of the proposed withdrawal and upon
receiving also:
6.3.1

such Valuations and certificates (including certificates of title or as to the Net Annual Income)
as it may require in relation to the Value of any Property or the value of any cash proposed to be
substituted or withdrawn; and

6.3.2

a duly executed deed or deeds containing the requisite charge(s) over the Substituted Property
and any ancillary documents required by it in connection therewith and payment of any costs or
expenses incurred in connection with such substitution,
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shall release and surrender to the Charging Company concerned or as it may direct or concur in a
conveyance or transfer by such Charging Company of the Specifically Mortgaged Premises or part
thereof proposed to be withdrawn so that the same shall thenceforth no longer form part of the
Specifically Mortgaged Premises.

7.

6.4

Any part of the Specifically Mortgaged Premises withdrawn as aforesaid shall, so far as the Charging
Company concerned shall be or remain interested therein and remain a Charging Company after such
withdrawal, be and be deemed to remain part of the Mortgaged Premises and be subject to the floating
charges created by or pursuant to the Bonds and the Trust Deed.

6.5

For the purposes of this Condition 6, the term "replacement Eligible Property" as used in Condition 6.1
above shall, where relevant, be capable of being interpreted as including the same Specifically
Mortgaged Premises as the withdrawn Specifically Mortgaged Premises, where such withdrawal and
re-charging is being undertaken as part of a restructuring of the Group.

6.6

All rights of substitution under this Condition shall cease upon the Security becoming enforceable and
the Trustee determining or becoming bound to enforce the same.

Interest
The Bonds bear interest from and including the Issue Date at the rate of 2.348 per cent. per annum, payable
semi-annually in arrear on 31 March and 30 September in each year (each an “Interest Payment Date”),
except that the first payment of interest, to be made on 31 March 2018, will be in respect of the period from
and including 7 September 2017 to but excluding 31 March 2018.
The amount of interest payable per Bond in respect of any Interest Period shall be equal to (i) (where such
Interest Period ends either on 31 March or 30 September (other than 31 March 2018)), the product of 2.348
per cent. and the nominal amount of such Bond divided by two and (ii) (in respect of any Interest Period
which ends on a date other than 31 March or 30 September and the Interest Period which ends on 31 March
2018), the product of 2.348 per cent., the Day Count Fraction and the nominal amount of such Bond, in each
case rounded down to the nearest £0.01.
Each Bond will cease to bear interest from (and including) the due date for redemption unless, upon due
presentation, payment of principal is improperly withheld or refused. In such event it shall continue to bear
interest at such rate (both before and after judgment) until whichever is the earlier of: (a) the day on which all
sums due in respect of such Bond up to that day are received by or on behalf of the relevant holder, and (b)
the day seven days after the Trustee or the Principal Paying Agent has notified Bondholders of receipt of all
sums due in respect of all the Bonds up to that seventh day (except to the extent that there is failure in the
subsequent payment to the relevant holders under these Conditions).
Where interest is to be calculated in respect of a period which is shorter than an Interest Period (as defined
below), the day-count fraction (the “Day Count Fraction”) used will be the actual number of days in the
relevant period, from and including the date from which interest begins to accrue to but excluding the date on
which it falls due, divided by the product of (1) the actual number of days in the Interest Period in which the
relevant period falls (including the first such day but excluding the last) and (2) the number of Interest Periods
normally ending in any year.
In these Conditions, the period beginning on and including the Issue Date and ending on but excluding the
first Interest Payment Date and each successive period beginning on and including an Interest Payment Date
and ending on but excluding the next succeeding Interest Payment Date is called an “Interest Period”.
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8.

Redemption and Purchase
8.1 Final redemption: Unless previously redeemed, or purchased and cancelled, the Bonds will be
redeemed at their nominal amount on the Maturity Date. The Bonds may not be redeemed at the option
of the Issuer other than in accordance with this Condition 8.
8.2 Redemption for taxation reasons: The Bonds may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer in whole,
but not in part, at any time, on giving not less than 30 nor more than 45 days’ irrevocable notice to the
Bondholders in accordance with Condition 19 (which notice shall be irrevocable), at their nominal
amount (together with interest accrued to but excluding the date fixed for redemption) if (i) the Issuer
satisfies the Trustee immediately prior to the giving of such notice that it (or, if the Guarantee were
called, the Guarantor) has or will become obliged to pay additional amounts as provided or referred to
in Condition 10 as a result of any change in, or amendment to, the laws or regulations of the United
Kingdom or any political subdivision or any authority thereof or therein having power to tax, or any
change in the application or official interpretation of such laws or regulations, which change or
amendment becomes effective on or after the Issue Date, and (ii) such obligation cannot be avoided by
the Issuer (or the Guarantor, as the case may be) taking reasonable measures available to it,
PROVIDED THAT no such notice of redemption shall be given earlier than 90 days prior to the
earliest date on which the Issuer (or the Guarantor, as the case may be) would be obliged to pay such
additional amounts were a payment in respect of the Bonds (or the Guarantee, as the case may be) then
due. Prior to the publication of any notice of redemption pursuant to this Condition 8.2, the Issuer shall
deliver to the Trustee a certificate signed by two Directors of the Issuer (or the Guarantor, as the case
may be) stating that the obligation referred to in (i) above cannot be avoided by the Issuer (or the
Guarantor, as the case may be) taking reasonable measures available to it and (ii) an opinion of
independent legal advisers of recognised standing to the effect that the Issuer (or the Guarantor, as the
case may be) has or will become obliged to pay such additional amounts and the Trustee shall be
entitled to accept such certificate and legal opinion as sufficient evidence of the satisfaction of the
conditions precedent set out in (i) and (ii) above, in which event it shall be conclusive and binding on
the Bondholders and the Couponholders.
8.3 Redemption at the option of the Issuer: The Issuer may at any time, having given not less than 30 nor
more than 45 days’ irrevocable notice to the Bondholders in accordance with Condition 20 (which
notice shall specify the date fixed for redemption (the “Optional Redemption Date”)) redeem all (but
not some only) of the Bonds for the time being outstanding at any time at the Redemption Price (as
defined below) together with interest accrued to (but excluding) the Optional Redemption Date.
The “Redemption Price” shall be the higher of: (i) the nominal amount outstanding of the Bonds; and
(ii) the nominal amount outstanding of the Bonds multiplied by the price (expressed as a percentage in
relation to the nominal amount outstanding of the Bonds) (as reported in writing to the Issuer and the
Trustee by an independent financial adviser appointed at its own expense by the Issuer and approved in
writing by the Trustee) at which the Gross Redemption Yield (if the Bonds were to remain outstanding
to their scheduled maturity) on the Bonds on the Calculation Date is equal to the Gross Redemption
Yield at 11.00 a.m. (London time) on the Calculation Date of the 1.250 per cent. United Kingdom
Government Treasury Stock due July 2027 (or, where such financial adviser advises the Issuer and the
Trustee that for reasons of illiquidity or otherwise, such stock is not appropriate for such purpose, such
other government stock as such independent financial adviser may recommend for such purposes). For
such purposes, “Calculation Date” means the date which is the second London Business Day prior to
the Optional Redemption Date.
Any notice given pursuant to this Condition 8.3 shall be irrevocable and shall specify the Optional
Redemption Date. Upon the expiry of any such notice, the Issuer (failing whom, the Guarantor) shall
be bound to redeem the Bonds at the applicable Redemption Price on the Optional Redemption Date
together with accrued interest as aforesaid unless previously redeemed or purchased. The Trustee shall

33

rely absolutely and without further enquiry or liability on the advice of any financial adviser appointed
as provided in this Condition 8.3 and shall not be liable to any person for doing so.
8.4 Redemption at the option of the Bondholder: If a Change of Control Put Event (as defined below)
occurs, the holder of each Bond will have the option (a “Change of Control Put Option”) (unless
prior to the giving of the relevant Change of Control Put Event Notice (as defined below) the Issuer
has given notice of redemption under Condition 8.2 or 8.3 above) to require the Issuer to redeem or, at
the Issuer’s option, purchase (or procure the purchase of) that Bond on the date (the “Change of
Control Put Date”) which is seven calendar days after the expiration of the Change of Control Put
Period (as defined below) PROVIDED THAT such day is a day (other than a Saturday or a Sunday) on
which banks are generally open for business in London or, if not, the next such day, at its nominal
amount together with (or, where purchased, together with an amount equal to) interest (if any) accrued
to (but excluding) the Change of Control Put Date.
Promptly upon, and in any event within 14 days after, the Issuer becoming aware that a Change of
Control Put Event has occurred the Issuer shall, and at any time upon the Trustee becoming similarly
so aware the Trustee may, and if so requested by the holders of at least one-fifth in nominal amount of
the Bonds then outstanding or if so directed by an Extraordinary Resolution of the Bondholders, shall,
(subject in each case to the Trustee being indemnified and/or secured and/or prefunded to its
satisfaction) give notice (a “Change of Control Put Event Notice”) to the Bondholders in accordance
with Condition 20 specifying the nature of the Change of Control Put Event and the procedure for
exercising the Change of Control Put Option.
To exercise the Change of Control Put Option, the holder of the Bond must deposit such Bond with
any Paying Agent at its specified office at any time during normal business hours of such Paying Agent
falling within the period (the “Change of Control Put Period”) of 30 days after a Change of Control
Put Event Notice is given, accompanied by a duly signed and completed notice of exercise in the form
(for the time being current) obtainable from the specified office of any Paying Agent (a “Change of
Control Put Notice”).
The Bond should be delivered together with all Coupons appertaining thereto maturing after the
Change of Control Put Date, failing which the Paying Agent will require payment from or on behalf of
the relevant Bondholder of an amount equal to the face value of any such missing Coupon. Any
amount so paid will be reimbursed by the Paying Agent to the Bondholder against presentation and
surrender of the relevant missing Coupon (or any replacement therefor issued pursuant to Condition
13) at any time after such payment but before the expiry of 10 years from the date on which such
Coupon would have become due. The Paying Agent to which such Bond and Change of Control Put
Notice are delivered will issue to the Bondholder concerned a non-transferable receipt in respect of the
Bond so delivered.
Payment in respect of any Bond so delivered will be made, if the holder duly specified a bank account
(in Sterling) in the Change of Control Put Notice to which payment is to be made, on the Change of
Control Put Date by transfer to that bank account and, in every other case, on or after the Change of
Control Put Date against presentation and surrender or (as the case may be) endorsement of the nontransferable receipt in respect of such Bond mentioned in the immediately preceding paragraph of this
Condition 8.4 at the specified office of any Paying Agent. A Change of Control Put Notice, once given,
shall be irrevocable. For the purposes of these Conditions, receipts issued pursuant to this Condition
8.4 shall be treated as if they were Bonds.
No Bond so deposited and option so exercised may be withdrawn without the prior consent of the
Issuer. The Issuer shall redeem or purchase (or procure the purchase of) the relevant Bonds on the
Change of Control Put Date unless previously redeemed (or purchased and cancelled).
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If 80 per cent. or more in nominal amount of the Bonds originally issued have been redeemed or
purchased pursuant to this Condition 8.4, the Issuer may, on giving not less than 30 nor more than 45
days’ notice to the Bondholders (such notice being given within 30 days after the Change of Control
Put Date), redeem or purchase (or procure the purchase of), at its option, all but not some only of the
remaining outstanding Bonds at their nominal amount, together with interest accrued to (but
excluding) the date fixed for such redemption or purchase.
The Trustee is under no obligation or responsibility to ascertain or monitor whether a Change of
Control Put Event or any event which could lead to the occurrence of or could constitute a Change of
Control Put Event has occurred or will occur, and until it shall have actual knowledge or express notice
pursuant to the Trust Deed to the contrary, the Trustee may assume without liability that no Change of
Control Put Event or other such event has occurred.
For the purpose of this Condition 8.4:
A “Change of Control Put Event” shall occur if any person or any persons (other than, in the case of
the Issuer, the Guarantor) acting in concert (as defined in the City Code on Takeovers and Mergers), or
any subsidiary of or person(s) acting on behalf of such person(s), shall become interested (within the
meaning of Part 22 of the Companies Act 2006) directly or indirectly in:
(i)

more than 50 per cent. of the issued or allotted ordinary share capital of the Issuer or the
Guarantor; or

(ii) shares in the capital of the Issuer or the Guarantor carrying more than 50 per cent. of the voting
rights normally exercisable at a general meeting of the Issuer or the Guarantor.
8.5 Notice of redemption: All Bonds in respect of which any notice of redemption is given under this
Condition 8 shall be redeemed on the date specified in such notice in accordance with this Condition 8.
8.6 Purchase: Each of the Issuer, the Guarantor, any other Charging Company and their respective
Subsidiaries may at any time purchase Bonds in the open market or otherwise at any price (provided
that, if they should be cancelled under Condition 8.7 below, they are purchased together with all
unmatured Coupons relating to them). The Bonds so purchased, while held by or on behalf of the
Issuer, the Guarantor, any other Charging Company or any such Subsidiary, shall not entitle the holder
to vote at any meetings of the Bondholders and shall not be deemed to be outstanding for the purposes
of calculating quorums at meetings of the Bondholders or for the purposes of these Conditions (except
for the purposes of the definitions of Asset Cover Ratio and Interest Cover Ratio in Condition 4.2. Any
Bonds purchased must be cancelled otherwise they will be deemed outstanding for the purpose of
calculating such ratios).
8.7 Cancellation: All Bonds which are purchased by the Issuer, the Guarantor, any other Charging
Company or any of their respective Subsidiaries may be held and/or subsequently resold or
surrendered to the Principal Paying Agent for cancellation. Any Bonds which are redeemed or
otherwise surrendered to the Principal Paying Agent for cancellation shall forthwith be cancelled
together with all unmatured Coupons attached thereto or surrendered therewith, and accordingly
cannot be held, reissued or sold.
9.

Payments
9.1 Method of Payment: Payments of principal and interest will be made against presentation and
surrender (or, in the case of a partial payment, endorsement) of Bonds or the appropriate Coupons (as
the case may be) at the specified office of any Paying Agent by sterling cheque drawn on, or by
transfer to a sterling account maintained by the payee with, a bank in the United Kingdom. Payments
of interest due in respect of any Bond other than on presentation and surrender of matured Coupons
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shall be made only against presentation and either surrender or endorsement (as appropriate) of the
relevant Bond.
9.2 Payments subject to Laws: Save as provided in Condition 10, payments will be subject in all cases to
any applicable fiscal or other laws, regulations and directives in the place of payment or other laws and
regulations to which the Issuer or the Guarantor or their respective agents agree to be subject and
neither the Issuer nor the Guarantor will be liable for any taxes or duties of whatever nature imposed or
levied by such laws, regulations, directives or agreements. No commission or expenses shall be
charged to the Bondholders or Couponholders in respect of such payments.
9.3 Surrender of unmatured Coupons: Each Bond should be presented for redemption together with all
unmatured Coupons relating to it, failing which the amount of any such missing unmatured Coupon
(or, in the case of payment not being made in full, that proportion of the amount of such missing
unmatured Coupon which the sum of principal so paid bears to the total nominal amount due) will be
deducted from the sum due for payment. Each amount of principal so deducted will be paid in the
manner mentioned above against surrender of the relevant missing Coupon not later than 10 years after
the Relevant Date for the relevant payment of principal.
9.4 Payments on business days: A Bond or Coupon may only be presented for payment on a day which is a
business day in the place of presentation (and, in the case of payment by transfer to a sterling account,
a London Business Day). No further interest or other payment will be made as a consequence of the
day on which the relevant Bond or Coupon may be presented for payment under this Condition 9
falling after the due date.
9.5 Paying Agents: The initial Paying Agent(s) and their initial specified offices are listed below. The
Issuer and the Guarantor reserve the right at any time with the approval in writing of the Trustee to
vary or terminate the appointment of any Paying Agent and appoint additional or other Paying Agents,
PROVIDED THAT they will maintain a (i) Principal Paying Agent and (ii) a Paying Agent having a
specified office in London and/or any other major European city approved by the Trustee. Notice of
any change in the Paying Agents or their specified offices will promptly be given to the Bondholders
in accordance with Condition 20.
10. Taxation
10.1 Gross up: All payments of principal and interest in respect of the Bonds and the Coupons by or on
behalf of the Issuer or the Guarantor shall be made free and clear of, and without withholding or
deduction for or on account of, any present or future taxes, duties, assessments or governmental
charges of whatever nature imposed, levied, collected, withheld or assessed by or on behalf of a Tax
Jurisdiction (as defined below), unless the withholding or deduction of such taxes, duties, assessments,
or governmental charges is required by law. In that event, the Issuer or, as the case may be, the
Guarantor, shall pay such additional amounts as will result in receipt by the Bondholders and the
Couponholders after such withholding or deduction of such amounts as would have been received by
them had no such withholding or deduction been required, except that no such additional amounts shall
be payable in respect of any Bond or Coupon presented for payment:
10.1.1 by or on behalf of a holder which is liable to such taxes, duties, assessments or governmental
charges in respect of such Bond or Coupon by reason of its having some connection with the
Tax Jurisdiction by which such taxes, duties, assessments or charges have been imposed,
levied, collected, withheld or assessed other than the mere holding of the Bond or Coupon; or
10.1.2 more than 30 days after the Relevant Date except to the extent that the holder of such Bond or
Coupon would have been entitled to such additional amounts on presenting such Bond or
Coupon for payment on the last day of such period of 30 days; or
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10.1.3 by or on behalf of a Bondholder who would have been able to avoid such withholding or
deduction by complying with any statutory requirement or by making a declaration of nonresidence or any other similar claim for exemption, but fails to do so.
Notwithstanding any other provision of these Conditions, any amounts to be paid on the Bonds and the
Coupons by or on behalf of the Issuer or the Guarantor will be paid net of any deduction or
withholding imposed or required pursuant to an agreement described in Section 1471(b) of the U.S.
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), or otherwise imposed pursuant to Sections
1471 through 1474 of the Code (or any regulations thereunder or official interpretations thereof) or an
intergovernmental agreement between the United States and another jurisdiction facilitating the
implementation thereof (or any fiscal or regulatory legislation, rules or practices implementing such an
intergovernmental agreement) (any such withholding or deduction, a “FATCA Withholding”). Neither
the Issuer nor any other person will be required to pay any additional amounts in respect of FATCA
Withholding.
10.2 Tax Jurisdiction: As used in this Condition 10, “Tax Jurisdiction” means the United Kingdom and
any political subdivision and any authority therein or thereof having the power to tax, and/or any other
jurisdiction (and in each case any political subdivision and any authority therein or thereof having the
power to tax) in which the Issuer and/or the Guarantor is incorporated, organised, or otherwise resident
for tax purposes.
10.3 Additional Amounts: Any reference in these Conditions to principal and/or interest shall be deemed to
include any additional amounts which may be payable under this Condition 10 or any undertaking
given in addition to or substitution for it under the Trust Deed.
11. Events of Default
11.1 If any of the following events occurs (each an “Event of Default”) and is continuing the Trustee at its
discretion may, and if so requested by holders of at least one-fifth in nominal amount of the Bonds
then outstanding (as defined in the Trust Deed) or if so directed by an Extraordinary Resolution shall
(in each case subject to it being indemnified and/or secured and/or prefunded to its satisfaction), give
notice (an “Acceleration Notice”) to the Issuer that the Bonds are, and they shall immediately
become, due and payable at the Redemption Price together (if applicable) with accrued interest:
11.1.1 Non-payment: if any default is made in the payment of any principal of or interest on any of
the Bonds and such default continues for a period of three business days in respect of principal
or 14 business days in respect of interest;
11.1.2 Winding-up of the Issuer or the Guarantor: if an order shall be made or an effective
resolution passed for the winding-up of the Issuer or the Guarantor;
11.1.3 Winding-up of any Charging Subsidiary: if an order shall be made or an effective resolution
passed for the winding-up of any Charging Subsidiary (other than the Issuer) except for the
purposes of and followed by a reconstruction or amalgamation the terms of which shall first
have been approved in writing by the Trustee or by an Extraordinary Resolution of the
Bondholders;
11.1.4 Insolvency – administration etc.: if proceedings shall be taken for the making of an
administration order or the appointment of an administrator or administrative receiver of the
undertaking or assets of the Issuer or the Guarantor or any other Charging Subsidiary or any
part thereof or if an administrator is appointed or a voluntary arrangement under Section 1 of
the Insolvency Act 1986 shall be proposed in respect of the Issuer or the Guarantor or any other
Charging Subsidiary;
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11.1.5 Insolvency – encumbrancer: if an encumbrancer shall take possession or a receiver shall be
appointed of the Specifically Mortgaged Premises or any part thereof;
11.1.6 Enforcement Proceedings: if a distress, execution, diligence (other than a diligence on the
dependence of an action or to found jurisdiction) or other process shall be placed, levied or
enforced upon or sued out against the undertaking or assets of the Issuer or the Guarantor or
any other Charging Subsidiary or any part thereof and shall not be removed, paid out or
discharged within 14 days PROVIDED THAT such distress, execution, diligence or other
process (alone or when aggregated with others) relates to a principal sum exceeding
£5,000,000;
11.1.7 Cessation of Business: if the Issuer or the Guarantor or any other Charging Subsidiary shall
cease or threaten to cease to carry on its business or substantially the whole of its business
except for the purposes of and followed by a reconstruction or amalgamation the terms of
which shall first have been approved in writing by the Trustee or by an Extraordinary
Resolution of the Bondholders;
11.1.8 Insolvency: if the Issuer or the Guarantor or any other Charging Subsidiary shall stop or
threaten to stop payment or shall be deemed unable to pay its debts within the meaning of
Section 123(1)(e) of the Insolvency Act 1986;
11.1.9 Default: if default shall be made by the Issuer or the Guarantor or any other Charging
Subsidiary in the performance or observance of any covenant, condition or provision (other
than the covenants for payment of the principal amount of the Bonds or interest thereon)
contained in the Bonds or the Trust Deed and on its part to be performed or observed and
(except where such default is incapable of remedy when no such notice shall be required) such
company shall fail to remedy such default within 14 days from receipt of notice in writing from
the Trustee requiring it to do so;
11.1.10 Security Enforced: if the security constituted by any other encumbrance upon the whole or any
material part of the undertaking or assets of the Issuer, Guarantor or of any other Charging
Subsidiary for an aggregate principal sum exceeding £5,000,000 shall become enforceable and
steps are taken to enforce the same;
11.1.11 Cross-Acceleration: (i) any other present or future indebtedness of the Issuer, the Guarantor or
any Charging Company for or in respect of moneys borrowed or raised becomes or is declared
due and payable prior to its stated maturity by reason of any actual or potential default, event of
default or the like (howsoever described), or (ii) any such indebtedness is not paid when due or,
as the case may be, within any originally applicable grace period, or (iii) the Issuer, the
Guarantor or any Charging Company fails to pay when due any amount payable by it under any
present or future guarantee for, or indemnity in respect of, any moneys borrowed or raised
(other than where such guarantee or indemnity is in respect of moneys borrowed or raised by
another Charging Company) PROVIDED THAT the aggregate amount of the relevant
indebtedness, guarantees and indemnities in respect of which the events mentioned above in
this Condition 11.1.11 have occurred equals or exceeds £5,000,000 or its equivalent;
11.1.12 Authorisation and Consents: any action, condition or thing (including the obtaining or
effecting of any necessary consent, approval, authorisation, exemption, filing, licence, order,
recording or registration) at any time required to be taken, fulfilled or done in order (i) to enable
the Issuer, the Guarantor and any other Charging Company lawfully to enter into, exercise their
respective rights and perform and comply with their respective obligations under the Bonds and
the Transaction Documents, (ii) to ensure that those obligations are legally binding and
enforceable and (iii) to make the Bonds and the Transaction Documents admissible in evidence
in the courts of England and Wales is not taken, fulfilled or done;
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11.1.13 Illegality: it is or will become unlawful for the Issuer, the Guarantor or any other Charging
Company to perform or comply with any one or more of its respective obligations under any of
the Bonds or the Transaction Documents;
11.1.14 Security: the Security is not in full force and effect or the Trust Deed does not create the
Security which it is expressed to create with the ranking and priority that it is expressed to have;
11.1.15 Guarantee: the Guarantee is not (or is claimed by the Guarantor not to be) in full force and
effect;
11.1.16 Information: any representation or statement contained in these Conditions and/or the Trust
Deed or in any report or certificate given by the Issuer, the Guarantor or any other Charging
Company shall prove to have been untrue when made in any material respect; or
11.1.17 Analogous Events: any event occurs which under the laws of any relevant jurisdiction has an
analogous effect to any of the events referred to in any of the foregoing paragraphs of this
Condition 11,
PROVIDED THAT in the case of Conditions 11.1.4, 11.1.5, 11.1.7 to 11.1.9, 11.1.13 and 11.1.16 the
Trustee shall have certified that in its opinion such event is materially prejudicial to the interests of
Bondholders.
11.2 The Security constituted by the Trust Deed shall immediately become enforceable upon the delivery of
an Acceleration Notice by the Trustee.
12. Prescription
Claims in respect of principal and interest will become void unless presentation for payment is made as
required by Condition 9 within a period of 10 years in the case of principal and five years in the case of
interest from the appropriate Relevant Date.
13. Replacement of Bonds and Coupons
If any Bond or Coupon is lost, stolen, mutilated, defaced or destroyed it may be replaced at the specified
office of the Paying Agent in London subject to all applicable laws and stock exchange or other relevant
authority requirements, upon payment by the claimant of the expenses incurred in connection with such
replacement and on such terms as to evidence, security, indemnity and otherwise as the Issuer and the
Guarantor may require (provided that the requirement is reasonable in the light of prevailing market practice).
Mutilated or defaced Bonds or Coupons must be surrendered before replacements will be issued.
14. Meetings of Bondholders, Modification and Waiver
14.1 Meetings of Bondholders: The Trust Deed contains provisions for convening meetings of Bondholders
to consider matters affecting their interests, including the sanctioning by Extraordinary Resolution of a
modification of any of these Conditions or any provisions of any Transaction Document. Such a
meeting may be convened by the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Trustee or requisitioned by Bondholders
holding not less than 10 per cent. in nominal amount of the Bonds for the time being outstanding. The
quorum for any meeting convened to consider an Extraordinary Resolution will be one or more
persons holding or representing a clear majority in nominal amount of the Bonds for the time being
outstanding, or at any adjourned meeting one or more persons being or representing Bondholders
whatever the nominal amount of the Bonds held or represented. Any Extraordinary Resolution duly
passed shall be binding on all Bondholders (whether or not they were present at the meeting at which
such resolution was passed) and on all Couponholders.
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The Trust Deed provides that (i) a resolution in writing signed by or on behalf of the holders or (ii) for
so long as the Bonds are in the form of a Global Bond held on behalf of one or more of Euroclear,
Clearstream, Luxembourg or another clearing system, electronic consents communicated through the
electronic communications systems of the relevant clearing system, of not less than 90 per cent. in
nominal amount of the Bonds outstanding shall for all purposes be as valid and effective as an
Extraordinary Resolution passed at a meeting of Bondholders duly convened and held. Such a
resolution in writing may be contained in one document or several documents in the same form, each
signed by or on behalf of one or more Bondholders.
14.2 Modification and Waiver: The Trustee may, without the consent of Bondholders or Couponholders:
(i) agree to any modification of any of the provisions of the Trust Deed (including these Conditions) that
is in the opinion of the Trustee of a formal, minor or technical nature or is made to correct a manifest
error; or (ii) (x) agree to any other modification of the Trust Deed (including these Conditions), or (y)
agree to the waiver or authorisation of any breach or proposed breach of, any of the provisions of the
Trust Deed (including these Conditions) provided that in the case of (y) the Trustee will not do so in
contravention of any express direction given by Extraordinary Resolution or a request by Bondholders
holding at least one-fifth in nominal amount of the Bonds then outstanding pursuant to Condition 11, but
so that no such direction or request shall affect any waiver or authorisation previously given or made; or
(z) determine that any Event of Default shall not be treated as such provided that in the case of (z) the
Trustee will not do so in contravention of any express direction given by Extraordinary Resolution or
request by Bondholders holding at least one-fifth in nominal amount of the Bonds then outstanding
pursuant to Condition 11, but so that no such direction or request shall affect any determination
previously given or made, and in each case set out in (ii), on the condition that the Trustee is of the
opinion that to do so would not be materially prejudicial to the interest of Bondholders. Any such
modification, authorisation or waiver shall be binding on the Bondholders and the Couponholders and
such modification shall be notified to the Bondholders as soon as practicable in accordance with
Condition 20.
14.3 Entitlement of the Trustee: In connection with the exercise of its functions (including but not limited
to those referred to in this Condition) the Trustee shall have regard to the interests of the Bondholders
as a class and shall not have regard to the consequences of such exercise for individual Bondholders or
Couponholders and the Trustee shall not be entitled to require, nor shall any Bondholder or
Couponholder be entitled to claim, from the Issuer or the Guarantor any indemnification or payment in
respect of any tax consequence of any such exercise upon individual Bondholders or Couponholders.
15. Enforcement
15.1 At any time after the delivery of an Acceleration Notice, the Trustee may, at its discretion and without
further notice:
15.1.1 institute such proceedings or take such steps or actions against the Issuer, the Guarantor and/or
any Charging Company as it may think fit to enforce the terms of the Transaction Documents,
the Bonds and the Coupons; and
15.1.2 take such steps, actions and proceedings as it may see fit to enforce the Security,
but the Trustee shall not be bound to take any such steps, actions and proceedings unless (a) it shall
have been so directed by an Extraordinary Resolution or so requested in writing by Bondholders
holding at least one-fifth in nominal amount of the Bonds outstanding and (b) it shall have been
indemnified and/or secured and/or prefunded to its satisfaction.
15.2 No Bondholder or Couponholder may proceed directly against the Issuer, the Guarantor or any other
Charging Company unless the Trustee, having become bound so to proceed, fails to do so within a
reasonable time and such failure is continuing.
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15.3 Only the Trustee may enforce the Security, in accordance with and subject to the terms of the Trust
Deed.
16. Trustee’s power to enter into possession
16.1 At any time after the Security shall have become enforceable and the Trustee shall have determined or
become bound to enforce the same, the Trustee may in its discretion (without any such request as next
hereinafter mentioned) and shall (subject to the provisions of Clause 19 of the Trust Deed) upon the
request:
16.1.1 of the Bondholders by Extraordinary Resolution; or
16.1.2 in writing of the holder or holders of not less than one-fifth part in nominal amount of the
Bonds outstanding
but in either case without any consent of or demand upon or notice to the Issuer, the Guarantor or any
Charging Subsidiary and without being responsible for any loss or damage which may arise or be
occasioned thereby:(a)

enter upon or take possession of the Charged Assets or any part thereof; and/or

(b)

sell, call in, collect, convert into money or otherwise deal with the Specifically Mortgaged
Premises or any part thereof in such manner, upon such terms and for such consideration as the
Trustee shall think fit.

16.2 All the powers, incidents and provisions contained or referred to in Section 104 of the Law of Property
Act 1925 shall apply and have effect on the footing that the Conditions together with the Trust Deed
constitute a mortgage within the meaning of that Act and that the Trustee is a mortgagee exercising the
powers of sale conferred upon mortgagees by that Act with all such powers as to the manner in which
such sale, calling in, collection or conversion shall be made as are contained in Section 101 of the said
Act concerning the powers incident to the estate and interest of mortgagees as if the same were fully
set out and incorporated in the Conditions and the Trust Deed.
16.3 The Trustee shall also have power after the Security shall have become enforceable and the Trustee shall
have determined or become bound to enforce the same (without being responsible for any loss or
damage which may arise or be occasioned thereby):(i)

to buy in, rescind or vary any contract for the sale of the Specifically Mortgaged Premises or any
part thereof;

(ii) to resell the same or any part thereof;
(iii) to compromise and effect compositions;
(iv) to do all or any of the things mentioned in Clause 10 of the Trust Deed;
(v) to form and promote or take part in the formation and promotion of any company or companies
constituted or to be constituted for the purpose of purchasing or otherwise acquiring the
Specifically Mortgaged Premises or any part thereof; and
(vi) for the purposes mentioned in this Condition or any of them to execute and do all such
documents, acts and things as the Trustee shall think fit.
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17. Indemnification of the Trustee
17.1 The Trust Deed contains provisions for the indemnification of the Trustee and for its relief from
responsibility. The Trustee is entitled to enter into business transactions with the Issuer, the Guarantor,
any other Charging Company and any entity related to the Issuer, the Guarantor or the relevant
Charging Company without accounting for any profit.
17.2 The Trustee may rely without liability on a report, confirmation or certificate or any advice of any
accountants, financial advisers, financial institution or any other expert, whether or not addressed to it
and whether their liability in relation thereto is limited (by its terms or by any engagement letter
relating thereto entered into by the Trustee or in any other manner) by reference to a monetary cap,
methodology or otherwise. The Trustee may accept and shall be entitled to rely on any such report,
confirmation or certificate or advice and such report, confirmation or certificate or advice shall be
binding on the Issuer, the Trustee, the Bondholders and the Couponholders.
18. Further Issues
The Issuer may from time to time without the consent of the Bondholders or Couponholders create and issue
further securities (any such issue, a “Further Issue”) either having the same terms and conditions as the
Bonds in all respects (or in all respects except for the first payment of interest on them) and secured by the
Charged Assets, and so that such Further Issue shall be consolidated and form a single series with the
outstanding securities of any series (including the Bonds), or otherwise upon such terms as the Issuer may
determine at the time of their issue PROVIDED THAT (i) the Valuation has been carried out and the report
has been effected, as required by Condition 4.3.1(ii), (ii) no Further Issues shall take place unless the Issuer
delivers to the Trustee a certificate signed by a director of the Issuer confirming that immediately thereafter
each of the Asset Cover Ratio and the Interest Cover Ratio, would not be less than as required in accordance
with Condition 4.2 and (iii) no Further Issue shall be or become a charge upon the Specifically Mortgaged
Premises unless and until the Issuer, the Guarantor and the Charging Subsidiaries concerned (if any) shall
have executed and delivered to the Trustee a Supplemental Trust Deed constituting and securing such Further
Issue. References in these Conditions to the Bonds include (unless the context requires otherwise) any other
securities issued pursuant to this Condition and forming a single series with the Bonds.
Any further securities forming a single series with the outstanding securities of any series (including the
Bonds) constituted by the Trust Deed or any deed supplemental to it shall, and any other securities may (with
the consent of the Trustee), be constituted by a deed supplemental to the Trust Deed. The Trust Deed contains
provisions for convening a single meeting of the Bondholders and the holders of securities of other series
where the Trustee so decides.
19. Substitution
19.1

The Trustee may at any time, without the consent of the Bondholders or Couponholders, agree to the
substitution of the Issuer (including any entity that has become a Substitute Issuer pursuant to this
Condition 19) (the "Substituted Issuer") as principal debtor under the Bonds and the Trust Deed by
either Shaftesbury PLC or any company (the "Substitute Issuer") which is a direct or indirect whollyowned subsidiary of Shaftesbury PLC from time to time, provided that where the Substitute Issuer is
not Shaftesbury PLC, Shaftesbury PLC continues to irrevocably and unconditionally guarantee the
obligations of the Substitute Issuer under the Bonds. The substitution shall be made by a supplemental
trust deed in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Trustee (a "Supplemental Trust
Deed") and may take place only if:
19.1.1 no payment in respect of the Bonds is at the relevant time overdue;
19.1.2 the Substitute Issuer shall enter into an agency agreement supplemental to the Agency
Agreement (a "Supplemental Agency Agreement"), in form and substance reasonably
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satisfactory to the Paying Agent and the Trustee, executed and delivered to the Paying Agent
and the Trustee;
19.1.3 all action, conditions and things required to be taken, fulfilled and done (including the obtaining
of any necessary consents) to ensure that the Supplemental Trust Deed, the Supplemental
Agency Agreement, the Guarantee and the Bonds represent valid, legally binding and
enforceable obligations of the Substitute Issuer and the Guarantor, have been taken, fulfilled
and done and are in full force and effect;
19.1.4 each of the Substitute Issuer and each Charging Company takes all such action as shall be
necessary or as the Trustee may reasonably require to ensure that the Security constitutes a
valid charge, pledge or other security interest in respect of the Charged Assets as was originally
created by each Charging Company for the obligations of the Substitute Issuer and each
Charging Company;
19.1.5 the Substitute Issuer shall agree in the Supplemental Trust Deed to indemnify each Bondholder
and the Trustee on an after-tax basis against tax, duty, levy, assessment or governmental charge
of whatever nature imposed, levied, collected, withheld or assessed by the jurisdiction of the
country of the Substitute Issuer's residence for tax purposes and, if different, of its incorporation
or any political subdivision or any authority therein or thereof having power to tax with respect
to the Bonds or the Supplemental Trust Deed and that would not have been so imposed had the
substitution not been made, as well as against any tax, duty, levy, assessment or governmental
charge, and any cost or expense, relating to the substitution;
19.1.6 immediately prior to and after giving effect to such substitution, no Event of Default, and no
event which, after notice or lapse of time or both, would become an Event of Default, shall have
occurred and be continuing;
19.1.7 if the Substitute Issuer is subject generally to the taxing jurisdiction of a territory or any
authority of or in that territory with power to tax (the “Substituted Territory”) other than the
territory to the taxing jurisdiction of which (or to any such authority of or in which) the Issuer is
subject generally (the “Issuer’s Territory”), or to which the Guarantor is subject generally (the
“Guarantor’s Territory”), the Substitute Issuer shall (unless the Trustee otherwise agrees)
give to the Trustee an undertaking satisfactory to the Trustee in terms corresponding to
Condition 10 with the substitution for the references in that Condition to the Issuer’s Territory
of references to the Substituted Territory whereupon the Trust Deed, the Bonds and the
Coupons shall be read accordingly;
19.1.8 the Substitute Issuer shall have delivered to the Trustee (a) legal opinions covering (i) each
jurisdiction referred to in Condition 19.1.5 above and (ii) England, in each case from a lawyer
or firm of lawyers with a leading securities practice in such jurisdiction, as to the fulfilment of
all conditions precedent provided for above and (b) a director's certificate certifying the
solvency of the Substitute Issuer immediately post-substitution in each case, in form and
substance reasonably satisfactory to the Trustee;
19.1.9 the Issuer, the Guarantor and the Substitute Issuer shall have complied with such other
requirements as the Trustee may direct in the interests of the Bondholders; and
19.1.10 the Issuer shall have given at least 14 days' prior notice of such substitution to the
Bondholders and the Trustee, stating that copies, or pending execution the agreed text, of all
documents in relation to the substitution that are referred to above, or that might otherwise
reasonably be regarded as material to Bondholders, shall be available for inspection at the
specified office of the Issuer or the Paying Agent.
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19.2

Upon completion of such substitution (including the formalities set out in this Condition 19), the
Substitute Issuer shall succeed to, be substituted for, and may exercise every right and power of the
Substituted Issuer under the Trust Deed with the same effect as if the Substitute Issuer had been named
as the Issuer hereunder, the Substituted Issuer shall be released from all liability under the Bonds, the
Trust Deed and the Agency Agreement in relation to the Bonds and the Bonds will be deemed to be
amended as necessary to give effect to the Substitution.

20. Notices
Notices to Bondholders will be valid if published in a leading newspaper having general circulation in
London (which is expected to be the Financial Times) or, if the Trustee is satisfied that such publication shall
not be practicable, in an English language newspaper of general circulation in the United Kingdom. Any such
notice shall be deemed to have been given on the date of such publication or, if published more than once or
on different dates, on the first date on which publication is made. Couponholders will be deemed for all
purposes to have notice of the contents of any notice given to the Bondholders in accordance with this
Condition 20.
21. Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999
No person shall have any right to enforce any term or condition of the Bonds under the Contracts (Rights of
Third Parties) Act 1999.
22. Governing Law
The Trust Deed, the Bonds and the Coupons and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in
connection with them are governed by and shall be construed in accordance with English law.
23. Definitions
“Accounting Year End” means 30 September in each calendar year, or such other date as at which the Issuer,
the Guarantor or any Charging Company, as the case may be, prepare their audited Financial Statements.
“Accounting Half-Year End” means 31 March in each calendar year, or such other date as at which the
Issuer, the Guarantor or any Charging Company, as the case may be, prepare unaudited semi-annual Financial
Statements.
“Asset Cover Ratio” has the meaning set out in Condition 4.2.
“Auditors” means the auditors for the time being of the Issuer and the Guarantor, or in the case of joint
auditors, any one of them or any successor auditors to the Issuer and the Guarantor. In the event of their being
unable or unwilling to carry out any action requested of them pursuant to the Conditions and/or the Trust
Deed, such other firm of chartered accountants as the Trustee may, after consultation with the Issuer or the
Guarantor, as applicable, in writing nominate or approve for the purpose.
“Central London” means the following postcodes: W1, WC1 and WC2.
“Charged Assets” means the Security, including but not limited to the Specifically Mortgaged Premises, and
any cash amount subject to Security pursuant to Condition 5 or Condition 6, as applicable, from time to time
mortgaged, charged or assigned (or expressed to be mortgaged, charged or assigned) pursuant to the Trust
Deed.
“Charging Companies” means the Issuer (for so long as it has subsisting a fixed charge and/or mortgage in
favour of the Trustee to secure the Bonds) and the Charging Subsidiaries and “Charging Company” means
any one of them.
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“Charging Subsidiary” means any Subsidiary of the Issuer or the Guarantor which pursuant to these presents
for the time being has subsisting a fixed charge and/or mortgage in favour of the Trustee to secure the Bonds
or has paid a sum of money to the Trustee to be held as part of the Specifically Mortgaged Premises.
“Eligible Property” means
(a)

the properties identified in Condition 3.2 which are expressed by the Trust Deed to be secured on the
Issue Date;

(b)

any other Property located in Central London (other than leasehold property the term of which expires
or may be determined (other than by forfeiture) by the lessor less than 50 years after the Maturity Date
or the lease of which contains provisions which in the opinion of the Trustee make it unsuitable as
security for the Bonds) which (i) in the opinion of the Valuers is of a type the charging of which as part
of the Specifically Mortgaged Premises would not prejudice the quality of the Specifically Mortgaged
Premises taken as a whole at the time of such charging and (ii) in respect of which a certificate of title
reasonably acceptable to the Trustee has been produced;

(c)

money or Short Gilts; and/or

(d)

any other Property or assets situated in Central London approved in writing by the Trustee as Security,

which, for the avoidance for doubt, may include any additional interest in any Property for the time being
comprised in the Specifically Mortgaged Premises.
“Extraordinary Resolution” has the meaning given to it in the Trust Deed.
“Financial Statements” means the Issuer and the Guarantor’s audited annual unconsolidated and
consolidated, respectively, financial statements or the unaudited half-year consolidated financial statements of
the Guarantor, as the case may be, including the relevant accounting policies and notes to the accounts and in
each case prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) or such other
accounting standards as may be applied by an issuer of securities listed on the Regulated Market of the
London Stock Exchange.
“Further Issue” has the meaning given to it in Condition 18.
“Group” means the Guarantor and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole.
“Gross Redemption Yield” means a yield calculated in accordance with generally accepted market practice
at the time of calculation, as advised to the Issuer (with a copy of such advice provided to the Trustee to make
available to the Bondholders upon reasonable request) by an independent financial adviser.
“Initial Specifically Mortgaged Premises” means the following Properties all of which comprise the
Specifically Mortgaged Premises on the Issue Date:
Properties (all of which comprise the Specifically Mortgaged
Premises on the Issue Date)

Title Number

45, 45b, 47 & 49 and Crediton Mansions, 47a Charing Cross Road

NGL966594

3 Dansey Place

22335

3 and 4 Dansey Place

63617

6 Dansey Place and 21 and 22 Gerrard Street

LN198610

7 Dansey Place and 34-36 Wardour Street

109271

45

1 Gerrard Place

41206

2 Gerrard Place

141299

3 Gerrard Street

222299

4 Gerrard Street

LN46161

5 Gerrard Street

185360

6 Gerrard Street

LN3055

7 Gerrard Street

399870

8 Gerrard Street

247258

9 Gerrard Street (also containing 8 Horse & Dolphin Yard)

LN210204

10 Gerrard Street and 4 Horse & Dolphin Yard

LN4048

11 Gerrard Street

LN195794

13 Gerrard Street

242135

14 Gerrard St and 13 Macclesfield Street

LN231921

15A Gerrard St (also containing 2 Macclesfield Street)

426018

15 Gerrard Street

419693

16 Gerrard Street and 2 Dansey Place

127579

17 Gerrard Street (also containing 3 Dansey Place)

LN48787

18 Gerrard Street

278488

19 Gerrard Street

249913

20 Gerrard Street and 5 Dansey Place

405123

21 and 22 Gerrard Street and 6 Dansey Place

LN198610

23 Gerrard Street

236422

36 and 39 Gerrard Street

LN58249

36 and 39 Gerrard Street

LN68772

37-38 Gerrard Street

LN60639

King's Head Public House, 48 Gerrard Street

LN136164

1, 2 and 3 Horse & Dolphin Yard

LN170874

8 Horse & Dolphin Yard

181544

14 Lisle Street

82126

15 Lisle Street

LN82213

18-20 Lisle Street

LN82216
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19 Lisle Street

LN137069

20 Lisle Street

LN82218

21 Lisle Street

LN82219

26-27 Lisle Street

NGL654682

The White Bear Public House, 28-30 Lisle Street

NGL751239

7 Little Newport Street

267892

8 Little Newport Street

NGL594243

9 Little Newport Street

NGL139113

12 and 13 Little Newport Street

233942

15 Little Newport Street

140520

2 Macclesfield Street

181390

3 Macclesfield Street

362960

4 Macclesfield Street

363662

5 Macclesfield Street

106543

12 Macclesfield Street

NGL184475

13 Macclesfield Street and 14 Gerrard Street (also containing 13a
Macclesfield Street)

LN231921

21 Newport Court

393193

22 Newport Court

393210

23 and 24 Newport Court

393040

1 Newport Place

NGL764030

Parts Of The Basement, Ground And Mezzanine Floor Levels at the
Newport Sandringham Development Being The Retail Development,
51-79 (odd) Charing Cross Road, 28-35 Newport Court and 10-18
(even) Newport Place

NGL742177

64 Shaftesbury Avenue

NGL478519
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66 to 88 (even) Shaftesbury Avenue, encompassing:

LN198679

66 Shaftesbury Avenue
68 Shaftesbury Avenue
70 Shaftesbury Avenue
72 Shaftesbury Avenue
74 Shaftesbury Avenue
76 Shaftesbury Avenue
78 Shaftesbury Avenue
80 Shaftesbury Avenue
90, 92, 96 and 98 Shaftesbury Avenue and Macclesfield Chambers

279584

100-124 Shaftesbury Avenue (Basement, Ground, First and Second
Floors) encompassing:

NGL632816

108 Shaftesbury Avenue
110 Shaftesbury Avenue
112 and 112A Shaftesbury Avenue
114 Shaftesbury Avenue
116 Shaftesbury Avenue
118-120 Shaftesbury Avenue
Flat 1, Exeter Mansions, 106 Shaftesbury Avenue

NGL501352

Flat 3, Exeter Mansions, 106 Shaftesbury Avenue

NGL940069

Flat 4, Exeter Mansions, 106 Shaftesbury Avenue

NGL585663

Flat 5, Exeter Mansions, 106 Shaftesbury Avenue

NGL788536

Flat 6, Exeter Mansions, 106 Shaftesbury Avenue

NGL617611

Flat 8, Exeter Mansions, 106 Shaftesbury Avenue, London

NGL620829

Basement Vault, 116 Shaftesbury Avenue

NGL827967

Flat 1, Egmont House, 116 Shaftesbury Avenue

NGL788880

Flat 2, Egmont House, 116 Shaftesbury Avenue

NGL589673

Flat 3, Egmont House, 116 Shaftesbury Avenue

NGL653784

Flat 4, Egmont House, 116 Shaftesbury Avenue

NGL591313

Flat 3, Nassau House, 122 Shaftesbury Avenue

NGL592096

32 Wardour Street (also containing 23 Gerrard Street)

41377
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“Interest Cover Ratio” has the meaning set out in Condition 4.2.
“London Business Day” means a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets are open for
business in London.
“Maturity Date” means 30 September 2027.
“Mortgaged Premises” means the undertakings and all the property, rights and assets of the Charging
Companies for the time being charged by way of floating charge in accordance with Condition 3.3 to the
extent that the same shall not have been released pursuant to any provision under these Conditions.
“Net Annual Income” has the meaning set out in Condition 4.2.
“Permitted Security” means mortgages, charges or other encumbrances either by way of first fixed charges
or otherwise on Property and assets of any Charging Companies not forming part of the Specifically
Mortgaged Premises or by way of floating charges ranking in point of security pari passu with any floating
charge (but not any fixed charge) securing the Secured Liabilities (and for the avoidance of doubt fixed or
floating charges ranking behind any charge securing the Secured Liabilities including fixed charges on any
Property not forming part of the Specifically Mortgaged Premises) whether as security for indebtedness or
other liabilities of the Issuer or a Charging Company or otherwise.
“Person” means an individual, corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, association,
joint stock company, trust, government, or any agency or subdivision thereof or any other entity.
“Property” means freehold, leasehold, heritable or other immovable property owned by a Charging
Company.
“Ratio Testing Date” has the meaning set out in Condition 4.2.
“Receiver” means a receiver and manager or other receiver appointed under the Trust Deed by the Trustee in
respect of all or part of any Charged Assets and shall, if allowed by law, include an administrative receiver.
“Relevant Date” means whichever is the later of (i) the date on which such payment first becomes due and
(ii) if the full amount payable has not been received in London by the Principal Paying Agent or the Trustee
on or prior to such due date, the date on which, the full amount having been so received, notice to that effect
shall have been given to the Bondholders.
“Reporting Period” means the period ending three months after the end of the most recent Accounting Year
End or Accounting Half-Year End, as applicable, of the Issuer, the Guarantor or any Charging Company, as
the case may be.
“Security” means any Security Interest created, evidenced or conferred by or under the Trust Deed or any
Supplemental Trust Deed.
“Secured Creditors” means each of (a) the Bondholders, (b) the Couponholders and (c) the Trustee.
“Security Interest” means any mortgage, lien, charge, assignment, hypothecation or security interest or any
other arrangement having a similar effect under the laws of any applicable jurisdiction.
“Secured Liabilities” means all present and future moneys, debts and liabilities due, owing or incurred by the
Issuer and/or indirectly by any other Charging Company to the Secured Creditors under or in connection with
any Transaction Document (in each case, whether alone or jointly, or jointly and severally, with any other
person, whether actually or contingently and whether as principal, guarantor, surety or otherwise).
“Short Gilts” means United Kingdom Government stocks listed on the London Stock Exchange with no
more than five years to final redemption from the date of being charged.
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“Specifically Mortgaged Premises” means the Initial Specifically Mortgaged Premises which are expressed
by the Trust Deed to be secured on the Issue Date or such of them as shall for the time being remain subject to
the Security, and all other Property and moneys (and investments representing the same) which for the time
being shall or ought, pursuant to these Conditions, the Trust Deed or any Supplemental Trust Deed, to be
mortgaged or charged in favour of or held by the Trustee by way of specific security to secure the Bonds to
the extent that the same shall not have been released pursuant to any provision of the Conditions, Trust Deed
or any Supplemental Trust Deed.
“Subsidiary” means a subsidiary or a subsidiary undertaking within the respective meanings of section 1159
and 1162 of the Companies Act 2006.
“Supplemental Trust Deed” means any deed supplemental to the Trust Deed pursuant to which Security
Interests are granted by the Issuer, the Guarantor and/or any other Charging Company in favour of the Trustee
by way of security for the Secured Liabilities.
“Transaction Documents” means the Bonds, the Coupons, the Trust Deed and the Paying Agency Agreement
(in each case as the same may be amended or supplemented from time to time).
“Valuation” means:
(a)

in relation to Property, (i) in the case of a Valuation as at the Accounting Year End, a valuation made
pursuant to the Trust Deed by the Valuers, and (ii) in the case of a Valuation as at the Accounting HalfYear End or at any other date on which a Valuation is required, a valuation made pursuant to the Trust
Deed by the Issuer, in each case on the basis used by the Issuer in preparing its accounts from time to
time;

(b)

in relation to money, a determination by the Trustee of the amount thereof;

(c)

in relation to Short Gilts, the price thereof (net of accrued interest) based on the mean of the bid and
offered prices thereof as derived from the London Stock Exchange Daily Official List on the business
day preceding the date on which the relevant Valuation is made or the par value of such gilts
(whichever is the lesser); and

(d)

in relation to other investments, a valuation thereof as agreed between the Issuer, the Guarantor and
any relevant Charging Company and the Trustee or, in the absence of such agreement, as determined
by an expert appointed by the Issuer and approved by the Trustee.

“Value” means:
(a)

in relation to Property, the value ascribed thereto by a Valuation as at a Ratio Testing Date,
PROVIDED THAT:
(i) the Trustee may, if the Issuer so requests, instead of requiring a Valuation, treat the value of a
Property as being (i) its acquisition price, (ii) in the case of Property which is the subject of a
contract for sale on an arm’s length basis, its agreed sale price or (iii) its value as certified by any
two directors of the Charging Company concerned; and
(ii) at the discretion of the Trustee there may, for the purpose of determining value, be added to any
value ascribed thereto by a Valuation or, if paragraph (i) above applies, to the acquisition price, an
amount equal to the cost (as reported to the Issuer and the Trustee by the Auditors, or by the
Issuer to the Trustee, as applicable) of additions or improvements of a capital nature made to such
Property since the date as at which such Valuation was made or since such acquisition (as the
case may be) to the extent that such cost is not included in such Valuation or acquisition price;
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(b)

in relation to any Specifically Mortgaged Premises other than Property, the value ascribed thereto by
the most recent Valuation.

“Valuers” means:
(a)

Cushman & Wakefield Debenham Tie Leung Limited, Chartered Surveyors; or

(b)

such other firm or firms of independent professional valuers which is or are members of the Royal
Institution of Chartered Surveyors as may from time to time be appointed at its own expense by the
Issuer with the written approval of the Trustee.
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Summary of Provisions relating to the Bonds while in Global Form
The Trust Deed and the Global Bond contain provisions which apply to the Bonds while they are in global
form, some of which modify the effect of the terms and conditions of the Bonds set out in this Prospectus.
The following is a summary of certain of those provisions:
1.

Exchange
The Global Bond is exchangeable in whole but not in part (free of charge to the holder) for the definitive
Bonds described below only if the Global Bond is held on behalf of a clearing system and such clearing
system is closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of holidays, statutory or
otherwise) or announces an intention permanently to cease business or does in fact do so. Thereupon, the
holder may give notice to the Principal Paying Agent of its intention to exchange the Global Bond for
definitive Bonds on or after the Exchange Date specified in the notice.
On or after the Exchange Date (as defined below) the holder of the Global Bond may surrender the Global
Bond to or to the order of the Principal Paying Agent. In exchange for the Global Bond the Issuer shall
deliver, or procure the delivery of, an equal aggregate principal amount of duly executed and authenticated
definitive Bonds (having attached to them all Coupons in respect of interest which has not already been paid
on the Global Bond), security printed in accordance with any applicable legal and stock exchange
requirements and in or substantially in the form set out in Schedule 1 to the Trust Deed.
“Exchange Date” means a day falling not less than 40 days after that on which the notice requiring exchange
is given and on which banks are open for business in the city in which the specified office of the Principal
Paying Agent is located and in the cities in which the relevant clearing system is located.

2.

Payments
Payments of principal, premium and interest in respect of Bonds represented by the Global Bond will be made
against presentation for endorsement and, if no further payment falls to be made in respect of the Bonds,
surrender of the Global Bond to or to the order of the Principal Paying Agent. A record of each payment so
made will be endorsed in the appropriate schedule to the Global Bond, which endorsement will be prima facie
evidence that such payment has been made in respect of the Bonds. For the purpose of any payments made in
respect of a Global Bond, Condition 9.4 (Payments on business days) shall not apply, and all such payments
shall be made on a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets are open for business in
London.

3.

Notices
So long as the Bonds are represented by the Global Bond and the Global Bond is held on behalf of a clearing
system approved by the Trustee, notices to Bondholders may be given by delivery of the relevant notice to
that clearing system for communication by it to entitled accountholders in substitution for publication as
required by the Conditions.

4.

Prescription
Claims against the Issuer in respect of principal and interest on the Bonds while the Bonds are represented by
the Global Bond will become void unless it is presented for payment within a period of 10 years (in the case
of principal) and five years (in the case of interest) from the appropriate Relevant Date (as defined in
Condition 23 (Definitions)).
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5.

Meetings
The holder of the Global Bond shall (unless the Global Bond represents only one Bond) be treated as being
two persons for the purposes of any quorum requirements of a meeting of Bondholders and, at any such
meeting, as having one vote in respect of each £1,000 in nominal amount of Bonds.

6.

Purchase and Cancellation
Cancellation of any Bond required by the Conditions to be cancelled following its purchase will be effected
by reduction in the principal amount of the Global Bond.

7.

Trustee’s Powers
In considering the interests of Bondholders while the Global Bond is held on behalf of a clearing system, the
Trustee may have regard to any information provided to it by such clearing system or its operator as to the
identity (either individually or by category) of its accountholders with entitlements to the Global Bond and
may consider such interests as if such accountholders were the holder of the Global Bond.

8.

Put Option
If a change of Control Put Event (as defined in the Conditions) occurs, the Bondholders’ put option in
Condition 8.4 (Redemption at the option of the Bondholder) may be exercised by the holder of the Global
Bond giving notice to the Principal Paying Agent of the principal amount of Bonds in respect of which the
option is exercised and presenting the Global Bond for endorsement of exercise within the time limits
specified in Condition 8.4 (Redemption at the option of the Bondholder).

9.

Electronic Consent and Written Resolution
While any Global Bond is held on behalf of a relevant Clearing System, then:
(a)

approval of a resolution proposed by the Issuer, the Guarantor or the Trustee (as the case may be) given
by way of electronic consents communicated through the electronic communications systems of the
relevant Clearing System(s) in accordance with their operating rules and procedures by or on behalf of
the holders of not less than 90 per cent. in nominal amount of the Bonds outstanding (an “Electronic
Consent” as defined in the Trust Deed) shall, for all purposes (including matters that would otherwise
require an Extraordinary Resolution to be passed), take effect as an Extraordinary Resolution passed at a
meeting of Bondholders duly convened and held, and shall be binding on all Bondholders and holders of
Coupons whether or not they participated in such Electronic Consent; and

(b) where Electronic Consent is not being sought, for the purpose of determining whether a Written
Resolution (as defined in the Trust Deed) has been validly passed, the Issuer, the Guarantor and the
Trustee shall be entitled to rely on consent or instructions given in writing directly to the Issuer, the
Guarantor and/or the Trustee, as the case may be, (a) by accountholders in the clearing system(s) with
entitlements to such Global Bond and/or, (b) where the accountholders hold any such entitlement on
behalf of another person, on written consent from or written instruction by the person identified by that
accountholder as the person for whom such entitlement is held. For the purpose of establishing the
entitlement to give any such consent or instruction, the Issuer, the Guarantor and the Trustee shall be
entitled to rely on any certificate or other document issued by, in the case of (a) above, Euroclear,
Clearstream, Luxembourg or any other relevant alternative clearing system (the “relevant clearing
system”) and, in the case of (b) above, the relevant clearing system and the accountholder identified by
the relevant clearing system for the purposes of (b) above. Any resolution passed in such manner shall
be binding on all Bondholders and Couponholders, even if the relevant consent or instruction proves to
be defective. Any such certificate or other document shall be conclusive and binding for all purposes.
Any such certificate or other document may comprise any form of statement or print out of electronic
records provided by the relevant clearing system (including Euroclear’s EUCLID or Clearstream,
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Luxembourg’s CreationOnline system) in accordance with its usual procedures and in which the
accountholder of a particular principal or nominal amount of the Bonds is clearly identified together
with the amount of such holding. None of the Issuer, the Guarantor and the Trustee shall be liable to any
person by reason of having accepted as valid or not having rejected any certificate or other document to
such effect purporting to be issued by any such person and subsequently found to be forged or not
authentic.
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Initial Cover Ratios for the Bonds
1.

Initial Interest Cover Ratio
The unaudited aggregate Net Annual Income as at 18 August 2017 from the Initial Specifically Mortgaged
Premises was £13,926,7251, giving an Interest Cover Ratio of 2.05:12.

2.

Initial Asset Cover Ratio
The Value of the Initial Specifically Mortgaged Premises as specified in the Valuation Report is £527,085,000
giving an Asset Cover Ratio of 1.82:13.

1

As agreed by Ernst & Young LLP, as the Issuer's and Guarantor's Auditors, as if for the purposes provided for in the definition of "Net Annual
Income" in the Conditions. Such agreement does not amount to an audit or independent review report.
2
Calculated on the assumed basis that £290,000,000 in principal amount of Bonds carrying an annual interest rate of 2.348 per cent. were
outstanding on 18 August 2017.
3
Calculated on the assumed basis that:

a.
b.

the date of Valuation Report was a "Ratio Testing Date" and the Valuation Report was a "Valuation" as at that date (in each case as
defined in the Conditions); and
£290,000,000 in principal amount of Bonds carrying an annual interest rate of 2.348 per cent..
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Description of the Issuer
1

Incorporation
Shaftesbury Chinatown Limited was incorporated in England and Wales on 22 January 1988 under the name
Sixtieth Shelf Investment Company Limited (registered number 2213147) as a private limited company under
the Companies Act 1985. The Company changed its name to Shaftesbury (Southern) Limited on 15 March
1988 and to Shaftesbury Properties Limited on 18 May 1988. On 15 September 2004 the Company changed
its name to Shaftesbury Chinatown Limited and re-registered as a public limited company under the
Companies Act on 1 August 2017. The Issuer is domiciled in the UK and its registered office and head office
is at 22 Ganton Street, Carnaby, London, W1F 7FD, United Kingdom (Tel. +44 20 7333 8118).
The principal laws and legislation under which the Issuer operates are the Companies Act and regulations
made thereunder.

2

Principal activities
As at the date of this Prospectus, the Issuer is a property investment company which owns properties in and
around Chinatown in London's West End, including the Specifically Mortgaged Premises.
Further details regarding the Group's principal activities, including those of the Issuer, are set out in paragraph
2 of the section headed "Description of the Guarantor and the Group" below.

3

Organisational structure
The Issuer is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Guarantor and is under its direct control. The Issuer is in part
dependent on receiving support from the Group in relation to its property investment activities.
Further details regarding the Group's organisational structure are set out in paragraph 5 of the section headed
"Description of the Guarantor and the Group" below.

4

Financial information
The Issuer's audited financial statements for the years ended 30 September 2016 and 30 September 2015
extracted from the Issuer's 2016 and 2015 Annual Reports and Accounts, respectively, are set out in
Appendices 1 and 2 of this Prospectus, respectively.

5

Directors and senior management
The directors of the Issuer and their principal functions are as follows:
Name

Current position

Brian Bickell

Executive Director

Simon Quayle

Executive Director

Thomas Welton

Executive Director

Christopher Ward

Executive Director

The company secretary of the Issuer is Penny Thomas.
The usual business address of each of the directors and the company secretary of the Issuer is 22 Ganton
Street, Carnaby, London, W1F 7FD, United Kingdom.
As at the date of this Prospectus, all of the directors of the Issuer are closely involved with all the members of
the Group and all of the directors of the Issuer are board members of numerous Group companies, including
the Guarantor. Except as disclosed in this paragraph 5, in respect of any director of the Issuer, there are no
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actual or potential conflicts of interests between any duties they have to the Issuer, either in respect of the
issue of the Bonds or otherwise, and the private interests and/or other duties they may also have.
No director of the Issuer has a material interest in any significant contract with the Issuer or any other
member of the Group.
No director of the Issuer was selected to be a director of the Issuer pursuant to any arrangement or
understanding with a major customer, supplier or other person having a business connection with the Issuer or
any other member of the Group.
There are no family relationships between any of the directors of the Issuer.
6

Share capital and shareholder
The issued share capital of the Issuer as at 30 September 2016 comprised 145,000,000 ordinary shares of
£1.00 each.
On 20 June 2017, the issued share capital of the Issuer was reduced by 144,900,000 to 100,000 ordinary
shares of £1.00 each.
The entire issued share capital of the Issuer is owned by the Guarantor.
The issued share capital of the Issuer has not been admitted to trading on any recognised investment
exchange.

7

Dividend
On 8 December 2016, the Issuer paid a dividend of £8,265,000 to the Guarantor.
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Description of the Guarantor and the Group
1

Incorporation of the Guarantor
The Guarantor was incorporated in England and Wales on 13 March 1986 under the name Kindcove Limited
(registered number 1999238) as a private limited company under the Companies Act 1985. On 4 November
1986, the Guarantor changed its name to Shaftesbury Limited and subsequently re-registered as a public
limited company under the Companies Act on 21 September 1987. The Guarantor is domiciled in the UK and
its registered office and head office is at 22 Ganton Street, Carnaby, London, W1F 7FD, United Kingdom
(Tel. +44 20 7333 8118).
The principal laws and legislation under which the Guarantor operates are the Companies Act and regulations
made thereunder.

2

Principal activities
The Guarantor is a REIT and is the holding company of the Group which owns a real estate portfolio
extending to 14.4 acres in the heart of London's West End. As at 31 March 2017, its lettable space extended to
1.8 million sq. ft.. The Group's holdings are concentrated in villages in Carnaby, Covent Garden, Chinatown,
Soho and Charlotte Street.
The Group's objective is to deliver long-term growth in rental income, capital values and shareholder returns.
The Group focuses on retail, restaurants, cafés and pubs. In its wholly-owned portfolio, these uses extended to
1.1 million sq. ft., and accounted for 70 per cent. of its current income as at 31 March 2017. In its locations
these uses have a long record of occupier demand exceeding their availability. As at 31 March 2017, the
portfolio also included 405,000 sq. ft. of offices (let to 248 tenants) and 570 apartments for rent, which
provided 17 per cent. and 13 per cent., respectively, of its current income.
In addition, the Group has a 50 per cent. interest in the Longmartin Joint Venture, which has a long leasehold
interest in St Martin's Courtyard in Covent Garden. Extending to 1.9 acres, as at 31 March 2017, its lettable
space extended to 269,000 sq. ft. and included 21 shops, ten restaurants and cafés, 102,000 sq. ft. of offices
and 75 apartments as at 31 March 2017.
The Group's management strategy is to create and foster distinctive, attractive and prosperous locations. Its
implementation is supported by an experienced management team with an innovative approach to long-term
sustainable income and value creation.
On 21 August 2017, the Guarantor announced that a member of its Group had exchanged contracts to acquire
a long leasehold interest in 92-104 Berwick Street, Soho, for £38.5 million. The purchase will complete once
the redevelopment of the site is completed, expected in late 2018. The long leasehold interest comprises 11
retail units, as well as a restaurant, hotel and a supermarket. The freehold of the entire building is owned by
Westminster City Council.

3

The portfolio
The Group's portfolio, including its 50 per cent. share of the Longmartin Joint Venture, was valued at 31
March 2017 at £3.45 billion. The table below provides an overview of the valuation of the Group's portfolio
as at 31 March 2017:
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Capital value Topped-up
growth1, 4
initial Equivalent
ERV
%
yield5
yield6
£m
%
%

Fair value
£m

% of
portfolio

Current
Income3
£m

1,195

35%

39.2

50.0

2.0%

3.12%

3.64%

894

25%

28.0

36.6

1.2%

2.88%

3.56%

Wholly-owned portfolio
Carnaby
Covent Garden
Chinatown

8

762

22%

22.6

30.2

2.6%

3.08%

3.42%

Soho

253

7%

8.8

10.4

3.7%

3.35%

3.64%

Charlotte Street

122

4%

4.4

5.0

2.7%

3.14%

3.53%

3,226

93%

103.0

132.2

2.1%

3.09%

3.56%

3.36%

3.79%

2

226

7%

9.0

10.0

0.6%

Total portfolio7

3,452

100%

112.0

142.2

2.0%

Longmartin JV

Notes:
1. Like-for-like.
2. Group’s 50% share.
3. Current income includes total annual actual and ‘estimated income’ reserved by leases. No rent is attributed to leases
which were subject to rent-free periods at the valuation date. Current income does not reflect any ground rents, head
rents nor rent charges and estimated irrecoverable outgoings at the valuation date. ‘Estimated income’ refers to ERV
in respect of rent reviews outstanding at the valuation date and, where appropriate, ERV in respect of lease renewals
outstanding at the valuation date where the fair value reflects terms for a renewed lease.
4. Capital value growth over the six months ended 31 March 2017.
5. Topped-up initial yield is an adjusted initial yield which assumes rent free periods or other unexpired lease incentives,
such as discounted rent periods and step ups, have expired.
6. Equivalent yield is the internal rate of return from an investment property, based on the gross outlays for the purchase
of a property (including purchase costs), reflecting reversions to current market rent, and such items as voids and nonrecoverable expenditure but disregarding potential changes in market rents.
7. Portfolio excluding non-core asset acquired in a portfolio.
8. The figures provided in this table for Chinatown are not directly comparable with those disclosed in the section of this
Prospectus headed "Valuation Report" as this table includes all properties in the Chinatown portfolio as at 31 March
2017, not all of which form the Initial Specifically Mortgaged Premises. In addition, the reasons for the differences
between the Fair Value of the Initial Specifically Mortgaged Premises as at the Valuation Date and the value of Initial
Specifically Mortgaged Premises contained in the Issuer's annual reports and accounts for the financial year ended 30
September 2016 (being the Issuer's latest published individual annual accounts) have been disclosed in paragraph 6 of
the section headed "Valuation Report" of this Prospectus pursuant to the ESMA Recommendations.

Further details of the Initial Specifically Mortgaged Premises are set out in the sections headed "Valuation
Report".
4

Financial information
Details regarding the Group's financial information are set out in the sections headed "Documents
Incorporated by Reference" and "Selected Financial Information".
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5

Alternative Performance Measures
This Prospectus includes, on pages 64, 65 and 66, references to (and definitions of) "EPRA net asset value per
share" and "EPRA earnings per share", which constitute Alternative Performance Measures ("APMs"). In
terms of reconciliations of these APMs, please see:
(a) page 16 of the Guarantor's 2017 Interim Statement and page 160 of the Guarantor's 2016 Annual
Report and Accounts for an explanation of "EPRA net asset value per share" as used in this
Prospectus; and
(b) page 14 of the Guarantor's 2017 Interim Statement and page 56 of the Guarantor's 2016 Annual
Report and Accounts for an explanation of "EPRA earnings per share" as used in this Prospectus,
each of which pages is incorporated by reference in this Prospectus.

6

Organisational structure
The Guarantor is the holding company of the Group. The Guarantor and its subsidiaries and affiliates form the
Group. The Guarantor is, in part, dependent on receiving support from the Group in relation to its property
investment activities.
The following chart shows the organisation structure of the Group and certain of its debt funding as at the date
of this Prospectus:
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The following table contains a list of the subsidiaries and affiliates of the Guarantor (direct and indirect) as at
the date of this Prospectus:
Company1

Directly held by (ordinary
shares)

Holding (%)

Carnaby Estate Holdings Limited

Shaftesbury PLC

100

Carnaby Investments Limited

Shaftesbury PLC

100

Carnaby Property Investments Limited

Carnaby Estate Holdings
Limited

100

Charlotte Street Estate Holdings Limited

Shaftesbury PLC

100

Chinatown Estate Holdings Limited

Shaftesbury PLC

100

Chinatown London Limited

Shaftesbury PLC

100

Chinatown Property Investments
Limited

Chinatown Estate Holdings
Limited

100

Covent Garden Estate Holdings Limited

Shaftesbury PLC

100

Helcon Limited

Shaftesbury PLC

100

Shaftesbury Covent Garden Property
Investments Limited

Covent Garden Estate Holdings
Limited

100

Shaftesbury AV Investment Limited

Shaftesbury PLC

100

Shaftesbury AV Limited

Shaftesbury AV Investment
Limited

100

Shaftesbury Carnaby PLC

Shaftesbury PLC

100

Shaftesbury Charlotte Street Limited

Shaftesbury PLC

100

Shaftesbury Chinatown PLC

Shaftesbury PLC

100

Shaftesbury CL Investment Limited

Shaftesbury PLC

100

Shaftesbury CL Limited

Shaftesbury CL Investment
Limited

100

Shaftesbury Covent Garden Limited

Shaftesbury PLC

100

Shaftesbury Investments 1 Limited

Shaftesbury PLC

100

Shaftesbury Investments 2 Limited

Shaftesbury PLC

100

Shaftesbury Investments 4 Limited

Shaftesbury PLC

100

Shaftesbury Investments 5 Limited

Shaftesbury PLC

100

Shaftesbury Investments 6 Limited

Shaftesbury PLC

100

Shaftesbury Investments 7 Limited

Shaftesbury PLC

100
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Shaftesbury Investments 8 Limited

Shaftesbury PLC

100

Shaftesbury Investments 9 Limited

Shaftesbury PLC

100

Shaftesbury Investments 10 Limited

Shaftesbury PLC

100

Shaftesbury Soho Limited

Shaftesbury PLC

100

Shaftesbury West End Limited

Shaftesbury PLC

100

Longmartin Properties Limited2

Shaftesbury PLC

50

Notes:

7

1.

All of the companies are either engaged in property investment or are dormant. They are all incorporated and
registered in England and Wales.

2.

Control of Longmartin Properties Limited is shared equally with The Mercers’ Company, which owns 50 per cent. of
its issued share capital.

Directors and senior management
The directors of the Guarantor and their principal functions are as follows:
Name

Current position

Brian Bickell

Executive Director (Chief Executive)

Simon Quayle

Executive Director (Property)

Thomas Welton

Executive Director (Property)

Christopher Ward

Executive Director (Finance)

Jonathan Nicholls

Non-Executive Director, Chairman and Chairman of
the Nomination Committee

Jill Little

Non-Executive Director and Senior Independent
Director

Dermot Mathias

Non-Executive Director and Chairman of the Audit
Committee

Sally Walden

Non-Executive Director and Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee

Hilary Riva

Non-Executive Director

Oliver Marriot retired from the board on 5 July 2017.
The company secretary of the Guarantor is Penny Thomas.
The usual business address of each of the directors and the company secretary of the Guarantor is 22 Ganton
Street, Carnaby, London, W1F 7FD, United Kingdom.
As at the date of this Prospectus, all of the directors of the Guarantor are closely involved with all the
members of the Group and all of the executive directors of the Guarantor are board members of numerous
Group companies, including the Issuer. Except as disclosed in this paragraph 6, in respect of any director of
the Guarantor, there are no actual or potential conflicts of interests between any duties they have to the
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Guarantor, either in respect of the issue of the Bonds or otherwise, and the private interests and/or other duties
they may also have.
No director of the Guarantor has a material interest in any significant contract with the Guarantor or any other
member of the Group.
No director of the Guarantor was selected to be a director of the Guarantor pursuant to any arrangement or
understanding with a major customer, supplier or other person having a business connection with the
Guarantor or any other member of the Group.
There are no family relationships between any of the directors of the Guarantor.
8

Share capital and major shareholders
As at the date of this Prospectus, the issued share capital of the Guarantor comprises 279,032,329 ordinary
shares of 25 pence each, which have been admitted to the Official List and to trading on the Main Market of
the London Stock Exchange.
As at 1 September 2017 (being the last practicable date prior to the publication of this Prospectus), the
Guarantor has been notified of the following interests in its ordinary shares pursuant to DTR5 of the
Disclosure and Transparency Rules:
Percentage interest of issued
share capital of the
Guarantor
Orosi (UK) Limited/PEL (UK) Limited

22.05%

Invesco Limited

10.98%

Norges Bank

9.02%

BlackRock Inc

6.67%

63

Selected Financial Information
The following is a summary of the Group’s financial information for the periods indicated. The unaudited
Group Statement of Comprehensive Income for the six months ended 31 March 2017 and Group Balance
Sheet as at 31 March 2017 have been extracted without material adjustment from the Guarantor's 2017
Interim Statement. The audited Group Statement of Comprehensive Income for the financial years ended 30
September 2016 and 30 September 2015 and the Group Balance Sheets as at 30 September 2016 and 30
September 2015 have been extracted without material adjustment from the Guarantor's 2016 Annual Report
and Accounts. Such information has been incorporated by reference into this Prospectus as set out in the
section headed "Documents Incorporated by Reference" above. Prospective investors should also read the
detailed information set out elsewhere in this Prospectus (including any documents incorporated by reference
herein) and not rely only on the information summarised in this section.
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Part A
1.

Group Statement of Comprehensive Income
Six months ended
31.3.2017
£m
Revenue
Property charges

Year ended
30.9.2016
£m

Year ended
30.9.2015
£m

54.9

106.2

98.7

(11.1)

(22.1)

(19.9)

Net property income

43.8

84.1

78.8

Administrative expenses

(6.0)

(11.6)

(11.0)

Charge in respect of equity settled
remuneration

(0.8)

(2.5)

(3.0)

Total administrative expenses

(6.8)

(14.1)

(14.0)

Operating profit before investment
property valuation movements

37.0

70.0

64.8

0.3

-

-

61.6

108.3

432.0

98.9

178.3

496.8

-

0.1

0.1

(16.1)

(33.7)

(30.8)

-

(29.2)

-

16.1

(34.9)

(28.5)

-

(97.7)

(59.2)

3.5

18.5

29.7

102.4

99.1

467.3

-

-

-

102.4

99.1

467.3

36.7p

35.6p

168.0p

36.6p

35.5p

167.4p

8.2p

14.0p

13.0p

Profit on disposal of investment properties
Net surplus on revaluation of investment
properties
Operating profit
Finance income
Finance costs
Recognition of fair value of Debenture Stock
Change in fair value of derivative financial
instruments
Net finance costs
Share of post-tax profit from joint venture
Profit before tax
Tax charge for the period
Profit and total comprehensive income for
the period
Earnings per share:
Basic
Diluted
1

EPRA

Note:
1.

Please see Table 1 below in Part B of this section for a reconciliation between IFRS earnings per share and EPRA
earnings per share. Please see page 14 of the Guarantor's 2017 Interim Statement and page 56 of the Guarantor's
2016 Annual Report and Accounts for an explanation of EPRA earnings per share used above.
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2.

Group Balance Sheet
31.3.2016
£m

30.9.2016
£m

30.9.2015
£m

3,216.4

3,111.6

2,908.0

9.5

9.8

9.5

Non-current assets
Investment properties
Accrued income
Investment in joint venture

147.1

146.4

129.6

Property, plant and equipment

1.3

1.4

1.5

Other receivables

3.7

3.7

3.7

3,378.0

3,272.9

3,052.3

Trade and other receivables

16.8

19.3

21.7

Cash and cash equivalents

10.3

15.6

7.7

3,405.1

3,307.8

3,081.7

40.3

45.3

36.8

-

92.2

832.0

669.1

640.3

63.9

114.1

79.2

936.2

920.7

756.3

2,468.9

2,387.1

2,325.4

69.8

69.7

69.6

124.8

124.8

124.7

2.3

3.6

4.0

Retained earnings

2,272.0

2,189.0

2,127.1

Total equity

2,468.9

2,387.1

2,325.4

£8.85

£8.57

£8.36

£8.83

£8.54

£8.32

£9.12

£8.88

£8.69

Current assets

Total assets
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings
Derivative financial instruments
Total liabilities
Net assets
Equity
Share capital
Share premium
Share based payments reserve

Net asset value per share:
Basic
Diluted
1

EPRA

Note:
1. Please see Table 2 below in Part B of this section for a reconciliation between IFRS net asset value per share and
EPRA net asset value per share. Please see page 16 of the Guarantor's 2017 Interim Statement and page 160 of the
Guarantor's 2016 Annual Report and Accounts for an explanation of EPRA net asset value per share used above.
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Part B
Table 1: EPRA earnings per share reconciliation to IFRS
Six-months ended
31.3.2017
£m

Year ended
30.9.2016
£m

Year ended
30.9.2015
£m

102.4

99.1

467.3

IFRS profit after tax
Adjusted for:
-

Change in value of investment properties

(61.6)

(108.3)

(432.0)

-

Profit on disposal of investment properties

(0.3)

-

-

-

Change in fair value of financial instruments

(16.1)

34.9

28.5

-

Recognition of fair value of Debenture Stock

-

29.2

-

Adjustments in respect of the Longmartin joint
venture:
-

Change in value of investment properties

(1.5)

(11.3)

(34.6)

-

Deferred tax

(0.1)

(4.6)

6.9

EPRA earnings
EPRA EPS

22.8
8.2p

39.0
14.0p

36.1
13.0p

31.3.2017
£m

30.9.2016
£m

30.9.2015
£m

2,468.9

2,387.1

2,325.4

0.5

0.5

0.4

2,469.4

2,387.6

2,325.8

63.9

76.1

79.2

17.9

18.0

22.6

2,551.2
£9.12

2,481.7
£8.88

2,427.6
£8.69

Table 2: EPRA net asset value per share reconciliation to IFRS

IFRS net assets
Effect of exercise of options
Diluted net assets
Adjusted for:
-

Fair value of financial instruments

Adjustments in respect of the Longmartin joint
venture:
-

Deferred tax

EPRA NAV
EPRA NAV per share

67

Valuation Report
[BLANK PAGE]

68

Valuation of:
Properties in Chinatown
Prepared for

Shaftesbury PLC and Shaftesbury
Chinatown PLC
Valuation Date:

18 August 2017

69

Cushman & Wakefield | Shaftesbury PLC and
Shaftesbury Chinatown PLC
Valuation Date: 18 August 2017

Valuation Record
Valuation of: Properties in Chinatown

TABLE OF CONTENTS
Valuation Record........................................................................................... 71
1.

Instructions.................................................................................................................... 72

2.

Basis of valuation .......................................................................................................... 74

3.

Taxation and costs ...................................................................................................... 755

4.

VAT ............................................................................................................................. 755

5.

Property information.................................................................................................... 755

6.

Valuation ..................................................................................................................... 766

7.

Modification And Alterations ......................................................................................... 77

8.

Reliance ........................................................................................................................ 77

Appendix A: VALUATION SERVICES SCHEDULE ("VSS") ........................ 78
Appendix B: ADDRESS, TENURE AND VALUE........................................... 99

70

Cushman & Wakefield
43/45 Portman Square
London
W1A 3BG
Tel
020 7935 5000
Fax
020 7152 5360
www.cushmanwakefield.com

VALUATION RECORD
To:

Shaftesbury PLC (the “Guarantor”)
22 Ganton Street
Carnaby
LONDON
W1F 7FD

National Australia Bank Limited (ABN
12 004 044 937) (together with IDCM
and Lloyds, the “Joint Lead
Managers”)
Level 2
88 Wood Street
London EC2V 7QQ

IDCM Limited (”IDCM”)
26 Dover Street
LONDON
W1S 4LY

Prudential Trustee Company Limited
(the “Trustee”)

Lloyds Bank plc (“Lloyds”)

Laurence Pountney Hill
LONDON
EC4R 0HH

10 Gresham Street
LONDON
EC2V 7AE

Shaftesbury Chinatown PLC (the
“Issuer”)
22 Ganton Street
Carnaby
LONDON
W1F 7FD
(“you”)

Property:

The address, tenure and property type of each part of the property (the
"Property") is included in the Property Record section.

Report date:

05/09/2017

Valuation date:

18/08/2017

Our reference:

170EFN00

("Valuation Date")
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1.

Instructions

1.1.

Appointment

Valuation Record
Valuation of: Properties in Chinatown

We are pleased to submit our report and valuation (the “Valuation Report”), which has been
prepared in accordance with the engagement letter entered into between us, the Guarantor and
the Issuer dated 14 August 2017 (the “Engagement Letter”). This engagement letter and the
terms set out therein constitute the “Engagement”.
Included in the Engagement is the Valuation Services Schedule, the form of which is set out as
Appendix A (save for Appendix 3 – Forms of Prospectus Letters) ("VSS"). It is essential to
understand that the contents of this Valuation Report are subject to the various matters we have
assumed, which are referred to and confirmed as Assumptions in the VSS. Unless otherwise
defined, all capitalised terms herein shall be as defined in the VSS.
We have valued the property interests in the above Property.
A list of the addresses of each of the buildings which comprise the Property, together with a
note of their tenure, is included in Appendix B.

1.2.

Compliance with RICS Valuation – Global Standards
We confirm that the valuation and Valuation Report have been prepared in accordance with the
RICS Valuation – Global Standards which incorporate the International Valuation Standards
(“IVS”) and the RICS UK Valuation Standards (the “RICS Red Book”) edition current at the
Valuation Date. It follows that the valuation is compliant with IVS.

1.3.

Status of Valuer and Conflicts of Interest
We confirm that all valuers who have contributed to the valuation have complied with the
requirements of PS 1 of the RICS Red Book. We confirm that we have sufficient current
knowledge of the relevant markets, and the skills and understanding to undertake the valuation
competently. We confirm that Charles Smith has overall responsibility for the valuation and is in
a position to provide an objective and unbiased valuation and is competent to undertake the
valuation. Finally, we confirm that we have undertaken the valuation acting as an External
Valuer as defined in the RICS Red Book.
As you are aware, Cushman and Wakefield have previous involvement with the separate
properties which comprise the Property in that Cushman and Wakefield have valued them for
the purposes of the Guarantor’s accounts for many years and are instructed to act on behalf of
the Guarantor as retail agents in respect of other properties owned by the Guarantor.

1.4.

Purpose of Valuation
The purpose of this Valuation Report is for inclusion in a prospectus (the “Prospectus”) for the
issue by the Issuer of £290,000,000 2.348 per cent. guaranteed first mortgage bonds due 2027
(the “Bonds”) and because the Property will be mortgaged to the Trustee to secure the
repayment of the Bonds (the "Purpose of the Valuation Report"). The valuation is to be relied
upon only by the addressees of the Valuation Report and investors in the Bonds (the
"Investors"), only in connection with this purpose.
In accordance with PS 2.5 and UKVS 4 of the RICS Red Book we have made certain
disclosures in connection with this valuation instruction and our relationship with the Guarantor
and the Issuer. These are included in item 1.5 below.
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Disclosures required under the provisions of PS 2.5 and UKVS 4
2.

Charles Smith

C&W was first instructed to address a Valuation Report to the Guarantor in 1996. We currently
prepare Valuation Reports for the Guarantor’s consolidated accounts at six monthly intervals
and for the Issuer’s accounts annually. Charles Smith is the signatory of this Valuation Report
and he has been the signatory of Valuation Reports addressed to the Guarantor and its various
subsidiary companies for inclusion in its financial statements and accounts since 2013.
C&W endorses the RICS view that it is good practice to rotate the valuer responsible for
Regulated Purpose Valuations at intervals not exceeding seven years. C&W’s policy in this
regard is explained in the VSS.
3.

C&W's relationship with the Guarantor and its subsidiary companies

C&W have been carrying out valuation instructions for Shaftesbury PLC for a continuous period
since 1996.
In addition, we have carried out valuation instructions for inclusion in the financial statements
and accounts of the Guarantor and certain of its subsidiaries as follows:
i.

since 2005 we have also undertaken valuations of all the properties held by Shaftesbury
Covent Garden Limited, Shaftesbury Soho Limited, Shaftesbury Carnaby Limited and
the Issuer;

ii.

since September 2014, we have undertaken valuations for Shaftesbury CL Limited;

iii.

since March 2015, we have undertaken valuations for Shaftesbury AV Limited;

iv.

for the first time in 2016, we undertook a valuation of the property held by Helcon
Limited;

v.

for the first time in 2017, we undertook a valuation of the properties held by Shaftesbury
West End Limited; and

vi.

we also undertake valuations of certain of the Guarantor’s properties, and of certain of
the properties belonging to other subsidiary companies of the Guarantor, for other
purposes such as secured lending and for inclusion in shareholders' circulars.

C&W are retained as retail agents by the Guarantor in respect of properties owned by
Shaftesbury Carnaby Limited and Shaftesbury Soho Limited.
4.

Fee income from the Guarantor and its subsidiary companies

On 1 September 2015, DTZ acquired Cushman & Wakefield and the combined group now
trades under the Cushman & Wakefield brand. C&W's financial year end is 31 December. We
confirm that the proportion of fees payable by the Guarantor and its subsidiary companies to
C&W in the financial year ended 31 December 2016 was less than 5%. We anticipate that the
proportion of fees expected for the financial year ending 31 December 2017 will remain at less
than 5%.

1.6.

Inspections
The commercial elements of the Property have been inspected internally and externally by Mark
Gleave MRICS, Harry Kevill MRICS, Tom Barbour MRICS and James Burgess MRICS between
12 September 2016 and 10 August 2017, with the majority of the inspections having taken place
within the last six weeks. We were able to inspect all of the commercial elements of the Property
st
nd
nd
rd
apart from 1 & 2 floors, 72 Shaftesbury Avenue; 2 floor, 68 Shaftesbury Avenue; 3 floor
nd
(rear), 39 Gerrard Street and 2 floor (front) 36 Gerrard Street. Approximately a quarter of the
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residential units have been inspected internally by Giles Wickham MRICS between 30 August
2016 and 11 August 2017.

1.7.

Floor areas
Unless specified otherwise, floor areas and analysis in this Valuation Report are based on the
following bases of measurement, as defined in RICS Property Measurement (the edition current
at the Valuation Date):

1.8.

Office

NIA

Restaurant

NIA

Retail

NIA

Residential

GIA

Accommodation
5.

Source of Floor Areas

The Guarantor or their professional advisers have provided us with the majority of the floor
areas of the Property. These have been calculated by the Guarantor’s managing agents and
rent review advisers. As instructed, we have relied on these areas.
Where we have been provided with floor areas by the Guarantor or their professional advisers,
we have carried out check measurements on site of around 10% of these areas. There was no
material difference between our measured areas and the areas provided by the Guarantor or
their professional advisers; consequently, we have adopted the areas provided.
In those instances where the Guarantor or their professional advisers have not provided us with
floor areas, we have measured the relevant parts of the Property on site.

1.9.

Sources of Information
In addition to information established by us, we have relied on the information obtained from the
Issuer and Guarantor and its professional advisers.
We have made the Assumption (as that term is defined in the VSS) that the information
provided by the Issuer and Guarantor and its professional advisers in respect of the Property is
both full and correct. We have made the further Assumption that details of all matters relevant
to value within their collective knowledge, such as prospective lettings, rent reviews,
outstanding requirements under legislation and planning decisions, have been made available
to us, and that such information is up to date.
We have been provided with copies of Certificates of Title (the “Certificates of Title”) prepared
by DLA Piper UK LLP dated 18 August 2017. Save as disclosed in the Certificates of Title, we
have made an Assumption that the Issuer is possessed of good and marketable freehold and
leasehold title and that the Property is free from rights of way or easements, restrictive
covenants, disputes or onerous or unusual outgoings. We have also assumed that the Property
is free from mortgages, charges or other encumbrances.

2.

Basis of valuation
Our opinion of the Fair Value of the Property has been primarily derived using comparable
recent market transactions on arm's length terms.

74

Cushman & Wakefield | Shaftesbury PLC and
Shaftesbury Chinatown PLC
Valuation Date: 18 August 2017

6.

Valuation Record
Valuation of: Properties in Chinatown

Fair Value - IFRS

The value of the Property has been assessed in accordance with the relevant parts of the
current RICS Red Book. In particular, we have assessed the Fair Value as referred to in VPS4
item 7 of the RICS Red Book. Under these provisions, the term "Fair Value" means the
definition adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) in IFRS 13, namely
"The price that would be received to sell an asset, or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date".
We confirm that, had we valued the Property on the basis of Market Value (as defined in
Appendix 2 of the VSS) at the Valuation Date, the Market Value would have been the same as
that reported in 6 below.
Under IFRS 13, The Fair Value Hierarchy, the Property we have valued is designated as a
Level 3 input. Level 3 inputs have been designated as unobservable inputs. Unobservable
inputs are used to measure fair value to the extent that relevant observable inputs are not
available, thereby allowing for situations in which there is little, if any, market activity for the
asset or liability at the measurement date. An entity develops unobservable inputs using the
best information available in the circumstances, which might include the entity's own data,
taking into account all information about market participant assumptions that is reasonably
available. [IFRS 13:87-89].

3.

Taxation and costs
We have not made any adjustment to reflect any liability to taxation that may arise on disposal,
nor for any costs associated with disposal incurred by the owner. No allowance has been made
to reflect any liability to repay any government or other grants, taxation allowance or lottery
funding that may arise on disposal.
We have made a deduction to reflect a purchaser's acquisition costs.

4.

VAT
The Guarantor has advised us that the option to tax has been exercised in respect of all the
commercial elements of the Property with the exception of 17 Gerrard Street and 1 Newport
Place.
The capital valuations and rentals included in this Valuation Report are net of value added tax at
the prevailing rate.

5.

Property information

5.1.

Enquiries
We have made various enquiries relating to the Property, details of which can be found in the
VSS.
The results of our enquiries and inspections do not contradict the Assumptions which we have
made and are referred to in the VSS.
As stated in the VSS, in accordance with the Guarantor’s previous instructions, we have not
made enquiries of the relevant planning authorities but have had regard to the Planning Report
prepared by the Guarantor’s planning advisers, Rolfe Judd, dated 18 August 2017.
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Valuation
We are of the opinion that the Fair Value of the freehold and leasehold interests in the Property,
subject to the existing tenancies, as at the Valuation Date, subject to the Assumptions and
comments in this Valuation Report and the Appendices was:

Part freehold, part long leasehold

£527,085,000 (Five hundred and
million, eighty-five thousand pounds)

twenty-seven

Total

£527,085,000 (Five hundred and
million, eighty-five thousand pounds)

twenty-seven

The majority of the Property is held freehold but also includes 26/27 Lisle Street, parts of 100124 Shaftesbury Avenue, 47-49 Charing Cross Road and Central Cross (all as defined in
Appendix 1 of the VSS), all of which are held on long leases.
Long leasehold is defined as an interest with an unexpired term of more than 50 years.
We have valued the Property as a single lot. However, we have undertaken a notional
apportionment of the Fair Value between the freehold and long leasehold elements of the
Property as follows:-

Freehold

£388,285,000 (Three hundred and eighty-eight million, two
hundred and eighty-five thousand pounds)

Long leasehold

£138,800,000 (One hundred and thirty-eight million, eight
hundred thousand pounds)

TOTAL

£527,085,000 (Five hundred
eighty-five thousand pounds)

and

twenty-seven

million,

The individual freehold and long leasehold figures above do not themselves represent the Fair
Value of the two elements.
The valuation is required for inclusion in the Prospectus in relation to the issue of the Bonds
and, accordingly, the basis of value is Fair Value as this is the basis adopted for the purposes of
the Issuer’s accounts. We confirm that, had we valued the Property on the basis of Market
Value at the Valuation Date, the Market Value would have been the same as the above. The
definition of Market Value is included in VPS 4, Item 4 of the RICS Red Book and means "The
estimated amount for which an asset or liability should exchange on the valuation date between
a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm's length transaction after proper marketing and
where the parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion."
The Fair Value of the Property as at the Valuation Date referred to above compares with the
Fair Value of those parts of the Property in the ownership of the Issuer as at 30 September
2016 of £505,475,000, as included in the Annual Report and Accounts of the Issuer at that date.
The movement in value during the period since 30 September 2016 is due to changes in the
input variables underlying the valuation including, but not limited to, changes in market yields
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and rental values across the different streets, buildings and property uses. It also takes into
account improvements made to, acquisitions or disposals of, or changes of use of, the Property
during the period or under way at the Valuation Date, together with any resulting changes to
outstanding capital expenditure and, in particular, the practical completion of works to that part
of the Property known as Central Cross.

7.

Modification And Alterations
This Valuation Report or any part of it may not be modified, altered (including altering the
context in which the Valuation Report is displayed) or reproduced without our prior written
consent. Any person who breaches this provision shall indemnify us against all claims, costs,
losses and expenses that we may suffer as a result of such breach.
To the fullest extent permitted by law, we hereby exclude all liability arising from use of and/or
reliance on this Valuation Report by any person or persons except as otherwise set out herein
or in the VSS.

8.

Reliance
For the purposes of Prospectus Rule 5.5.4(R)(2)(f), we are responsible for this Valuation Report
and accept responsibility for the information contained in this Valuation Report and confirm that
to the best of our knowledge (having taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case),
the information contained in this Valuation Report is in accordance with the facts and contains
no omissions likely to affect its import. This Valuation Report complies with Rule 5.6.5G of the
Prospectus Rules and paragraphs 128 to 130 of CESR’s recommendations for the consistent
implementation of the European Commission’s Regulation on Prospectuses no. 809/2004.

Signed for and on behalf of Cushman & Wakefield Debenham Tie Leung Limited.

Charles Smith MRICS
International Partner
RICS Registered Valuer
+44 (0)20 7152 5215
charles.smith@cushwake.com
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APPENDIX A:
VALUATION SERVICES SCHEDULE ("VSS")
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Services Schedule – Valuation & Advisory
Type of Instructions:

Valuation and Advisory

Property Details:

Appendix 1 includes the address, tenure and property type of each part of the
property (the "Property") to be valued ("Property Schedule").

The Property is held by Shaftesbury Chinatown PLC (the “Issuer”), a
subsidiary company of Shaftesbury PLC, which two companies are collectively
referred to as the “Client”.

Client Instructions:

The Client has instructed Cushman & Wakefield (“C&W”) to:

a. Undertake a valuation of the legal interests in the Property described in the
Property Schedule ("Valuation")
b. Provide a valuation report in the format referred to in the 'Scope of Services'
section below ("Valuation Report") for the following purpose of valuation
("Purpose of Valuation"):
•

Addressees:

for inclusion in a prospectus for the issue by the Issuer of bonds (the
“Prospectus”) and because the Property will be mortgaged to the
Prudential Trustee Company Limited (the “Trustee”) to secure the
repayment of the bonds (the "Purpose of the Valuation Report"). The
Valuation is to be relied upon only by the addressees of the Valuation
Report and investors in the bonds ("Investors"), only in connection with
this purpose.

The Valuation Report will be addressed to Shaftesbury PLC (as Guarantor),
Shaftesbury Chinatown PLC (as Issuer), IDCM Limited, Lloyds Banking Group
plc and National Australia Bank Limited (ABN 12 004 044 937) (as Joint Lead
Managers) and Prudential Trustee Company Limited (as Trustee) (collectively
known as the “Addressees”) and may be relied on only by the Addressees and
the Investors, only for the Purpose of Valuation (as defined).
We will not have any duty, obligation or liability, whether in terms of amount,
nature or scope, to the Addressees which is greater than that which we have to
the Client if the Addressees had together been the Client. Our total aggregate
liability to the Client and the Addressees shall be limited to a maximum of £75
million as detailed in the “Special and Additional Terms” below.
In accordance with current practice, no responsibility is accepted to any other
party in respect of the whole or any parts of its contents unless expressly
provided for in the Valuation Report or the Engagement Letter.

Timetable:

C&W will provide a final Valuation Report in time for inclusion in the
Prospectus.

Period of
Appointment:

N/A

Scope of Services:

Included in the Services are:
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a. Valuation Report
Providing a Valuation Report that will be prepared in English. C&W will
provide one electronic copy of the Valuation Report and, if requested, one
signed hard copy.

As agreed, C&W will not provide full details of the valuation approach and
reasoning in the Valuation Report but will provide a Valuation Report in a
similarly condensed format to that provided for the purposes of the
accounts of Shaftesbury PLC as at 31 March 2017. The Valuation Report
will incorporate a schedule summarising brief details of the Property and its
Fair Value as at 18 August 2017 (the “Valuation Date”).
For the purposes of the valuation, we will group together the properties
which comprise the Property as a single lot, to be known as the Central
Chinatown Block, as this is the manner we consider would be adopted in
the event of an actual sale.
b. Currency
Providing a Valuation in UK pounds sterling (£).
c. Inspections
The Property will be inspected externally. Those commercial parts of the
Property which have not been inspected internally within the last 12
months, in connection with the rolling programme of inspections which we
undertake for the purposes of the valuations for accounts purposes, will be
inspected internally.
d. Floor Areas
Where floor areas are provided by the Client’s professional advisers or
where the Client is able to identify the source of floor areas, we will apply
such floor areas provided by the Client or its professional advisers. We shall
make an Assumption (as defined herein) that these areas have been
measured and calculated in accordance with the RICS Professional
Statement RICS Property Measurement 1st Edition 2015 (the “Code”). We
will carry out check measurements on site of around 10% (by lettable units)
of these areas and calculate areas in accordance with the Code.
Where the Client’s professional advisers are unable to provide floor areas
or the Client is unable to identify the source of floor areas, we will measure
the relevant parts of the Property (or parts thereof) from scaled floor plans
or on site and calculate such areas in accordance with the Code.
The RICS Practice Statement “RICS Property Measurement” requires office
buildings to be measured in accordance with International Property
Measurement Standards (“IPMS”), unless the client confirms in writing that
alternative methodology be used. However, in accordance with your
previous request, we will not measure in accordance with IPMS, as you
have no use for such data given that at present it is rare for market activity
to be based on IPMS measurements.
e. Tenancies & Leasing
We will not read leases but will rely on the tenancy schedule and lease
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summaries to be prepared by your solicitors DLA Piper.
f.

Environmental Matters (including Flooding)
Reviewing the relevant Local Authority websites regarding environmental
matters, including contamination and flooding (subject to the provisions of
item 5 of the Assumptions). We shall also make enquiries of the
Environment Agency website regarding flooding. For the avoidance of
doubt, C&W will not undertake an environmental assessment or prepare a
land quality statement, which would be the responsibility of an
environmental consultant or chartered environmental surveyor. In this
respect, C&W will have regard to any environmental reports provided to
C&W (subject to the provisions of item 5 of the Assumptions).

g. Title
Reading a Certificate of Title where this is provided to C&W and C&W will
reflect its contents in the Valuation (subject to the provisions of item 7 of the
Assumptions).
C&W will not inspect the title deeds of the Property.
Unless agreed in writing in advance with the Client, C&W will not obtain
information from the Land Registry.
h. Condition of Structure & Services, Deleterious Materials and Ground
Conditions
Taking into account the general condition of the Property as observed from
the inspection (subject to item 8 of the Assumptions). Where a separate
condition or structural survey has been undertaken and made available to
C&W, C&W will reflect the contents of the survey or condition report in the
Valuation Report, but may need to discuss the survey or condition report
with the originating surveyor.
i.

Statutory Requirements and Planning
As previously instructed in connection with the regular valuations for
accounts purposes, we will not make enquiries of the relevant planning
authorities in respect of the Property to be valued. We will have regard to
the Planning Report to be provided by your planning advisers and, if
appropriate, make verbal enquiries of them, as to the possibility of highway
proposals, comprehensive development schemes and other ancillary
planning matters that could affect property values.

Where C&W is engaged to prepare a Valuation Report in connection with a
proposed transaction in respect of the Property, expressly excluded from the
Services is the provision of any recommendation or otherwise by C&W as to
whether to proceed with such a proposed transaction. Accordingly the Client
must not in any circumstances construe the Valuation Report as a
recommendation whether or not to proceed with such a proposed transaction.
Basis of
Appointment:

C&W confirms that:
a. The Valuation and Valuation Report will be prepared in accordance with the
appropriate sections of the current edition of the RICS Valuation – Global
Standards which incorporate the International Valuation Standards (“IVS”)
and the RICS UK Valuation Standards (the "RICS Red Book"). In this
context "current edition" means the version in force at the Valuation Date. .
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b. The Valuation will be undertaken by a suitably qualified valuer, or valuers,
who has or have the knowledge, skills and understanding to undertake the
Valuation competently and who will act as "External Valuer(s)" (as defined
in the Red Book) qualified for the Purpose of Valuation.
C&W does not (and any affiliates of C&W do not) act as external valuers as
defined under the Alternative Investment Fund Managers Directive
("AIFMD") legislation, or its equivalent under local law. C&W expressly
disclaims any responsibility or obligations under AIFMD and/or its
equivalent unless expressly agreed in writing in advance by C&W.
C&W have carried out valuation instructions for the Client, including
valuations of parts of the subject Property, since 1996. We have previously
been involved in advising the Client in connection with the acquisition or
disposal of certain properties (but not the subject Property) and were
previously instructed to act as letting agents in respect of certain of the
Client’s office accommodation.

C&W are currently instructed to act on behalf of the Client as retail agents
in the Carnaby and Soho villages and also for Longmartin Properties
Limited, a joint venture company owned in equal shares by Shaftesbury
PLC and the Mercers’ Company.
We do not consider that this involvement gives rise to a conflict of interest in
connection with the current exercise.
c. The proposed Valuation is a "Regulated Purpose Valuation" (as defined in
the Red Book). C&W confirms that the Property does not include any
interests which have been acquired by the Client within the 12 months
preceding the Valuation Date and in respect of which C&W has either
received an introductory fee or negotiated that purchase on behalf of the
Client.
In accordance with the provisions of UK VS 4.2 of the Red Book, in terms of
any future acquisitions, C&W would be unable to undertake a valuation of a
property acquired by a C&W client within the twelve months preceding the
Valuation Date if, in relation to that property, C&W received an introductory
fee or negotiated the purchase on behalf of that client unless another firm,
unconnected with C&W, has provided a valuation of that property for the
client at the time of or since the transaction was agreed.
In accordance with PS 2.5 and UKVS 4 of the RICS Red Book, the
Valuation Report will set out the length of time Charles Smith has been the
signatory to valuations provided to the Client for accounts purposes, the
extent and duration of C&W's relationship with the Client and the proportion
of C&W's total fee income made up by the fees payable by the Client (to the
nearest five percentage points). C&W will require these disclosures to be
made in any published references to the Valuation Report.
In accordance with PS 2.5 of the RICS Red Book, C&W confirm our policy
on rotation of the valuer accepting responsibility for Regulated Purpose
Valuations and a statement of the quality control procedures that C&W has
in place, as follows:
"C&W endorses the RICS view that it is good practice to rotate the valuer
responsible for Regulated Purpose Valuations at intervals of not more than
seven years, unless there are overriding circumstances to the contrary.
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C&W discusses the method of rotation of the signatory to Regulated
Purpose Valuation reports with its clients.

Inclusion in a
Prospectus:

C&W operates internal quality control procedures throughout its valuation
practice including a system whereby the valuation of property meeting
certain criteria requires the approval of an internal Value Committee."
a. The Valuation Report is required for inclusion in a prospectus (the
"Prospectus") for the issue by the Issuer of the Guaranteed First Mortgage
Bonds (the “Bonds”) and the Property will be mortgaged to the Trustee to
secure the repayment of the Bonds.
b. C&W understands that the Prospectus, containing the final Valuation
Report, will be approved by the FCA. C&W will therefore provide a final
copy of the Valuation Report to be incorporated into the Prospectus,
together with a consent letter (the “Prospectus Consent Letter”) by which
C&W consents to the inclusion of the Valuation Report within the
Prospectus and any supplementary prospectus provided that (i) C&W has
first approved the form in which the Valuation Report is to appear within the
Prospectus and (ii) the Prospectus Consent Letter is factually correct.
c. In addition, C&W will provide a bringdown letter (the "Bringdown Letter"),
on:
i)

the date of publication of each of the Prospectus and any
supplementary prospectus; and
ii) the date of admission to trading of the Bonds
such dates to be notified to C&W by the Addressees, and address it to the
Client and any person who we have allowed to rely on the Valuation Report
for the Purpose of Valuation (excluding members of the general public). If
necessary, and subject to agreement as to any additional fees, C&W will
update and re-issue the Valuation Report to the Addressees.
d. C&W will include the following confirmation in the Valuation Report:
"For the purposes of Prospectus Rule 5.5.4(R)(2)(f), we are responsible for
this Valuation Report and accept responsibility for the information contained
in this Valuation Report and confirm that to the best of our knowledge
(having taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case), the
information contained in this Valuation Report is in accordance with the
facts and contains no omissions likely to affect its import. This Valuation
Report complies with Rule 5.6.5G of the Prospectus Rules and paragraphs
128 to 130 of CESR’s recommendations for the consistent implementation
of the European Commission’s Regulation on Prospectuses no. 809/2004."
e. In addition to reproduction of the full text, other sections of the Prospectus
may contain certain information extracted from the Valuation Report. If so,
C&W will confirm in a letter whether such information has been properly and
accurately extracted or computed from the Valuation Report (the "Correct
Extraction Letter").
f.

Except for any responsibility and/or liability arising under: (i) Prospectus
Rule 5.5.4R(2)(f) to any person as and to the extent provided under the
Prospectus Rules; (ii) the Engagement Letter to each of the addressees of
the Engagement Letter and (iii) the Valuation Report to each of the
Addressees and the Investors, to the fullest extent permitted by law we do
not assume any responsibility and will not accept any liability to any other
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person for any loss suffered by any such other person as a result of, arising
out of, or in accordance with the Valuation Report or our statement set out
above at sub-paragraph (d) required by and given solely for the purposes of
complying with item 1.2 of Annex IX of Commission Regulation (EC) No
809/2004.
Fees:
Special and
Additional Terms:

C&W's fee for undertaking the Services has been confirmed in separate
correspondence.
1. Basis of Valuation
In accordance with the Client's instructions, C&W will undertake the
Valuation on the following basis:
Fair Value – IFRS
The definition of the above basis is set out in Appendix 2 (the "Definitions
Schedule").
2. Special Assumptions
N/A
3. Use of Valuation Report

The Valuation Report may be used only for the Purpose of Valuation
referred to in item (b) of 'Client Instructions' in this Services Schedule.
4. Areas

Where C&W measures and calculates the floor areas, measurement will be
in accordance with the Code.
The RICS Practice Statement "RICS Property Measurement" (effective from
1 January 2016) requires office buildings to be measured in accordance
with IPMS, unless the Client confirms in writing that alternative methodology
should be used. Unless the Client so instructs C&W otherwise in writing,
C&W will assume that the Client does not require C&W to measure office
buildings in accordance with IPMS on the basis that the Client has no use
for such data given that at present it is rare for market activity to be based
on IPMS measurements.
The areas C&W report will be appropriate for the Purpose of Valuation, but
should not be relied upon for any other purpose.
5. Group of Properties / Lotting

Unless C&W has confirmed otherwise in this Services Schedule, each
property will be valued individually; in the case of a portfolio, C&W will
assume that each of the properties would be marketed in an orderly way
and not placed on the market at the same time.
6. Limitations

N/A
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7. Limitation of Liability

C&W's total aggregate liability to the Addressees of the Valuation Report
(including the Client), arising out of, under or in connection with this
Engagement shall be limited to a maximum of £75 million.
Where more than one value basis is adopted, the Market Value of the
Property shall be the Market Value without Special Assumptions; or, if this
basis is not included in the Valuation Report, the value basis most similar to
the Market Value without Special Assumptions, as referred to in the
Definitions Schedule.
Where the Services relate to more than one property, C&W's maximum
liability in respect of an individual property shall be in the same proportion to
the total aggregate liability as such individual property's reported value is to
the aggregate reported value.
8. Disclosure and Syndication

The provision of the services is for the Client's benefit only. If C&W is
subsequently asked to extend responsibility to other parties, then there will
be an additional fee payable, to be agreed, to cover C&W's additional time
costs, indemnity and insurance liabilities subject to a minimum of £500, plus
VAT.
9. Age of Building
If C&W states the age of a building in the Valuation Report, this will be an
estimate and for guidance only.
10. Condition of Structure, Foundations, Soil & Services
It is a condition of C&W or any related entity, or any qualified employee,
providing advice and opinions as to value, that the Client and/or third
parties (whether notified to C&W or not) accept that the Valuation Report in
no way relates to, or gives warranties as to, the condition of the structure,
foundations, soil and services.
11. Plant & Machinery
No allowance will made by C&W for any items of plant or machinery not
forming part of the service installations of the buildings which comprise the
Property. C&W will specifically exclude all items of plant, machinery and
equipment installed wholly or primarily in connection with any of the
occupants' businesses. C&W will also exclude furniture and furnishings,
fixtures, fittings, vehicles, stock and loose tools, except where such items
would ordinarily transfer to a prospective purchaser in the sale of a trading
business as a going concern in accordance with VPGA4 of the Red Book.
12. Goodwill
No account will be taken by C&W in the Valuation of any business goodwill
that may arise from the present occupation of the Property, except where
such business goodwill (excluding any personal goodwill) would ordinarily
transfer to a prospective purchaser in the sale of a trading business as a
going concern in accordance with VPGA4 of the Red Book.
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13. Statutory Requirements & Planning
Please note the fact that employees of town planning departments now
always give information on the basis that it should not be relied upon and
that formal searches should be made if more certain information is required.
Where a Client needs to rely upon the information given about town
planning matters, the Client's legal advisers must be instructed to institute
such formal searches. C&W recommends that the Client requests C&W to
review its comments and Valuation in light of any resultant findings.
14. Defective Premises Act 1972
No allowance will be made by C&W for rights, obligations or liabilities
arising under the Defective Premises Act 1972.
15. Legal Issues
Legal issues, and in particular the interpretation of matters relating to title
and leases, may have a significant bearing on the value of an interest in
property. No responsibility or liability will be accepted by C&W for the true
interpretation of the legal position of the Client or any other parties in
respect of the Valuation. Where C&W expresses an opinion on legal issues
affecting the Valuation, then such opinion is subject to verification by the
Client with a suitable qualified legal adviser.
16. Deduction of Notional Purchaser's Costs
The opinion of value which C&W will attribute to the Property will be the
figure C&W considers would appear in a contract for sale, subject to the
appropriate assumptions for the Basis of Valuation reported. Where
appropriate, C&W will make an allowance in respect of stamp duty and
purchaser's costs.
The Client's attention is drawn to the fact that when assessing Market
Value, Fair Value or Existing Use Value for balance sheet purposes, C&W
will not include directly attributable acquisition or disposal costs in the
Valuation. Where C&W is requested to reflect these costs, they will be
stated separately.
17. Taxation & Disposal Costs
No adjustment will be made by C&W to reflect any liability to taxation that
may arise on disposal, or development of the Property nor for any costs
associated with disposal incurred by the Owner. Furthermore, no allowance
will be made by C&W to reflect any liability to repay any government or
other grants, taxation allowance or lottery funding that may arise on
disposal.
C&W's valuation figure for each of the Property will be that receivable by a
willing seller excluding VAT, if applicable.
18. Building Society Act 1986
C&W confirms that it is not disqualified under Section 13 of the Building
Societies Act 1986 from reporting to the Client.
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19. Properties in the Course of Development or Requiring Repair /
Refurbishment and Recently Completed Developments
Unless specifically agreed in writing to the contrary, C&W's fee assumes
that C&W will be provided with information relating to construction and
associated costs in respect of both the work completed and the work
necessary for completion, together with a completion date. Normally such
figures will be provided by the professional advisers involved in the
construction programme. Unless specifically instructed to the contrary in
writing, C&W will rely on such figures, and the Client should make this fact
known to such advisers. Alternatively, on request, C&W can arrange for
independent quantity surveyors to provide an assessment at an additional
fee charge. If the Valuation is for lending purposes, the Client is advised to
seek independent advice and to consider the appointment of a project
monitoring surveyor.
20. Monitoring
The compliance of the valuations undertaken in accordance with the Red
Book may be subject to monitoring by the RICS under its conduct and
disciplinary regulations.
21. Valuation Components
The components of C&W's valuation calculations (such as future rental
values, cost allowances, or void periods) may only be appropriate as part of
the valuation calculations and should not be taken as a forecast or
prediction of a future outcome. The Client should not rely on any
component of the valuation calculations for any other purpose.
Assumptions:

1. Assumptions
The Red Book contains a glossary that defines various terms used in the
Red Book that have a special or restricted meaning. One such term is an
assumption which is defined as "a supposition taken to be true"
("Assumption"). Accordingly in this context, C&W will make certain
Assumptions in relation to facts, conditions or situations affecting the
subject of, or approach to, the Valuation that C&W will not verify as part of
the valuation process but rather, in accordance with the definition in the
Red Book, will treat as true. In the event that any of these Assumptions
prove to be incorrect then the Valuation will need to be reviewed.
2. Confirmation of Assumptions
The Client's counter-signature of the Engagement Letter represents
confirmation that all of the Assumptions referenced below, are correct.
The Client must promptly notify C&W in writing if any of the Assumptions
are incorrect. Should any amendment to the Assumptions set out in this
Services Schedule result in an increase in the scope of the Engagement
this may result in an appropriate increase in C&W's fees and expenses due
under the Engagement.
3. Areas
Where C&W is provided with floor areas, C&W will make an Assumption
that the areas have been measured and calculated in accordance with the
Code.
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4. Tenancies and Leasing
C&W's opinion of the Market Value or Fair Value will be subject to existing
leases of which the Client or its advisors have made C&W aware but
otherwise will reflect an Assumption of vacant possession. Where C&W
has undertaken to read the leases and related documents provided to it,
C&W will make an Assumption that copies of all relevant documents will be
sent to C&W and that they are complete and up to date.
Where C&W relies on tenancy and lease information provided to it, unless
such information reveals otherwise, C&W will make the Assumption that all
occupational leases are on full repairing and insuring terms, with no
unusual or onerous provisions or covenants that would affect value.
C&W will make an Assumption that vacant possession can be given of all
accommodation which is unlet or occupied by the entity/borrower or its
employees on service tenancies. C&W will not take account of any leases
between subsidiaries unless C&W states otherwise in this Services
Schedule.
C&W will not undertake investigations into the financial strength of any
tenants unless otherwise referred to in the Valuation Report. Unless C&W
has become aware by general knowledge, or has been specifically advised
to the contrary, C&W will make an Assumption that:
a. where a Property is occupied under leases then the tenants are
financially in a position to meet their obligations, and
b. there are no material arrears of rent or service charges, breaches of
covenant, current or anticipated tenant disputes.
However, the Valuation will reflect a potential purchaser's likely opinion of
the credit worthiness of the type of tenants actually in occupation or
responsible for meeting lease commitments, or likely to be in occupation.
C&W will take into account any information the Client or its advisors provide
concerning tenants' improvements. Otherwise, if the extent of tenants'
alterations or improvements cannot be confirmed, C&W will make an
Assumption that the Property was let with all alterations and improvements
evident during C&W's inspection (or, in the case of a Valuation without
internal inspection, as described within the information provided by the
Client).
C&W will also make an Assumption that wherever rent reviews or lease
renewals are pending or impending, with anticipated reversionary changes,
all notices have been served validly within the appropriate time limits.
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5. Environmental Matters
If C&W's enquiries or any reports supplied to C&W indicate the existence of
environmental problems without providing method statements and costings
for remedial works, then C&W may not be able to issue a Valuation Report
except on the Special Assumption that the subject property is assumed
NOT to be affected by such environmental matters. In certain
circumstances, the making of such a Special Assumption may be unrealistic
and may be a departure from the requirements of the Red Book. In these
circumstances, the Valuation Report may include a recommendation that an
investigation should be undertaken to quantify the costs and that
subsequently the Valuation should be reviewed.
Where C&W's enquiries lead C&W to believe that the Property is unaffected
by contamination or other adverse environmental problems, including the
risk of flooding, then, unless the Client instructs C&W otherwise, the
Valuation will be based on an Assumption that no contamination or other
adverse environmental matters exist in relation to the Property sufficient to
affect value.
If the Property lies within or close to a flood plain, or has a history of
flooding, C&W will make the Assumption that building insurance is in place
and available to be renewed to the current or any subsequent owners of the
Property, without payment of an excessive premium or excess.
Depending on the nature of the investigations made and the information
revealed, the Valuation Report may include a statement that, in practice, a
purchaser might undertake further investigations and that if these revealed
contamination or other adverse environmental problems, then this might
reduce the value reported.
6. Mineral Rights
C&W will make an Assumption that any mineral rights are excluded from
the Property.
7. Title
Save as disclosed either in any Certificate of Title or unless specifically
advised to the contrary by the Client or its legal advisers and as referred to
in the Valuation Report, C&W will make the Assumption that there is good
and marketable title in all cases and that the Property is free from rights of
way or easements, restrictive covenants, disputes or onerous or unusual
outgoings. C&W will also make an assumption that the Property is free
from mortgages, charges or other encumbrances.
If verification of the accuracy of any site plans contained in the Valuation
Report is required, the matter must be referred to the Client's legal advisers.
C&W will make the Assumption that roads and sewers serving the Property
have been adopted and that the Property has all necessary rights of access
over common estate roads, paths, corridors and stairways, and rights to
use common parking areas, loading areas and other facilities.
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8. Condition of Structure and Services, Deleterious Materials and Ground
Conditions
Due regard will be paid by C&W to the apparent general state of repair and
condition of the Property, but a condition or structural survey will not be
undertaken, nor will woodwork or other parts of the structure which are
covered, unexposed or inaccessible, be inspected. Therefore, C&W will be
unable to report that the Property is structurally sound or is free from any
defects. C&W will make an Assumption that the Property is free from any
rot, infestation, adverse toxic chemical treatments, and structural, design or
any other defects other than such as may be mentioned in the Valuation
Report.
C&W will not arrange for investigations to be made to determine whether
any deleterious, hazardous or harmful materials (including but not limited to
high alumina cement concrete or calcium chloride additive) have been used
in the construction or any alterations, and therefore C&W will not be able to
confirm that the Property is free from risk in this regard. For the purposes
of the Valuation, C&W will make an Assumption that any such investigation
would not reveal the presence of such materials in any adverse condition.
C&W will not carry out an asbestos inspection and will not act as an
asbestos inspector in completing the valuation inspection of any parts of the
Property that may fall within the Control of the Asbestos at Work
Regulations 2002. C&W will not make an enquiry of the duty holder (as
defined in the Control of Asbestos of Work Regulations 2002), of an
existence of an Asbestos Register or of any plan for the management of
asbestos to be made. Where relevant, C&W will make an Assumption that
there is a duty holder, as defined in the Control of Asbestos of Work
Regulations 2002 and that a Register of Asbestos and Effective
Management Plan is in place, which does not require any immediate
expenditure, or pose a significant risk to health, or breach the HSE
regulations. C&W recommends that such enquiries be undertaken by the
Client's legal advisers during normal pre-contract or pre-loan enquiries.
No mining, geological or other investigations will be undertaken by C&W to
certify that the sites are free from any defect as to foundations. C&W will
make an Assumption that all buildings have been constructed having
appropriate regard to existing ground conditions or that these would have
no unusual or adverse effect on building costs, property values or viability of
any development or existing buildings.
C&W will make an Assumption that there are no services on, or crossing
the site in a position which would inhibit development or make it unduly
expensive, and that there are no archaeological remains present, which
might adversely affect the present or future occupation, development or
value of the Property.
No tests will be carried out by C&W as to electrical, electronic, heating,
plant and machinery equipment or any other services nor will the drains be
tested. However, C&W will make an Assumption that all building services
(including, but not limited to lifts, electrical, electronic, gas, plumbing,
heating, drainage, sprinklers, ventilation, air conditioning and security
systems) and property services (such as incoming mains, waste, drains,
utility supplies etc.) are in good working order and without any defect
whatsoever.
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9. Statutory Requirements and Planning
Save as disclosed in a Certificate of Title, or unless otherwise advised,
C&W shall make the Assumption that all of the buildings have been
constructed in full compliance with valid town planning and building
regulations approvals and that where necessary, they have the benefit of
current Fire Risk Assessments compliant with the requirements of the
Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005. Similarly, C&W shall also
make the Assumption that the Property is not subject to any outstanding
statutory notices as to construction, use or occupation and that all existing
uses of the Property are duly authorised or established and that no adverse
planning conditions or restrictions apply.
C&W shall make the Assumption that the Property complies with all
relevant statutory requirements.
Energy Performance Certificates ("EPC") must be made available for all
properties, when bought or sold, subject to certain exemptions. If any parts
of the Property are not exempt from the requirements of this Directive C&W
shall make an Assumption that an EPC is made available, free of charge, to
a purchaser of all the interests which are the subject of the Valuation.
In addition, in England and Wales the Minimum Energy Efficiency
Standards Regulations come into force in April 2018 and their effect will be
to make it unlawful to rent out a premises with an EPC rating which,
according to Government proposals issued in February 2015, falls below an
E rating. C&W will ask the Client or its advisors for information relating to
the EPC ratings of those parts of the Property not exempt from these
requirements. In any instance where C&W is not provided with an up to
date EPC rating C&W will make the Assumption that the subject property
meets the minimum requirements to enable it to be let after April 2018.
In Scotland, the Energy Performance of Non-Domestic Buildings (Scotland)
Regulation 2016 (the "Regulation") requires that qualifying properties have
an energy assessment completed and an action plan prepared prior to sale
or leasing. If a property is not exempt from the requirements of the
Regulation, C&W shall make an Assumption that an energy assessment
and action plan is made available, free of charge, to a purchaser of the
interests which are the subject of the Valuation and that there is no capital
expenditure required in order to comply with the requirements of the
Regulation.
In any instance where C&W is to value a property with the benefit of a
recently granted planning consent, or on the Special Assumption that
planning consent is granted, C&W will make an Assumption that it will not
be challenged under Judicial Review. Such a challenge can be brought by
anyone (even those with only a tenuous connection with the Property, or
the area in which it is located) within a period of three months of the
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granting of a planning consent. When a planning consent is granted
subject to a Section 106 Agreement, the three month period commences
when the Section 106 Agreement is signed by all parties.
If a planning consent is subject to Judicial Review, the Client must inform
C&W and request C&W to reconsider its opinion of value. Advice would be
required from the Client's legal advisers and a town planner, to obtain their
opinion of the potential outcomes of such a Judicial Review, which C&W will
reflect in its reconsideration of value.
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10. Information
C&W will make an Assumption that the information provided by the Client
and/or its professional advisers and/or by the Borrower and/or its
professional advisers in respect of the Property to be valued is both full and
correct. C&W will make an Assumption that details of all matters relevant
to value within their collective knowledge, including but not limited to
matters such as prospective lettings, rent reviews, outstanding
requirements under legislation and planning decisions, have been made
available to it, and that such information is up to date.
If the Valuation is required for the purpose of purchase, loan security or
other financial transaction, the Client accepts that full investigation of the
legal title and any leases is the responsibility of its legal advisers.
Where comparable evidence is included in the Valuation Report, this
information is often based on C&W's verbal enquiries and its accuracy
cannot always be assured, or may be subject to undertakings as to
confidentiality. However, such information would only be referred to where
C&W had reason to believe its general accuracy or where it was in
accordance with expectation. It is unlikely that C&W will have inspected
comparable properties.
11. Landlord and Tenant Act 1987
The Landlord and Tenant Act 1987 (the "1987 Act") gives certain rights to
defined residential tenants to acquire the freehold/head leasehold interest in
a building where more than 50% of the floor space is in residential use.
Where this is applicable, C&W will make an Assumption that necessary
notices have been given to the residential tenants under the provisions of
the 1987 Act, and that such tenants have elected not to acquire the freehold
or head leasehold interest, and therefore disposal into the open market is
unrestricted.
12. Leasehold Reform Housing and Urban Development Act 1993 and
Leasehold Reform Act 1967
If C&W value the freehold or leasehold interest in either blocks of flats or in
houses, the following will apply. The Leasehold Reform Housing and Urban
Development Act 1993, as amended by the Commonhold and Leasehold
Reform Act 2002, or The Leasehold Reform Act 1967 (collectively the "Act")
give certain rights to residential tenants to acquire either the
freehold/leasehold interest in any building which qualifies under the Act, or
the right to lease extension. If this is applicable, C&W shall make an
Assumption that no residential tenants have elected under the provisions of
that Act to acquire the freehold or head leasehold interests, nor have they
elected to acquire a lease extension, unless the Client and/or its advisers
specifically inform C&W to the contrary.
13. Parts of the Property in the Course of Development or Requiring
Repair / Refurbishment and Recently Completed Developments
If the building is in the course of construction then the Valuation of the
completed building will be based on an Assumption that all works of
construction have been satisfactorily carried out in accordance with the
building contract and specification, current British Standards and any
relevant codes of practice. C&W will also make an Assumption that a duty
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of care and all appropriate warranties will be available from the professional
team and contractors, which will be assignable to third parties.

Appendix 1 - Property Schedule
PROPERTY

The Central Chinatown Block, which
comprises the following: 64-92 (even
nos.) 96 & 98 Shaftesbury Avenue
and Macclesfield Chambers, 3, 4-14,
15, 15a, 16-23, 36, 37, 38, 39 & 48
Gerrard Street, 1-2 Gerrard Place, 1-4
& 8 Horse & Dolphin Yard, 34-36
Wardour Street, 2-7 Dansey Place
and 2-5, 12 & 13 Macclesfield Street,
London W1, 14, 15, 18, 19, 20, 21,
26-27* & 28-30 Lisle Street, 1
Newport Place, 7, 8, 9, 12-13 & 15
Little Newport Street, 20-24 Newport
Court, London W1 & WC2; 47-49
Charing
Cross
Road,
which
comprises the following: 45, 45b, 47
and 49, and Crediton Mansions, 47a
Charing Cross Road, London WC2*;
Parts
of
100-124
Shaftesbury
Avenue, London W1*. Flats 1, 3, 4,
5, 6 and 8 Exeter Mansions on the
first, second and fourth floors of 106
Shaftesbury Avenue. Flats 1, 2, 3 and

INTEREST

Each part of the Property is held
freehold with the exception of the
following which are held long
leasehold and annotated * in the
adjoining column:•

26-27 Lisle Street

•

Parts
of
100-124
Shaftesbury Avenue (as
defined)

•

Central Cross (as defined)

•

47-49 Charing Cross Road
(as defined)

4 Egmont House on the third and
fourth floors of 116 Shaftesbury
Avenue and the basement vault of
116 Shaftesbury Avenue. Flat 3 on
the fourth floor of Nassau House, 122
Shaftesbury Avenue, London W1;
Central Cross, London WC2* which
comprises the following: parts of the
basement, ground and mezzanine
floor levels at 51-79 (odd) Charing
Cross Road, 28-35 Newport Court
and 10-18 (even) Newport Place,
London WC2.
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PROPERTY TYPE

The Property
investment

is

held

as

an

Appendix 2 - Definitions Schedule
1. Bases of Valuation:
Market Value

Market Value as referred to in VPS4, Item 4 of the current edition of the RICS
Valuation - Global Standards which incorporate the International Valuation
Standards ("IVS") and the RICS UK Valuation Standards (the "RICS Red
Book"), and applying the conceptual framework which is set out in IVS104:
"The estimated amount for which an asset or liability should exchange on the
valuation date between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm's length
transaction, after proper marketing and where the parties had each acted
knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion"
The conceptual framework set out in IVS104 is reproduced below:
“30.2. The definition of Market Value must be applied in accordance with the
following conceptual framework:
(a) “The estimated amount” refers to a price expressed in terms of
money payable for the asset in an arm’s length market transaction.
Market Value is the most probable price reasonably obtainable in
the market on the valuation date in keeping with the market value
definition. It is the best price reasonably obtainable by the seller and
the most advantageous price reasonably obtainable by the buyer.
This estimate specifically excludes an estimated price inflated or
deflated by special terms or circumstances such as atypical
financing, sale and leaseback arrangements, special considerations
or concessions granted by anyone General Standards – IVS 104
Bases of Value General Standards General Standards – IVS 104
Bases of Value 19 associated with the sale, or any element of value
available only to a specific owner or purchaser.
(b) “An asset or liability should exchange” refers to the fact that the
value of an asset or liability is an estimated amount rather than a
predetermined amount or actual sale price. It is the price in a
transaction that meets all the elements of the Market Value
definition at the valuation date.
(c) “On the valuation date” requires that the value is time-specific as of
a given date. Because markets and market conditions may change,
the estimated value may be incorrect or inappropriate at another
time. The valuation amount will reflect the market state and
circumstances as at the valuation date, not those at any other date.
(d) “Between a willing buyer” refers to one who is motivated, but not
compelled to buy. This buyer is neither over eager nor determined
to buy at any price. This buyer is also one who purchases in
accordance with the realities of the current market and with current
market expectations, rather than in relation to an imaginary or
hypothetical market that cannot be demonstrated or anticipated to
exist. The assumed buyer would not pay a higher price than the
market requires. The present owner is included among those who
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(e)

(f)

(g)

(h)

(i)

constitute “the market”.
“And a willing seller” is neither an over eager nor a forced seller
prepared to sell at any price, nor one prepared to hold out for a
price not considered reasonable in the current market. The willing
seller is motivated to sell the asset at market terms for the best
price attainable in the open market after proper marketing, whatever
that price may be. The factual circumstances of the actual owner
are not a part of this consideration because the willing seller is a
hypothetical owner.
“In an arm’s length transaction” is one between parties who do not
have a particular or special relationship, e.g., parent and subsidiary
companies or landlord and tenant, that may make the price level
uncharacteristic of the market or inflated. The Market Value
transaction is presumed to be between unrelated parties, each
acting independently.
“After proper marketing” means that the asset has been exposed to
the market in the most appropriate manner to effect its disposal at
the best price reasonably obtainable in accordance with the Market
Value definition. The method of sale is deemed to be that most
appropriate to obtain the best price in the market to which the seller
has access. The length of exposure time is not a fixed period but
will vary according to the type of asset and market conditions. The
only criterion is that there must have been sufficient time to allow
the asset to be brought to the attention of an adequate number of
market participants. The exposure period occurs prior to the
valuation date.
“Where the parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently”
presumes that both the willing buyer and the willing seller are
reasonably informed about the nature and characteristics of the
asset, its actual and potential uses, and the state of the market as
of the valuation date. Each is further presumed to use that
knowledge prudently to seek the price that is most favourable for
their respective positions in the transaction. Prudence is assessed
by referring to the state of the market at the General Standards –
IVS 104 Bases of Value International Valuation Standards General
Standards – IVS 104 Bases of Value 20 valuation date, not with the
benefit of hindsight at some later date. For example, it is not
necessarily imprudent for a seller to sell assets in a market with
falling prices at a price that is lower than previous market levels. In
such cases, as is true for other exchanges in markets with changing
prices, the prudent buyer or seller will act in accordance with the
best market information available at the time.
“And without compulsion” establishes that each party is motivated
to undertake the transaction, but neither is forced or unduly coerced
to complete it.

30.3. The concept of Market Value presumes a price negotiated in an open
and competitive market where the participants are acting freely. The
market for an asset could be an international market or a local market.
The market could consist of numerous buyers and sellers, or could be
one characterised by a limited number of market participants. The
market in which the asset is presumed exposed for sale is the one in
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which the asset notionally being exchanged is normally exchanged.
30.4.

Fair Value - IFRS

The Market Value of an asset will reflect its highest and best use (see
paras 140.1-140.5). The highest and best use is the use of an asset that
maximises its potential and that is possible, legally permissible and
financially feasible. The highest and best use may be for continuation of
an asset’s existing use or for some alternative use. This is determined
by the use that a market participant would have in mind for the asset
when formulating the price that it would be willing to bid.

Fair Value is referred to in VPS4 Item 7 of the RICS Red Book. Under these
provisions, the term “Fair Value” means the definition adopted by the
International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB") in IFRS 13:
"The price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement
date".

Fair Value – UK
GAAP

Fair Value in accordance with RICS UK Valuation Standard ("UKVS") 1.
Under these provisions, the term "Fair Value" means:
"The amount for which an asset could be exchanged, a liability settled, or an
equity instrument granted between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm's
length transaction."

Market Rent

Market Rent as referred to in VPS 4 Item 5 of the RICS Red Book. Under VPS
4 Item 5 the term "Market Rent" is defined in IVS104 as: "The estimated
amount for which an interest in real property should be leased on the valuation
date between a willing lessor and a willing lessee on appropriate lease terms in
an arm's length transaction, after proper marketing and where the parties had
each acted knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion".
Whenever Market Rent is provided the "appropriate lease terms" which it
reflects should also be stated.
The commentary from VPS4 Item 5 of the RICS Red Book is reproduced
below:
"5.1 Market rent will vary significantly according to the terms of the assumed
lease contract. The appropriate lease terms will normally reflect current
practice in the market in which the property is situated, although for certain
purposes unusual terms may need to be stipulated. Matters such as the
duration of the lease, the frequency of rent reviews and the responsibilities of
the parties for maintenance and outgoings will all impact the market rent. In
certain countries or states, statutory factors may either restrict the terms that
may be agreed, or influence the impact of terms in the contract. These need to
be taken into account were appropriate.
5.2. Market rent will normally be used to indicate the amount for which a
vacant property may be let, or for which a let property be may re-let when the
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existing lease terminates. Market rent is not a suitable basis for settling the
amount of rent payable under a rent review provision in a lease, where the
definitions and assumptions specified in the lease have to be used.
5.3
Valuers must therefore take care to set out clearly the principal lease
terms that are assumed when providing an opinion of market rent. If it is the
market norm for lettings to include a payment or concession by one party to
the other as an incentive to enter into a lease, and this is reflected in the
general level of rents agreed, the market rent should also be expressed on
this basis. The nature of the incentive assumed must be stated by the valuer,
along with the assumed lease terms."

Existing Use Value

Existing Use Value as defined in UKVS 1. Under UKVS 1, the term "Existing
Use Value" is defined as follows:
"The estimated amount for which an asset or liability should exchange on the
valuation date between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm's length
transaction after proper marketing where the parties had acted knowledgeably,
prudently and without compulsion, assuming that the buyer is granted vacant
possession of all parts of the asset required by the business, and disregarding
potential alternative uses and any other characteristics of the asset that would
cause its market value to differ from that needed to replace the remaining
service potential at least cost".

2. Special Assumptions:
Special Assumptions

The Glossary of the RICS Red Book states that an Assumption "that either
assumes facts that differ from the actual facts existing at the valuation date, or
that would not be made by a typical market participant in a transaction on the
valuation date" is a Special Assumption.
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APPENDIX B:
ADDRESS, TENURE AND VALUE
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Cushman & Wakefield | Shaftesbury PLC and Shaftesbury Chinatown PLC
Valuation Date: 18 August 2017

Valuation Record
Valuation of: Properties in Chinatown

Appendix B
Address

Description & tenure

Occupational tenancies

The Property comprises buildings fronting Gerrard
Street, Shaftesbury Avenue, Wardour Street,
Macclesfield Street, Lisle Street, Charing Cross Road,
Little Newport Street, Newport Place and Newport
Court. There are 56 retail units, 44 restaurant units, two
bars and a pub. Where they are let separately to the
main ground floor demise, the upper parts
predominantly comprise approximately 20,000 sq ft
used variously for offices, retail, medical/dentist and
hairdressing purposes and 82 residential units. The
buildings are mostly adjoining and the majority date
th
th
from the early 19 century to the latter part of 20
century.

The commercial elements are subject to 108 leases on
an effectively full repairing and insuring basis and 4
leases where there is a shortfall in landlord’s recovery
of costs. 23 commercial demises are currently vacant.
The leases expire between 2017 and 2040; some
leases are subject to tenants’ or mutual options to
determine prior to expiry. The residential
accommodation is subject to 72 ASTs and three
regulated tenancies; 10 residential units are currently
vacant.

Fair Value
as at 18 August
2017

Property held for investment:
The Central Chinatown Block
London W1 & WC2

All the properties which comprise the Property are
freehold with the exception of those at 26/27 Lisle
Street, parts of 100-124 Shaftesbury Avenue, 47-49
Charing Cross Road and Central Cross (all as defined
in the Property Schedule which forms part of the
Valuation Services Schedule in Appendix A) which are
held long leasehold.
TOTAL FAIR VALUE

£527,085,000

Approximately 81% of the current income is secured on
restaurant and retail use, 6% on
office/medical/hairdressing use and 13% on residential
use.

£527,085,000
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About Cushman & Wakefield
Cushman & Wakefield is a leading global real estate services
firm that helps clients transform the way people work, shop
and live. The firm’s 43,000 employees in more than 60
countries provide deep local and global insights that create
significant value for our clients. Cushman & Wakefield is
among the largest commercial real estate services firms, with
core services of agency leasing, asset services, capital
markets, facility services, global occupier services,
investment & asset management (DTZ Investors), project &
development services, tenant representation and valuation &
advisory. To learn more, visit www.cushmanwakefield.com
or follow @CushWake on Twitter.
© Cushman & Wakefield 2017
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Use of Proceeds
The Issuer will use the net cash proceeds after expenses to repay £129.6 million of intercompany
indebtedness owed by the Issuer to the Guarantor, to pay a dividend of approximately £145 million to the
Guarantor and with the balance being advanced to the Guarantor by way of an intercompany loan.
The Guarantor will use these amounts received from the Issuer to repay £75 million of bank debt and will use
the remainder for its general corporate purposes.
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United Kingdom Taxation
The comments below are of a general nature based on current United Kingdom law and HM Revenue &
Customs practice (which may not be binding on HM Revenue & Customs) and are not intended to be
exhaustive. They relate only to the position of persons who are the absolute beneficial owners of their Bonds
and any associated Coupons and may not apply to certain classes of persons such as dealers, certain
professional investors or persons connected with the Issuer. They do not necessarily apply where the income
is deemed for tax purposes to be the income of any person other than the absolute beneficial owner.
Reference in this part to "interest" shall mean amounts that are treated as interest for the purposes of United
Kingdom taxation.
Bondholders who are in any doubt as to their tax position, or who may be subject to tax in a
jurisdiction other than the United Kingdom, should consult their professional advisers.
1.

Payments of interest on the Bonds
1.1 Payments by the Issuer
The Bonds will constitute "quoted Eurobonds" within the meaning of Section 987 Income Tax Act 2007
provided that they carry a right to interest and are and continue to be listed on a "recognised stock exchange"
within the meaning of Section 1005 Income Tax Act 2007 (the London Stock Exchange is so recognised).
Securities will be treated as listed on the London Stock Exchange if they are both admitted to trading on the
London Stock Exchange and included on the Official List.
While the Bonds are and continue to be quoted Eurobonds, payments of interest on the Bonds may be made
by the Issuer without withholding or deduction for or on account of United Kingdom income tax.
Where interest on Bonds is paid to a company which is beneficially entitled to the interest and is within the
charge to United Kingdom corporation tax as regards that interest (or a partnership each member of which is
such a company) and the Issuer at the time of the payment of interest in question reasonably believes that this
is the case, no withholding or deduction for or on account of United Kingdom income tax need be made,
provided that HM Revenue & Customs has not given a direction to the contrary under Section 931 of the
Income Tax Act 2007.
In all other cases, interest on the Bonds will generally be paid under deduction of United Kingdom income tax
at the basic rate (currently 20 per cent.) subject to the availability of other exemptions or reliefs or to any
direction to the contrary from HM Revenue & Customs in respect of such relief as may be available under the
provisions of any applicable double taxation treaty or to any other exemption that may apply.
1.2 Payments in respect of the Guarantee
The United Kingdom withholding tax treatment of payments by the Guarantor under the terms of the
Guarantee in respect of interest on the Bonds (or other amounts due under the Bonds other than the repayment
of amounts subscribed for the Bonds) is uncertain. In particular, such payments by the Guarantor may not be
eligible for the exemption in respect of securities listed on a recognised stock exchange described above in
relation to payments of interest by the Issuer. Accordingly, if the Guarantor makes any such payments, these
may be subject to United Kingdom withholding tax at the basic rate (currently 20 per cent.).

2.

Direct Assessment (including issues relevant to non-United Kingdom resident Bondholders)
Interest on the Bonds will have a United Kingdom source and, accordingly, subject to the following, may be
chargeable to United Kingdom tax by direct assessment. However, interest received without deduction or
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withholding is not chargeable to United Kingdom tax in the hands of a Bondholder (other than certain
trustees) who is not resident for tax purposes in the United Kingdom unless the Bondholder carries on a trade
through a permanent establishment (in the case of a Bondholder which is a company) in the United Kingdom
in connection with which interest is received or to which the Bonds are attributable or the Bondholder carries
on a trade, profession or vocation through a branch or agency in the United Kingdom where the Bonds are
used by, or held by or for, that branch or agency. In this case, United Kingdom tax may be levied on the
permanent establishment or branch or agency (as appropriate), although there are certain exceptions for
income received by specified categories of agent (such as some brokers and investment managers).
Where interest on the Bonds has been paid under deduction of United Kingdom income tax, Bondholders who
are not resident in the United Kingdom may be able to recover all or part of the tax deducted if there is an
appropriate provision in an applicable double taxation treaty.
The provisions relating to the payment of additional amounts in Condition 10 (Taxation) of the Conditions
would not apply if HM Revenue & Customs sought to assess the person entitled to the relevant interest
directly to United Kingdom tax. However, exemption from or reduction of such United Kingdom tax liability
might be available under an applicable double taxation treaty.
3.

Income Tax – Individual Bondholders
Bondholders who are not subject to United Kingdom corporation tax but who are resident in the United
Kingdom or who carry on a trade, profession or vocation in the United Kingdom through a branch or agency
to which the Bonds are attributable will, generally, be subject to United Kingdom income tax on interest
arising in respect of the Bonds on a receipts basis.

4.

Accrued Income Scheme – Individual Bondholders
A transfer (within the meaning of Chapter 2 of Part 12 of the Income Tax Act 2007) of a Bond by a
Bondholder not within the charge to United Kingdom corporation tax who is resident for tax purposes in the
United Kingdom or who carries on a trade in the United Kingdom through a branch or agency to which the
Bond is attributable may give rise to a charge to United Kingdom income tax on the transferor in respect of an
amount representing interest on the Bond which has accrued since the preceding Interest Payment Date under
the provisions of Chapter 2 of Part 12 of the Income Tax Act 2007.

5.

Taxation of Chargeable Gains – Individual Bondholders
The Bonds should constitute "qualifying corporate bonds". Therefore, no chargeable gains and no allowable
losses should arise for United Kingdom tax purposes on a disposal (including redemption) of a Bond.

6.

Corporation Tax Payers
Bondholders within the charge to United Kingdom corporation tax will not be subject to the methods of
taxation set out above. Instead, they will be taxed in respect of their holding of the Bonds under the loan
relationship rules in Part 5 of the Corporation Tax Act 2009 and, therefore, generally, any profits, gains and
losses arising in respect of the Bonds, measured and recognised broadly in accordance with an accounting
method of the relevant Bondholder complying with generally accepted accounting practice, will be taxed or
relieved as income.

7.

U.S. Foreign Account Tax Compliance Withholding
Pursuant to certain provisions of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, commonly known as FATCA, a
"foreign financial institution" may be required to withhold on certain payments it makes ("foreign passthru
payments") to persons that fail to meet certain certification, reporting, or related requirements.
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A number of jurisdictions, including the United Kingdom, have entered into, or have agreed in substance to,
intergovernmental agreements with the United States to implement FATCA ("IGAs"), which modify the way
in which FATCA applies in their jurisdictions. Under the provisions of the IGAs as currently in effect, a
foreign financial institution in an IGA jurisdiction would generally not be required to withhold under FATCA
or an IGA from payments that it makes.
Certain aspects of the application of the FATCA provisions and IGAs to instruments such as the Bonds,
including whether withholding would ever be required pursuant to FATCA or an IGA with respect to
payments on instruments such as the Bonds, are uncertain and may be subject to change. Even if withholding
would be required pursuant to FATCA or an IGA with respect to payments on instruments such as the Bonds,
such withholding would not apply prior to 1 January 2019.
Bondholders should consult their own tax advisors regarding how these rules may apply to their investment in
the Bonds.
8.

The Proposed Financial Transaction Tax
On 14 February 2013, the European Commission published a proposal (the "Commission's Proposal") for a
Directive for a common financial transaction tax ("FTT") in Belgium, Germany, Estonia, Greece, Spain,
France, Italy, Austria, Portugal, Slovenia and Slovakia (the "participating Member States"). However,
Estonia has since stated that it will not participate.
The Commission's Proposal has very broad scope and could, if introduced, apply to certain dealings in the
Bonds (including secondary market transactions) in certain circumstances.
Under the Commission's Proposal the FTT could apply in certain circumstances to persons both within and
outside the participating Member States. Generally, it would apply to certain dealings in the Bonds where at
least one party is a financial institution, and at least one party is established in a participating Member State. A
financial institution may be, or be deemed to be, "established" in a participating Member State in a broad
range of circumstances, including (a) by transacting with a person established in a participating Member State
or (b) where the financial instrument which is subject to the dealings is issued in a participating Member
State.
However, the FTT proposal remains subject to negotiation between participating Member States. It may
therefore be altered prior to any implementation, the timing of which remains unclear. Additional EU Member
States may decide to participate.
Bondholders are advised to seek their own professional advice in relation to the FTT.

9.

Stamp Duty and Stamp Duty Reserve Tax
No United Kingdom ad valorem stamp duty or stamp duty reserve tax is payable on the issue of the Bonds or
any subsequent transfer of the Bonds.
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Subscription and Sale
The Joint Lead Managers have, pursuant to a Subscription Agreement dated 5 September 2017, jointly and
severally agreed with the Issuer and the Guarantor, subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions, to
subscribe for the Bonds at 100 per cent. of their principal amount. In addition, the Issuer has agreed to pay to
the Joint Lead Managers commission and to reimburse the Joint Lead Managers for certain of their expenses
in connection with the issue of the Bonds. The Subscription Agreement entitles the Joint Lead Managers to
terminate it in certain circumstances prior to payment being made to the Issuer. The yield of the Bonds is
2.348 per annum. The yield is calculated as at 31 August 2017 on the basis of the Issue Price. It is not an
indication of future yield.
1.

General
Neither the Issuer nor the Guarantor nor any Joint Lead Manager has taken or will take any action in any
jurisdiction that would permit a public offering of the Bonds, or possession or distribution of this Prospectus
(in preliminary, proof or final form) or any other offering or publicity material relating to the Bonds
(including roadshow materials and investor presentations), in any country or jurisdiction where action for that
purpose is required.
Each Joint Lead Manager has agreed that it will comply to the best of its knowledge and belief in all material
respects with all applicable laws and regulations in each jurisdiction in which it acquires, offers, sells or
delivers Bonds or has in its possession or distributes this Prospectus (in preliminary, proof or final form) or
any such other material, in all cases at its own expense. It will also ensure that no obligations are imposed on
the Issuer, the Guarantor or any other Joint Lead Manager in any such jurisdiction as a result of any of the
foregoing actions.

2.

United States
The Bonds have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act, or under the securities laws of
any state or political sub-division of the United States, and may not be offered or sold within the United States
or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons unless an exemption from the registration requirements of
the Securities Act is available and in accordance with all applicable securities laws. Terms used in this
paragraph have the meanings given to them by Regulation S under the Securities Act.
The Bonds are subject to U.S. tax law requirements and may not be offered, sold or delivered within the
United States or its possessions or to a United States person, except in certain transactions permitted by U.S.
tax regulations. Terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by the Code and regulations
thereunder.
Each Joint Lead Manager has represented and agreed that, except as permitted by the Subscription
Agreement, it has not offered, sold or delivered and will not offer, sell or deliver the Bonds: (i) as part of their
distribution at any time; or (ii) otherwise until 40 days after the later of the commencement of the offering and
the Closing Date (as defined in the Subscription Agreement) within the United States or to, or for the account
or benefit of, U.S. persons, and it will have sent to each dealer to which it sells Bonds during the distribution
compliance period a confirmation or other notice setting forth the restrictions on offers and sales of the Bonds
within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons. Terms used in this paragraph
have the meanings given to them in Regulation S under the Securities Act.

3.

United Kingdom
Each Joint Lead Manager has represented and agreed that:
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(a)

it has only communicated or caused to be communicated and will only communicate or cause to be
communicated an invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within the meaning of
Section 21 of FSMA) received by it in connection with the issue or sale of the Bonds in circumstances in
which Section 21(1) of FSMA does not apply to the Issuer or the Guarantor; and

(b) it has complied and will comply with all applicable provisions of FSMA with respect to anything done
by it in relation to the Bonds in, from or otherwise involving the United Kingdom.
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General Information
1.

The listing of the Bonds on the Official List will be expressed as a percentage of their nominal amount
(exclusive of accrued interest). It is expected that listing of the Bonds on the Official List and
admission of the Bonds to trading on the Market will be granted on or before 8 September 2017,
subject only to the issue of a Global Bond. Prior to official listing and admission to trading, however,
dealings will be permitted by the London Stock Exchange in accordance with its rules. Transactions
will normally be effected for delivery on the third working day after the day of the transaction. The
Issuer estimates that the amount of expenses related to the admission to trading of the Bonds will be
approximately £6,200.

2.

Each of the Issuer and the Guarantor has obtained all necessary consents, approvals and authorisations
in the United Kingdom in connection with the issue and performance of the Bonds and the Guarantee.
The issue of the Bonds was authorised by resolutions of the Board of Directors of the Issuer passed on
22 August 2017 and 31 August 2017, and the giving of the Guarantee by the Guarantor was authorised
by a resolution of the Board of Directors of the Guarantor passed on 22 August 2017 and resolutions of
a committee appointed by the Board of Directors of the Guarantor passed on 31 August 2017.

3.

Except as disclosed in paragraphs 6 and 7 of the section headed "Description of the Issuer" on page 56
of this Prospectus, there has been: (i) no significant change in the financial or trading position of the
Issuer since 30 September 2016; and (ii) no material adverse change in the prospects of the Issuer
since 30 September 2016. There has been: (i) no significant change in the financial or trading position
of the Guarantor or of the Group since 31 March 2017; and (ii) no material adverse change in the
prospects of the Guarantor or of the Group since 30 September 2016.

4.

There has been no material change in the valuation of the Initial Specifically Mortgaged Premises set
out in the section headed "Valuation Report" since 18 August 2017 (being the effective date of the
valuation and the latest practicable date at which the Initial Specifically Mortgaged Premises could be
valued prior to the date of this Prospectus).

5.

There are no governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings (including any such proceedings which are
pending or threatened of which the Issuer or the Guarantor is aware), during the period from 12
months preceding the date of this Prospectus, which may have, or have had in the recent past,
significant effects on the Issuer's, the Guarantor's or the Group's financial position or profitability.

6.

Each Bond and Coupon will bear the following legend: “Any United States person who holds this
obligation will be subject to limitations under the United States income tax laws, including the
limitations provided in Sections 165(j) and 1287(a) of the Internal Revenue Code”.

7.

The Bonds have been accepted for clearance through the Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg
systems (which are the entities in charge of keeping the records) with a Common Code of 166707412.
The ISIN for the Bonds is XS1667074121.
The address of Euroclear is 1 Boulevard du Roi Albert II, B-1210 Brussels, Belgium and the address of
Clearstream, Luxembourg is 42 Avenue JF Kennedy L-1855 Luxembourg.

8.

There are no material contracts entered into other than in the ordinary course of the Issuer’s or
Guarantor’s business, which could result in any member of the Group being under an obligation or
entitlement that is material to the Issuer’s or Guarantor’s ability to meet its obligations to Bondholders
in respect of the Bonds.
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9.

Where information in this Prospectus has been sourced from third parties, this information has been
accurately reproduced and, as far as the Issuer is aware and is able to ascertain from the information
published by such third parties, no facts have been omitted which would render the reproduced
information inaccurate or misleading. The source of third-party information is identified where used.

10.

For the period of 12 months starting on the date of this Prospectus, copies (and English translations
where the documents in question are not in English) of the following documents will be available,
during usual business hours on any weekday (Saturdays and public holidays excepted), for inspection
at the registered office of Issuer and the Guarantor:
(a)

the Trust Deed (which includes the form of the Global Bond, the definitive Bond and the
Coupons);

(b)

the memorandum and articles of association of the Issuer and the Guarantor;

(c)

the Group's published audited financial statements for the two years ended 30 September 2016
and 30 September 2015;

(d)

the Group's published unaudited interim financial statements for the six months ended 31
March 2017;

(e)

a copy of this Prospectus together with any supplement to this Prospectus or further Prospectus;
and

(f)

all reports, letters and other documents, balance sheets, valuations and statements by any
expert, any part of which is extracted or referred to in this Prospectus.

This Prospectus will be published on the websites of the Guarantor at www.shaftesbury.co.uk and the
Regulatory
News
Service
operated
by
the
London
Stock
Exchange
at
http://www.londonstockexchange.com/exchange/prices-and-news/news/market-news/market-newshome.html.
11.

The Group's unaudited interim financial statements for the six months ended 31 March 2017 and the
audited financial statements of the Issuer and the Group for the years ended 30 September 2016 and 30
September 2015 contained and incorporated by reference in this Prospectus do not constitute statutory
accounts within the meaning of Section 434 of the Companies Act. Statutory accounts for the Issuer
and the Guarantor for the financial years ended 30 September 2016 and 30 September 2015 have been
delivered to the Registrar of Companies in England and Wales. The Issuer’s and the Guarantor’s
auditors have made a report under Section 495 of the Companies Act on the last statutory accounts that
was not “qualified” within the meaning of Section 539 of the Companies Act and did not contain a
statement made under Section 498(2) or Section 498(3) of the Companies Act. The report of the
Issuer’s and the Guarantor’s auditors contained the following statement: “To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the
Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have
formed.”

12.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP of 7 More London Riverside, London, SE1 2RT (Chartered
Accountants) and a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales have
audited, and rendered unqualified audit reports on, the audited financial statements of the Issuer and
the Group, respectively for the year ended 30 September 2015.

13.

Ernst & Young LLP of 1 More London Place, London, SE1 2AF have reviewed, and rendered an
independent review report on, the Group's unaudited interim financial statements for the six months
ended 31 March 2017. They also audited, and rendered unqualified audit reports on, the audited
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financial statements of the Issuer and the Group, respectively for the year ended 30 September 2016.
Ernst & Young LLP is registered to carry out audit work by the Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales.
14.

Cushman & Wakefield Debenham Tie Leung Limited of 43-45 Portman Square, London, W1H 6LY
does not have a material interest in the Issuer or the Guarantor and has given and not withdrawn its
written consent to the inclusion in this Prospectus of the valuation report set out in the section headed
"Valuation Report" in the form and context in which it appears.

15.

Certain of the Joint Lead Managers and their affiliates have engaged, and may in the future engage, in
investment banking and/or commercial banking transactions with, and may perform services for the
Issuer, the Guarantor, any other Charging Company and/or their affiliates in the ordinary course of
business.

16.

Save as disclosed in the section headed "Subscription and Sale", so far as the Issuer and the Guarantor
are aware, no person involved in the issue has an interest material to the offering of the Bonds.

17.

There are no restrictions on the free transferability of the Bonds.
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Definitions
The definitions set out below apply throughout this Prospectus, unless the context requires otherwise.
"Acceleration Notice"

has the meaning given in Condition 11.1 (Events of Default);

"Accounting Half-Year End"

has the meaning given in Condition 23 (Definitions);

"Accounting Year End"

has the meaning given in Condition 23 (Definitions);

"Alternative
Performance
Measure" or "APM"

means a financial measure of historical or future financial
performance, position or cash flows of the Group which is not a
measure defined or specified in IFRS;

"Asset Cover Ratio" or
"ACR"

has the meaning given in Condition 4.2 (Financial Covenants);

"Auditors"

has the meaning given in Condition 23 (Definitions);

"Bondholder"

has the meaning given in the Conditions;

"Bonds"

has the meaning given in the Conditions;

"Calculation Date"

has the meaning given in Condition 8.3 (Redemption at the option of
the Issuer);

"Central London"

has the meaning given in Condition 23 (Definitions);

"Clearstream"

means Clearstream Banking S.A. at 42 Avenue J.F. Kennedy, L-1855,
Luxembourg;

"Change of Control Put
Date"

has the meaning given in Condition 8.4 (Redemption at the option of
the Bondholder);

"Change of Control Put
Event"

has the meaning given in Condition 8.4 (Redemption at the option of
the Bondholder);

"Change of Control Put
Event Notice"

has the meaning given in Condition 8.4 (Redemption at the option of
the Bondholder);

"Change of Control Put
Notice"

has the meaning given in Condition 8.4 (Redemption at the option of
the Bondholder);

"Change of Control Put
Option"

has the meaning given in Condition 8.4 (Redemption at the option of
the Bondholder);

"Change of Control Put
Period"

has the meaning given in Condition 8.4 (Redemption at the option of
the Bondholder);

"Charged Assets"

has the meaning given in Condition 23 (Definitions);

"Charging Companies"

has the meaning given in Condition 23 (Definitions);

"Charging Company"

has the meaning given in Condition 23 (Definitions);
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"Charging Subsidiary"

has the meaning given in Condition 23 (Definitions);

"Clearing System"

means Euroclear or Clearstream;

"Closing Date"

means 7 September 2017;

"Companies Act"

means the Companies Act 2006, as amended;

"Conditions"

means the terms and conditions of the Bonds as set out in the section
headed "Terms and Conditions of the Bonds";

"Coupon"

has the meaning given in the Conditions;

"Couponholder"

has the meaning given in the Conditions;

"Disclosure and Transparency
Rules"

the disclosure rules and transparency rules made by the UK Listing
Authority acting under Part VI of FSMA (as set out in the FCA
Handbook), as amended from time to time;

"Electronic Consent"

has the meaning given in paragraph 9 of the section headed
"Summary of provisions relating to the Bonds while in Global Form";

"Eligible Property"

has the meaning given in Condition 23 (Definitions);

"EPC"

has the meaning given in "Risks relating to the Group and its business
– Energy performance regulations" in the section headed "Risk
Factors";

"EPRA"

means European Public Real Estate Association;

"ERV"

(estimated rental value) is the rental value of the properties in the
Group’s portfolio, or parts thereof, reflecting the terms of the relevant
leases or, if appropriate, reflecting the fact that certain of the
properties, or parts thereof, have been valued on the basis of vacant
possession and the assumed grant of a new lease. ERV does not
reflect any ground rents, head rents or rent charges, or estimated
irrecoverable outgoings;

"Euroclear"

means Euroclear Bank SA/NV;

"European Economic Area"

means the contracting parties to the agreement on the European
Economic Area signed at Oporto on 2 May 1992;

"Events of Default"

has the meaning given in Condition 11.1 (Events of Default);

"Exchange Date"

means a day falling not less than 40 days after that on which the
notice requiring exchange is given and on which banks are open for
business in the city in which the specified office of the Principal
Paying Agent is located and in the cities in which the relevant
clearing system is located;

"Extraordinary Resolution"

has the meaning given in Condition 23 (Definitions);
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"Financial Statements"

has the meaning given in Condition 23 (Definitions);

"FSMA"

means the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000, as amended;

"Further Issue"

has the meaning given in Condition 18 (Further Issues);

"Global Bond"

means the Bonds as represented in global form by a single bearer
instrument;

"Group"

means the Guarantor together with its subsidiaries and affiliates;

"Gross Redemption Yield"

has the meaning given in Condition 23 (Definitions);

"Guarantee"

has the meaning given in Condition 2.1 (Guarantee and Status);

"Guarantor"

has the meaning given in the Conditions;

"Initial Specifically
Mortgaged Premises"

has the meaning given in Condition 23 (Definitions);

"Interest Cover Ratio" or
"ICR"

has the meaning given in Condition 4.2 (Financial Covenants);

"Interest Payment Date"

has the meaning given in Condition 7 (Interest);

"Interest Period"

has the meaning given in Condition 7 (Interest);

"Issue Date"

has the meaning given in the Conditions;

"Issuer"

has the meaning given in the Conditions;

"ISIN"

means International Securities Identifying Number;

"Joint Lead Managers"

means IDCM Limited and Lloyds Bank plc as joint lead managers
and active bookrunners and National Australia Bank Limited (ABN
12 004 044 937) as joint lead manager and passive bookrunner;

"Listing Rules"

the rules and regulations made by the FCA in its capacity as the UK
Listing Authority under FSMA and contained in the UK Listing
Authority’s publication of the same name;

"London Business Day"

has the meaning given in Condition 23 (Definitions);

"London Stock Exchange"

means the London Stock Exchange PLC;

"Longmartin Properties"

the properties owned by the Longmartin Joint Venture, principally St
Martin’s Courtyard;

"Longmartin Joint Venture"

Longmartin Properties Limited, which is owned in equal parts by the
Guarantor and The Mercers’ Company, and whose registered number
is 05291183 and whose registered office is Pegasus House, 37-43
Sackville Street, London, W1S 3DL;

"Market"

means the London Stock Exchange's Regulated Market;
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"Maturity Date"

has the meaning given in Condition 23 (Definitions);

"Member State"

means a member state of the European Economic Area;

"Mortgaged Premises"

has the meaning given in Condition 23 (Definitions);

"NAI Certificate"

has the meaning given in Condition 4.4 (Valuation Reports and
Financial Information);

"Net Annual Income"

has the meaning given in Condition 4.2 (Financial Covenants);

"Net Asset Value"

has the meaning given in Condition 23 (Definitions);

"Official List"

means the official list of the UK Listing Authority;

"Optional Redemption Date"

has the meaning given in Condition 8.3 (Redemption at the option of
the Issuer);

"Pounds Sterling" or "£" or
"pence"

the lawful currency of the United Kingdom;

"Paying Agency Agreement"

has the meaning given in the Conditions;

"Permitted Security"

has the meaning given in Condition 23 (Definitions);

"Person"

has the meaning given in Condition 23 (Definitions);

"Principal Paying Agent"

has the meaning given in the Conditions;

"Property"

has the meaning given in Condition 23 (Definitions);

"Prospectus"

means this document, comprising prospectus relating to the Issuer for
the purposes of the issue of the Bonds;

"Prospectus Directive"

means the directive of the European Parliament and the Council of the
European Union 2003/71/EC;

"Ratio Testing Date"

has the meaning given in Condition 4.2 (Financial Covenants);

"Receiver"

has the meaning given in Condition 23 (Definitions);

"Redemption Price"

has the meaning given in Condition 8.3 (Redemption at the option of
the Issuer);

"Regulatory News Service"

means the regulatory new service operated by the London Stock
Exchange;

"REIT"

a UK real estate investment trust;

"Relevant Clearing System"

means a relevant clearing system other than Euroclear and
Clearstream;

"Relevant Date"

has the meaning given in Condition 23 (Definitions);
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"Relevant Member State"

means any Member State of the European Economic Area which has
implemented the Prospectus Directive;

"Reporting Period"

has the meaning given in Condition 23 (Definitions);

"Secured Creditors"

has the meaning given in Condition 23 (Definitions);

"Secured Liabilities"

has the meaning given in Condition 23 (Definitions);

"Securities Act"

means the U.S. Securities Act of 1933;

"Security"

has the meaning given in Condition 23 (Definitions);

"Security Interest"

has the meaning given in Condition 23 (Definitions);

"Short Gilts"

has the meaning given in Condition 23 (Definitions);

"Specifically Mortgaged
Premises"

has the meaning given in Condition 23 (Definitions);

"Subscription Agreement"

means the agreement dated 5 September 2017 between the Issuer, the
Guarantor and the Joint Lead Managers, details of which are
contained in the section headed "Subscription and Sale";

"Subsidiary"

has the meaning given in section 1159 of the Companies Act, unless
otherwise provided in this Prospectus;

"Substituted Property"

has the meaning given in Condition 6.1 (Substitution of Specifically
Mortgaged Premises);

"Supplemental Trust Deed"

has the meaning given in Condition 23 (Definitions);

"The Mercers’ Company"

means The Wardens and Commonalty of the Mystery of Mercers of
the City of London, Mercers’ Hall, Ironmonger Lane, London EC2V
8HE established by Royal Charter in 1394;

"Taxes"

has the meaning given in Condition 10 (Taxation);

"Transaction Documents"

has the meaning given in Condition 23 (Definitions);

"Trust Deed"

has the meaning given in the Conditions;

"Trustee"

has the meaning given in the Conditions;

"UK" or "United Kingdom"

means the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland;

"UK Listing Authority"

means the FCA in its capacity as the competent authority for listing
under Part VI of FSMA;

"U.S." or "United States" or
"United States of America"

means the United States of America, its territories and possessions,
any State of the United States and the District of Columbia;

"Valuation"

has the meaning given in Condition 23 (Definitions);
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"Value"

has the meaning given in Condition 23 (Definitions); and

"Valuer"

has the meaning given in Condition 23 (Definitions).

All references to legislation in this Prospectus are to the legislation of England and Wales unless the contrary
is indicated. Any reference to any provision of any legislation shall include any amendment, modification, reenactment or extension thereof.
Words importing the singular shall include the plural and vice versa, and words importing the masculine
gender shall include the feminine or neutral gender.
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Appendix 1 Audited financial statements of the Issuer for the year ended 30 September 2016,
the related notes and independent auditor's report
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Appendix 2 Audited financial statements of the Issuer for the year ended 30 September 2015,
the related notes and independent auditor's report
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